

PORTLAND GENERAL ELECTRIC CO / OR/

FORM 10-K (Annual Report)

Filed 02/14/14 for the Period Ending 12/31/13

Address 121 SW SALMON ST

1WTC0501

PORTLAND, OR 97204

Telephone 5034647779

CIK 0000784977

Symbol POR

SIC Code 4911 - Electric Services

Industry Electric Utilities

Sector Utilities Fiscal Year 12/31

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

r1	ANNUAL DEPONE BURGUANG TO CECTION 12 OR	15(1) OF THE CECUDIFIES EVOLVANCE A CT. OF 1024
[X]	ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR	15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
	For the fiscal year en	nded December 31, 2013
		OR
[]	TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13	3 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
	For the Transition per	iod fromto
	Commission File N	Number 001-05532-99
	PORTLAND GENERA	L ELECTRIC COMPANY
	(Exact name of registrar	nt as specified in its charter)
	Oregon	93-0256820
	(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)	(I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)
	Portland,	Salmon Street Oregon 97204 464-8000
	(Address of principal execu	tive offices, including zip code, e number, including area code)
Secu	urities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:	
	Common Stock, no par value	New York Stock Exchange
	(Title of class)	(Name of exchange on which registered)
Secu	arities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None.	
	cate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned Yes [x] No []	issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities

Indicate by check mark if the react. Yes [] No [x]	gistrant is not required to fi	ile reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the	
Exchange Act of 1934 during tl	he preceding 12 months (or	all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of for such shorter period that the registrant was required to past 90 days. Yes [x] No []	
Interactive Date File required to	be submitted and posted p	ed electronically and posted on its corporate Website, if a bursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§ 232.405 of this e registrant was required to submit and post such files).	s chapter) during
contained herein, and will not b	e contained, to the best of r	arsuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (§ 229.405 of this registrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or information any amendment to this Form 10-K. [x]	
		celerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated file er," "accelerated filer," and "smaller reporting company"	
Large accelerated filer	[x]	Accelerated filer	[]
Non-accelerated filer	[]	Smaller reporting company	[]
Indicate by check mark whethe	r the registrant is a shell co	mpany (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).	Yes [] No [x]
		common stock held by non-affiliates of the Registrant we officers and directors are considered affiliates.	vas \$
As of February 10, 2014, there	were 78,086,174 shares of	common stock outstanding.	
	Documents	s Incorporated by Reference	
		al Electric Company's definitive proxy statement to be finual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on May 7, 2014.	

PORTLAND GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY FORM 10-K FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Definitions		4
	PART I	
Item 1.	Business.	5
Item 1A.	Risk Factors.	24
Item 1B.	Unresolved Staff Comments.	30
Item 2.	Properties.	31
Item 3.	Legal Proceedings.	32
Item 4.	Mine Safety Disclosures.	35
	PART II	
Item 5.	Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.	36
Item 6.	Selected Financial Data.	37
Item 7.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.	38
Item 7A.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.	64
Item 8.	Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.	67
Item 9.	Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.	124
Item 9A.	Controls and Procedures.	124
Item 9B.	Other Information.	124
	PART III	
Item 10.	Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.	125
Item 11.	Executive Compensation.	125
Item 12.	Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.	125
Item 13.	Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.	125
Item 14.	Principal Accounting Fees and Services.	125
	PART IV	
Item 15.	Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.	126
	SIGNATURES	129
	3	

DEFINITIONS

The abbreviations or acronyms defined below are used throughout this Form 10-K:

Abbreviation or Acronym	Definition
AFDC	Allowance for funds used during construction
ARO	Asset retirement obligation
AUT	Annual Power Cost Update Tariff
Beaver	Beaver natural gas-fired generating plant
Biglow Canyon	Biglow Canyon Wind Farm
Boardman	Boardman coal-fired generating plant
BPA	Bonneville Power Administration
CAA	Clean Air Act
Carty	Carty Generating Station natural gas-fired generating plant
Colstrip	Colstrip Units 3 and 4 coal-fired generating plant
Coyote Springs	Coyote Springs Unit 1 natural gas-fired generating plant
CWIP	Construction work-in-progress
Dth	Decatherm = 10 therms = 1,000 cubic feet of natural gas
DEQ	Oregon Department of Environmental Quality
EFSA	Equity forward sale agreement
EPA	United States Environmental Protection Agency
ESS	Electricity Service Supplier
FERC	Federal Energy Regulatory Commission
FMB	First Mortgage Bond
IRP	Integrated Resource Plan
ISFSI	Independent Spent Fuel Storage Installation
kV	Kilovolt = one thousand volts of electricity
Moody's	Moody's Investors Service
MW	Megawatts
MWa	Average megawatts
MWh	Megawatt hours
NRC	Nuclear Regulatory Commission
NVPC	Net Variable Power Costs
OATT	Open Access Transmission Tariff
OPUC	Public Utility Commission of Oregon
PCAM	Power Cost Adjustment Mechanism
Port Westward	Port Westward natural gas-fired generating plant
PW2	Port Westward Unit 2 natural gas-fired generating plant
RPS	Renewable Portfolio Standard
S&P	Standard & Poor's Ratings Services
SEC	United States Securities and Exchange Commission
Trojan	Trojan nuclear power plant
Tucannon River	Tucannon River Wind Farm
USDOE	United States Department of Energy
VIE	Variable interest entity

PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS.

General

Portland General Electric Company (PGE or the Company) is a vertically integrated electric utility engaged in the generation, purchase, transmission, distribution, and retail sale of electricity in the state of Oregon. The Company operates as a cost-based, regulated electric utility, with revenue requirements and customer prices determined based on the forecasted cost to serve retail customers, and a reasonable rate of return as determined by the Public Utility Commission of Oregon (OPUC). PGE's retail load requirement is met with both Company-owned generation and power purchased in the wholesale market. The Company also participates in the wholesale market by purchasing and selling electricity and natural gas in an effort to obtain reasonably-priced power for its retail customers. PGE was incorporated in 1930, is publicly-owned, with its common stock listed on the New York Stock Exchange, and operates as a single segment, with revenues and costs related to its business activities maintained and analyzed on a total electric operations basis.

PGE's state-approved service area allocation of approximately 4,000 square miles is located entirely within Oregon and includes 52 incorporated cities, of which Portland and Salem are the largest. The Company estimates that at the end of 2013 its service area population was 1.7 million, comprising approximately 44% of the state's population. During 2013, the Company added 7,716 customers and as of December 31, 2013, served a total of 836,070 retail customers.

PGE had 2,596 employees as of December 31, 2013, with 795 employees covered under one of two separate agreements with Local Union No. 125 of the International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers. Such agreements cover 760 and 35 employees and expire in February 2015 and August 2014, respectively.

Available Information

PGE's Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 are available and may be accessed free of charge through the Investors section of the Company's Internet website at PortlandGeneral.com as soon as reasonably practicable after the reports are electronically filed with, or furnished to, the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). It is not intended that PGE's website and the information contained therein or connected thereto be incorporated into this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Information may also be obtained via the SEC Internet website at Sec.gov.

Regulation

PGE is subject to both federal and state regulation, which can have a significant impact on the operations of the Company. In addition to those agencies and activities discussed below, the Company is subject to regulation by certain environmental agencies, as described in the Environmental Matters section in this Item 1.

Federal Regulation

PGE is subject to regulation by several federal agencies, including the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC), the U.S. Department of Transportation's Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration (PHMSA), and the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC).

FERC Regulation

The Company is a "licensee," a "public utility," and a "user, owner and operator of the bulk power system," as defined in the Federal Power Act, and is subject to regulation by the FERC in matters related to wholesale energy

activities, transmission services, reliability and cyber security standards, natural gas pipelines, hydroelectric projects, accounting policies and practices, short-term debt issuances, and certain other matters.

Wholesale Energy —PGE has authority under its FERC Market-Based Rates tariff to charge market-based rates for wholesale energy sales. Re-authorization for continued use of such rates requires the filing of triennial market power studies with the FERC. The Company filed an updated triennial market power study in June 2013 and is awaiting an Order from the FERC.

Transmission —PGE offers transmission service pursuant to its Open Access Transmission Tariff (OATT), which is filed with the FERC. As required by the OATT, PGE provides information regarding its transmission business on its Open Access Same-time Information System, also known as OASIS. As of December 31, 2013, PGE owned 1,141 circuit miles of transmission lines. For additional information, see the Transmission and Distribution section in this Item 1. and in Item 2.—"Properties."

Reliability and Cyber Security Standards —Pursuant to the Energy Policy Act of 2005, the FERC has adopted mandatory reliability standards for owners, users and operators of the bulk power system. Such standards, which are applicable to PGE, were developed by the North American Electric Reliability Corporation (NERC) and the Western Electricity Coordinating Council (WECC), which have responsibility for compliance and enforcement of these standards. These standards include Critical Infrastructure Protection (CIP) standards, a set of cyber security standards that provide a framework to identify and protect critical cyber assets used to support reliable operation of the bulk power system.

Pipeline —The Natural Gas Act of 1938 and the Natural Gas Policy Act of 1978 provide the FERC authority in matters related to the extension, enlargement, safety, and abandonment of jurisdictional pipeline facilities, as well as transportation rates and accounting for interstate natural gas commerce. PGE is subject to such authority as the Company has a 79.5% ownership interest in and is the operator of record of the Kelso-Beaver Pipeline, a 17-mile interstate pipeline that provides natural gas to the Company's Port Westward natural gas-fired generating plant (Port Westward) and Beaver natural gas-fired generating plant (Beaver). As the operator of record, PGE is subject to the requirements and regulations enacted under the Pipeline Safety Laws administered by the PHMSA, which include safety standards, operator qualification standards and public awareness requirements.

Hydroelectric Licensing —Under the Federal Power Act, PGE's hydroelectric generating plants are subject to FERC licensing requirements. These include an extensive public review process that involves the consideration of numerous natural resource issues and environmental conditions. PGE holds FERC licenses for the Company's projects on the Deschutes, Clackamas, and Willamette Rivers. For additional information, see the Environmental Matters section in this Item 1. and Generating Facilities section in Item 2.— "Properties."

Accounting Policies and Practices —Pursuant to applicable provisions of the Federal Power Act, PGE prepares financial statements in accordance with the accounting requirements of the FERC, as set forth in its applicable Uniform System of Accounts and published accounting releases. Such financial statements are included in annual and quarterly reports filed with the FERC.

Short-term Debt —Pursuant to applicable provisions of the Federal Power Act and FERC regulations, regulated public utilities are required to obtain FERC approval to issue certain securities. The Company, pursuant to an order issued by the FERC on February 3, 2014, is authorized to issue up to \$900 million of short-term debt through February 6, 2016.

NRC Regulation

The NRC regulates the licensing and decommissioning of nuclear power plants, including PGE's Trojan nuclear power plant (Trojan), which was closed in 1993. The NRC approved the 2003 transfer of spent nuclear fuel from a spent fuel pool to a separately licensed dry cask storage facility that will house the fuel on the plant site until a United States Department of Energy (USDOE) facility is available. Radiological decommissioning of the plant site

was completed in 2004 under an NRC-approved plan, with the plant's operating license terminated in 2005. Spent fuel storage activities will continue to be subject to NRC regulation until all nuclear fuel is removed from the site and radiological decommissioning of the storage facility is completed. For additional information on spent nuclear fuel storage activities, see Note 7, Asset Retirement Obligations in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8.—"Financial Statements and Supplementary Data."

State of Oregon Regulation

PGE is subject to the jurisdiction of the OPUC, which is comprised of three members appointed by Oregon's governor to serve non-concurrent four-year terms.

The OPUC reviews and approves the Company's retail prices (see "*Ratemaking*" below) and establishes conditions of utility service. In addition, the OPUC reviews the Company's generation and transmission resource acquisition plans, pursuant to an integrated resource planning process. The OPUC also regulates the issuance of securities, prescribes accounting policies and practices, and reviews both applications to sell utility assets and engage in transactions with affiliated companies and applications to acquire substantial influence over a public utility.

Oregon's Energy Facility Siting Council (EFSC) has regulatory and siting responsibility for large electric generating facilities, high voltage transmission lines, intrastate gas pipelines, and radioactive waste disposal sites. The EFSC also has responsibility for overseeing the decommissioning of Trojan. The seven volunteer members of the EFSC are appointed to four-year terms by Oregon's governor, with staff support provided by the Oregon Department of Energy.

Integrated Resource Plan —Unless the OPUC directs otherwise, PGE is required to file with the OPUC an Integrated Resource Plan (IRP) within two years of its previous IRP acknowledgment order. Based on direction from the OPUC, PGE is required to file its next IRP by the end of March 2014. The IRP guides the utility on how it will meet future customer demand and describes the Company's future energy supply strategy, reflecting new technologies, market conditions, and regulatory requirements. The primary goal of the IRP is to identify an acquisition plan for generation, transmission, demand-side and energy efficiency resources that, along with the Company's existing portfolio, provides the best combination of expected cost and associated risks and uncertainties for PGE and its customers. For additional information on PGE's most recent IRP, see "Future Energy Resource Strategy" in the Power Supply section in this Item 1.

Economic Regulation —Under Oregon law, the OPUC is required to ensure that prices and terms of service are fair, non-discriminatory, and provide regulated companies an opportunity to earn a reasonable return on their investments. Customer prices are determined through formal proceedings that generally include testimony by participating parties, discovery, public hearings, and the issuance of a final order. Participants in such proceedings, which are conducted under established procedural schedules, include PGE, OPUC staff, and intervenors representing PGE customer groups. The following are the more significant regulatory mechanisms and proceedings under which customer prices are determined:

• General Rate Cases . PGE periodically evaluates the need to change its retail electric price structure to sufficiently cover its operating costs and provide a reasonable rate of return. Such changes are requested pursuant to a comprehensive general rate case process that includes revenue requirements based on a forecasted test year, debt-to-equity capital structure, return on equity, and overall rate of return. PGE's most recent general rate case was the 2014 General Rate Case, which became effective on January 1, 2014. On February 13, 2014, PGE filed a general rate case with a 2015 test year (2015 General Rate Case), for which a final order is expected to be received in December 2014. New prices are expected to be effective in 2015, with the first price increase effective January 1 and two additional price increases effective as two new generating plants become operational, which is expected in the first half of 2015. For additional information, see the Overview section in Item 7.—"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations."

- Power Costs . In addition to price changes resulting from the general rate case process, the OPUC has approved the following mechanisms by which PGE can adjust retail customer prices to cover the Company's Net Variable Power Costs (NVPC), which consist of the cost of purchased power and fuel used in generation (including related transportation costs) less revenues from wholesale power and fuel sales:
 - Annual Power Cost Update Tariff (AUT). Under this tariff, customer prices are adjusted annually to reflect the latest forecast of NVPC. Such forecasts assume the following for the different types of PGE-owned generating resources;
 - Thermal—expected operating conditions;
 - Hydroelectric—Average regional hydro conditions (based on seventy years of stream flow data covering the period 1928 - 1998) and current hydro operating parameters; and
 - Wind—Average wind conditions based on a five-year historical rolling average of the wind farm. To the extent
 historical information is not available for a given year, the projections will be based on wind studies developed
 prior to the operation of the facility.

An initial NVPC forecast, submitted to the OPUC by April 1st each year, is updated during such year and finalized in November of the same year. Based upon the final forecast, new prices, as approved by the OPUC, become effective at the beginning of the next calendar year; and

- Power Cost Adjustment Mechanism (PCAM). Customer prices can also be adjusted to reflect a portion of the difference between each year's forecasted NVPC included in prices (baseline NVPC) and actual NVPC for the year. Under the PCAM, PGE is subject to a portion of the business risk or benefit associated with the difference between actual NVPC and baseline NVPC. The PCAM utilizes an asymmetrical deadband range within which PGE absorbs cost variances, with a 90/10 sharing of such variances between customers and the Company outside of the deadband. The deadband range is \$15 million below, to \$30 million above, baseline NVPC. Annual results of the PCAM are subject to application of a regulated earnings test, under which a refund will occur only to the extent that it results in PGE's actual regulated return on equity (ROE) for that year being no less than 1% above the Company's latest authorized ROE. A collection will occur only to the extent that it results in PGE's actual regulated ROE for that year being no greater than 1% below the Company's authorized ROE. A final determination of any customer refund or collection is made by the OPUC through a public filing and review typically during the second half of the following year. For additional information, see the Results of Operations section in Item 7.—"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations."
- Renewable Energy. The 2007 Oregon Renewable Energy Act (the Act) established a Renewable Portfolio Standard (RPS) which requires that PGE serve at least 5% of its retail load with renewable resources by 2011, 15% by 2015, 20% by 2020, and 25% by 2025. PGE met the 2011 requirement and expects to have sufficient resources to meet the 2015 requirements with the Tucannon River Wind Farm (Tucannon River), which is expected to become operational in the first half of 2015.

The Act also allows Renewable Energy Credits, resulting from energy generated from qualified renewable resources placed in service after January 1, 1995 and certified low impact hydroelectric power resources, to be used to meet the Company's RPS compliance obligation.

The Act also provides for the recovery in customer prices of all prudently incurred costs required to comply with the RPS. Under a renewable adjustment clause (RAC) mechanism, PGE can recover the revenue requirement of new renewable resources and associated transmission that are not yet included in prices. Under the RAC, PGE submits a filing by April 1st of each year for new renewable resources expected to be placed in service in the current year, with prices to become effective January 1st of the following year. In addition, the RAC provides for the deferral and subsequent recovery of eligible costs incurred prior to January 1st of the following year.

For additional information, see the "Legal, Regulatory and Environmental Matters" discussion in the Overview section in Item 7.— "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations."

As needed, other ratemaking proceedings occur and can involve charges or credits related to specific costs, programs, or activities, as well as the recovery or refund of deferred amounts recorded pursuant to specific OPUC authorization. Such amounts are generally collected from, or refunded to, retail customers through the use of supplemental tariffs.

Retail Customer Choice Program —PGE's commercial and industrial customers have access to pricing options other than cost-of-service, including direct access and daily market index-based pricing. All commercial and industrial customers are eligible for direct access, whereby customers purchase their electricity from an Electricity Service Supplier (ESS), and the Company continues to deliver the energy to the customers. Large commercial and industrial customers may elect to be served by PGE on a daily market index-based price. Certain large commercial and industrial customers may elect to be removed from cost-of-service pricing for a fixed three-year or a minimum five-year term, to be served either by an ESS or the Company under a daily market index-based price. Participation in the fixed three-year and minimum five-year opt-out programs is capped at, in aggregate, 300 average megawatts (MWa).

The majority of the energy supplied under PGE's Retail Customer Choice program is provided to customers that have elected service from an ESS under the minimum five-year opt-out program. In 2013, ESSs supplied direct access customers with a total retail load representing 8% of the Company's total retail energy deliveries for the year, with 6% in 2012. The maximum retail load allowed to be supplied under the fixed three-year and minimum five-year opt-out programs would represent approximately 14% of the Company's total retail energy deliveries for 2013 and 2012.

The retail customer choice program has no material impact on the Company's financial condition or operating results. Revenue changes resulting from increases or decreases in electricity sales to direct access customers are substantially offset by changes in the Company's cost of purchased power and fuel. Further, the program provides for "transition adjustment" charges or credits to direct access and market based pricing customers that reflect the above- or below-market cost of energy resources owned or purchased by the Company. Such adjustments are designed to ensure that the costs or benefits of the program do not unfairly shift to those customers that continue to purchase their energy requirements from the Company.

In addition to cost-of-service pricing, residential and small commercial customers can select portfolio options from PGE that include time-of-use and renewable resource pricing.

Energy Efficiency Funding —Oregon law provides for a "public purpose charge" to fund cost-effective energy efficiency measures, new renewable energy resources, and weatherization measures for low-income housing. This charge, equal to 3% of retail revenues, is collected from customers and remitted to the Energy Trust of Oregon (ETO) and other agencies for administration of these programs. Approximately \$48 million , \$50 million and \$51 million was collected from customers for this charge in 2013 , 2012 and 2011 , respectively.

In addition to the public purpose charge, PGE also remits to the ETO amounts collected under an Energy Efficiency Adjustment tariff to fund additional energy efficiency measures. This charge was approximately 3.5%, 2.7% and 1.8% of retail revenues for applicable customers in 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively. Under the tariff, approximately \$50 million, \$41 million and \$28 million was collected from eligible customers in 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

Decoupling —The decoupling mechanism, authorized through 2016, is intended to provide for recovery of margin lost as a result of a reduction in electricity sales attributable to energy efficiency and conservation efforts by residential and certain commercial customers. The mechanism provides for collections from customers if weather adjusted use per customer is lower than levels included in the Company's most recent general rate case; it also provides for customer refunds if weather adjusted use per customer exceeds levels included in the most recent general rate case. The following is a summary of the impacts of the decoupling mechanism for the last three years:

- In 2013, PGE recorded an estimated collection of \$5 million, of which \$2 million related to an update for 2012. Pending review and approval by the OPUC, any resulting collection from customers would be expected over a one-year period beginning January 1, 2015.
- In 2012, the Company originally recorded an estimated refund of \$1 million. After review in 2013, the OPUC ultimately approved a collection of \$1 million, which is included in customer prices over a one-year period that began June 1, 2013.
- In 2011, PGE recorded an estimated refund of \$2 million. The OPUC approved refunds to customers over a one-year period that began June 1, 2012.

Regulatory Accounting

PGE is subject to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP), and as a regulated public utility, the effects of rate regulation are reflected in its financial statements. These principles provide for the deferral as regulatory assets of certain actual or estimated costs that would otherwise be charged to expense, based on expected recovery from customers in future prices. Likewise, certain actual or anticipated credits that would otherwise reduce expense can be deferred as regulatory liabilities, based on expected future credits or refunds to customers. PGE records regulatory assets or liabilities if it is probable that they will be reflected in future prices, based on regulatory orders or other available evidence.

The Company periodically assesses the applicability of regulatory accounting to its business, considering both the current and anticipated future rate environment and related accounting guidance. For additional information, see "Regulatory Assets and Liabilities" in Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, and Note 6, Regulatory Assets and Liabilities, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8.—"Financial Statements and Supplementary Data."

Customers and Revenues

PGE generates revenue through the sale and delivery of electricity to retail customers. The Company conducts retail electric operations exclusively in Oregon within a service area approved by the OPUC. Within its service territory, the Company competes with: i) the local natural gas distribution company for the energy needs of residential and commercial space heating, water heating, and appliances; and ii) fuel oil suppliers, primarily for residential customers' space heating needs. In addition, the Company distributes power to commercial and industrial customers that choose to purchase their energy supply from an ESS. The Company includes such "direct access" customers in its customer counts and energy delivered to such customers in its total retail energy deliveries, as reflected in the tables below. Retail revenues include only delivery charges and transition adjustments for these customers.

Retail Revenues

Retail customers are classified as residential, commercial, or industrial, with no single customer representing more than 4% of PGE's total retail revenues or 6% of total retail deliveries. While the 20 largest commercial and industrial customers constituted 12% of total retail revenues in 2013, they represented nine different groups including high technology, paper manufacturing, metal fabrication, health services, and governmental agencies.

PGE's Retail revenues (dollars in millions), retail energy deliveries (MWh in thousands), and average number of retail customers consist of the following for the years presented:

	Years Ended December 31,							
		2013		2012			2011	
Retail revenues (1) (dollars in millions):								
Residential	\$	861	51%	\$	860	50%	\$ 877	51 %
Commercial		619	36		633	37	635	37
Industrial		217	13		226	13	226	13
Subtotal		1,697	100		1,719	100	1,738	101
Other accrued (deferred) revenues, net		(5)	_		4	_	(16)	(1)
Total retail revenues	\$	1,692	100%	\$	1,723	100%	\$ 1,722	100 %
Retail energy deliveries (MWh in thousands):								
Residential		7,702	40%		7,505	39%	7,733	40 %
Commercial		7,441	38		7,402	39	7,419	38
Industrial		4,276	22		4,283	22	4,193	22
Total retail energy deliveries		19,419	100%		19,190	100%	19,345	100 %
		_			_		_	
Average number of retail customers:								
Residential		728,481	87%		723,440	87%	719,977	87 %
Commercial		104,385	13		103,766	13	102,940	13
Industrial		263			261		255	
Total		833,129	100%		827,467	100%	823,172	100 %

⁽¹⁾ Includes both revenues from customers who purchase their energy supplies from the Company and revenues from the delivery of energy to those commercial and industrial customers that purchase their energy from ESSs.

⁽²⁾ Includes both energy sold to retail customers and energy deliveries to those commercial and industrial customers that purchase their energy from ESSs.

Additional averages for retail customers are as follows:

	Years Ended December 31,				
	2013		2012		2011
Usage per customer (in kilowatt hours):	 				
Residential	10,572		10,375		10,740
Commercial	71,284		71,343		72,075
Industrial	16,257,517		16,409,211		16,572,913
Revenue per customer (in dollars):					
Residential	\$ 1,106	\$	1,113	\$	1,160
Commercial	5,840		6,041		6,194
Industrial	786,390		863,402		900,805
Revenue per kilowatt hour (in cents):					
Residential	10.46¢		10.72¢		10.80¢
Commercial	8.19		8.47		8.59
Industrial	4.84		5.26		5.44

For additional information, see the Results of Operations section in Item 7.—"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations."

In accordance with state regulations, PGE's retail customer prices are based on the Company's cost of service and are determined through general rate case proceedings and various tariff filings with the OPUC. Additionally, the Company offers different pricing options including a daily market price option, various time-of-use options, and several renewable energy options, which are offered to residential and small commercial customers. For additional information on customer options, see "*Retail Customer Choice Program*" within the Regulation section of this Item 1. Additional information on the customer classes follows.

Residential customers include single family housing, multiple family housing (such as apartments, duplexes, and town homes), mobile homes, and small farms. Residential demand is sensitive to the effects of weather, with demand historically highest during the winter heating season; although, increased use of air conditioning in PGE's service territory has caused the summer peaks to increase in recent years. Economic conditions can also affect residential demand, as historical data suggests that high unemployment rates contribute to a decrease in residential deliveries. Residential demand is also impacted by energy efficiency measures; however, the Company's decoupling mechanism is intended to mitigate the financial effects of such measures.

During 2013, as a result of cooler weather during the 2013 heating season and an increase in the average number of customers, total residential deliveries increased 2.6% compared to 2012. While the number of residential customers increased during 2012, total residential deliveries decreased 2.9% compared to 2011 driven by warmer weather conditions during the 2012 heating season. On a weather adjusted basis, energy deliveries to residential customers increased by 1% in 2013 when compared to 2012.

Commercial customers consist of non-residential customers who accept energy deliveries at voltages equivalent to those delivered to residential customers. This customer class includes most businesses, small industrial companies, and public street and highway lighting accounts.

Demand from the Company's commercial customers is somewhat less susceptible to weather conditions than the residential class, although weather does have an effect on commercial demand. Economic conditions and fluctuations in total employment in the region can also lead to corresponding changes in energy demand from commercial customers. Commercial demand is also impacted by energy efficiency measures, the financial effects of which are partially mitigated by the Company's decoupling mechanism.

In 2013, the favorable weather effects and an increase in the average number of customers contributed to the 0.5% increase in commercial deliveries compared with 2012. In 2012, deliveries to commercial customers decre

ased 0.2% compared with 2011, which was primarily due to unfavorable weather effects relative to 2011, and largely offset by the addition of an average of over 800 new customers.

Industrial customers consist of non-residential customers who accept delivery at higher voltages than commercial customers, with pricing based on the amount of electricity delivered on the applicable tariff. Demand from industrial customers is primarily driven by economic conditions, with weather having little impact on this customer class.

A change in economic activity can lead to a change in energy demand from the Company's industrial customers. The Company's industrial energy deliveries decreased 0.2% in 2013 from 2012 and increased 2.1% in 2012 from 2011, driven primarily by changes in demand from certain paper production customers.

Other accrued (deferred) revenues, net includes items that are not currently in customer prices, but are expected to be in prices in a future period. Such amounts include deferrals recorded under the RAC, the PCAM, and the decoupling mechanism. For further information on these items, see "State of Oregon Regulation" in the Regulation section of this Item 1.

Wholesale Revenues

PGE participates in the wholesale electricity marketplace in order to balance its supply of power to meet the needs of its retail customers. Interconnected transmission systems in the western United States serve utilities with diverse load requirements and allow the Company to purchase and sell electricity within the region depending upon the relative price and availability of power, hydro conditions, and daily and seasonal retail demand. Wholesale revenues represented 4% of total revenues in 2013 and 3% in 2012 and 2011.

The majority of PGE's wholesale electricity sales are to utilities and power marketers and are predominantly short-term. The Company may net purchases and sales with the same counterparty rather than simultaneously receiving and delivering physical power; in such cases, only the net amount of those purchases or sales required to meet retail and wholesale obligations will be physically settled.

Other Operating Revenues

Other operating revenues consist primarily of gains and losses on the sale of excess natural gas, as well as revenues from transmission services, excess transmission capacity resales, excess fuel oil sales, pole contact rentals, and other electric services provided to customers. Other operating revenues represented 2% of total revenues in 2013, 2012, and 2011.

Seasonality

Demand for electricity by PGE's residential and, to a lesser extent, commercial customers, is affected by seasonal weather conditions. The Company uses heating and cooling degree-days to determine the effect of weather on the demand for electricity. Heating and cooling degree-days provide cumulative variances in the average daily temperature from a baseline of 65 degrees, over a period of time, to indicate the extent to which customers are likely to use, or have used, electricity for heating or air conditioning. The higher the number of degree-days, the greater the expected demand for heating or cooling.

The following table indicates the heating and cooling degree-days for the most recent three-year period, along with 15-year averages for the most recent year provided by the National Weather Service, as measured at Portland International Airport:

	Heating Degree-Days	Cooling Degree-Days
2013	4,386	539
2012	4,169	436
2011	4,650	362
15-year average for 2013	4,239	454

PGE's all-time high net system load peak of 4,073 megawatts (MW) occurred in December 1998. The Company's all-time "summer peak" of 3,949 MW occurred in July 2009. The following table presents the Company's average winter (consisting of January, February and December) and summer (consisting of July, August and September) loads for the periods indicated along with the corresponding peak load and month in which it occurred (in MWs):

		Winter Loads	1		Summer Load	S
	Average	Peak	Month	Average	Peak	Month
2013	2,656	3,869	December	2,278	3,527	July
2012	2,529	3,426	January	2,249	3,597	August
2011	2,612	3,555	January	2,233	3,340	September

The Company tracks and evaluates both load growth and peak load requirements for purposes of long-term load forecasting and integrated resource planning, as well as for preparing general rate case assumptions. Behavior patterns, conservation, energy efficiency initiatives and measures, weather effects, economic conditions, and demographic changes all play a role in determining expected future customer demand and the resulting resources the Company will need to adequately meet those loads and maintain adequate capacity reserves.

Power Supply

PGE relies upon its generating resources as well as short- and long-term power and fuel purchase contracts to meet its customers' energy requirements. The Company executes economic dispatch decisions concerning its own generation, and participates in the wholesale market as a result of those economic dispatch decisions, in an effort to obtain reasonably-priced power for its retail customers, manage risk, and administer its current long-term wholesale contracts. The Company also promotes energy efficiency measures to meet its energy requirements.

PGE's generating resources consist of five thermal plants (natural gas- and coal-fired turbines), seven hydroelectric plants, and a wind farm located at Biglow Canyon in eastern Oregon. The volume of electricity the Company generates is dependent upon, among other factors, the capacity and availability of its generating resources. Capacity of the thermal plants represents the MW the plant is capable of generating under normal operating conditions, net of electricity used in the operation of the plant. The capacity of the Company's thermal generating resources is also affected by ambient temperatures. Capacity of both hydro and wind generating resources represent the nameplate MW, which varies from actual energy expected to be received as these types of generating resources are highly dependent upon river flows and wind conditions, respectively. Availability represents the percentage of the year the plant was available for operations, which reflects the impact of planned and forced outages. For a complete listing of these facilities, see "Generating Facilities" in Item 2.—"Properties."

PGE's resource capacity (in MW) was as follows:

	As of December 31,					
	2013		2012		2011	
	Capacity	%	Capacity	%	Capacity	%
Generation:						
Thermal:						
Natural gas	1,163	27%	1,172	28%	1,172	28%
Coal	756	17	670	16	670	16
Total thermal	1,919	44	1,842	44	1,842	44
Hydro (1)	501	11	489	12	489	12
Wind (2)	450	10	450	11	450	11
Total generation	2,870	65	2,781	67	2,781	67
Purchased power:						
Long-term contracts:						
Capacity/exchange	160	3	160	4	190	4
Hydro	603	14	588	14	579	14
Wind	39	1	39	1	38	1
Solar	13		13		6	_
Other	117	3	117	3	110	3
Total long-term contracts	932	21	917	22	923	22
Short-term contracts	596	14	475	11	458	11
Total purchased power	1,528	35	1,392	33	1,381	33
Total resource capacity	4,398	100%	4,173	100%	4,162	100%

⁽¹⁾ Capacity represents nameplate and differs from expected energy to be generated, which is expected to range from 200 MWa to 250 MWa, dependent upon river flows.

For information regarding actual generating output and purchases for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, see the Results of Operations section of Item 7.—"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations."

Generation

The portion of PGE's retail load requirements generated by its plants varies from year to year and is determined by various factors, including planned and forced outages, availability and price of coal and natural gas, precipitation and snow-pack levels, the market price of electricity, and wind variability. As of December 31, 2013, the Company has new energy and capacity resources under construction, which are expected to be placed in service between 2015 and 2016. Such resources were selected pursuant to the competitive bidding process completed in 2013 in accordance with the Company's 2009 IRP. For additional information on these new energy and capacity resources see " *Capital Requirements*" in the Liquidity and Capital Resources section in Item 7.— "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations."

Thermal On December 31, 2013, PGE acquired an additional 15% ownership interest in the Boardman coal-fired generating plant (Boardman), which it operates, increasing the Company's ownership share to 80% from 65%. For additional information, see Note 17, Jointly-owned Plant, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8.—"Financial Statements and Supplementary Data." The Company also has a 20% ownership interest in Colstrip Units 3 and 4 coal-fired generating plant (Colstrip), which is operated by a third party.

⁽²⁾ Capacity represents nameplate and differs from expected energy to be generated, which is expected to range from 135 MWa to 180 MWa, dependent upon wind conditions.

These two coal-fired generating facilities provided approximately 22% of the Company's total retail load requirement in 2013, compared with 19% in 2012 and 21% in 2011. The Company's three natural gas-fired generating facilities, Port Westward, Beaver, and Coyote Springs Unit 1 (Coyote Springs), provided approximately 18% of its total retail load requirement in 2013, compared with 15% in 2012 and 11% in 2011.

The thermal plants provide reliable power for the Company's customers and capacity reserves. These resources have a combined capacity of 1,919 MW, representing approximately 67% of the net capacity of PGE's generating facilities. Thermal plant availability, excluding Colstrip, was 84% in 2013, compared with 92% in 2012 and 90% in 2011, while Colstrip plant availability was 66% in 2013, compared with 93% in 2012 and 84% in 2011. Thermal plant availability percentages for 2013 were lower than 2012 and 2011 due to unplanned outages at three plants. For additional information on the unplanned plant outages, see "*Power Operations*" in the Overview section in Item 7.—"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations."

Hydro

The Company's FERC-licensed hydroelectric projects consist of Pelton/Round Butte on the Deschutes River near Madras, Oregon (discussed below), four plants on the Clackamas River, and one on the Willamette River. The licenses for these projects expire at various dates ranging from 2035 to 2055. Although these plants have a combined capacity of 501 MW, actual energy received is dependent upon river flows. Energy from these resources provided 9% of the Company's total retail load requirement in 2013, compared with 10% in 2012 and in 2011, with availability of 100% in 2013, compared with 99% in 2012 and 100% in 2011. Northwest hydro conditions have a significant impact on the region's power supply, with water conditions significantly impacting PGE's cost of power and its ability to economically displace more expensive thermal generation and spot market power purchases.

PGE has a 66.67% ownership interest in the 465 MW Pelton/Round Butte hydroelectric project on the Deschutes River, with the remaining interest held by the Confederated Tribes of the Warm Springs Reservation of Oregon (Tribes). A 50-year joint license for the project, which is operated by PGE, was issued by the FERC in 2005. The Tribes have an option to purchase an additional undivided 16.66% interest in Pelton/Round Butte at its discretion on or after December 31, 2021. The Tribes have a second option to purchase an undivided 0.02% interest in Pelton/Round Butte at its discretion on or after April 1, 2041. If both options are exercised by the Tribes, the Tribes' ownership percentage would exceed 50%.

Wind

Biglow Canyon Wind Farm (Biglow Canyon), located in Sherman County, Oregon, is PGE's largest renewable energy resource with 217 wind turbines with a total nameplate capacity of approximately 450 MW. It was completed and placed in service in three phases between December 2007 and August 2010. The energy from Biglow Canyon provided 6% of the Company's total retail load requirement in 2013, 2012, and 2011. Availability for Biglow Canyon was 98% in 2013 and in 2012, and 97% in 2011. The expected energy from wind resources differs from the nameplate capacity and is expected to range from 135 MWa to 180 MWa for Biglow Canyon, dependent upon wind conditions.

Dispatchable Standby Generation (DSG) —PGE has a DSG program under which the Company can start, operate, and monitor customer-owned diesel-fueled standby generators when needed to support specific capacity needs. The program also helps provide NERC-required operating reserves. As of December 31, 2013, there were 49 projects with a total capacity of 93 MW. Additional DSG projects are being pursued with a goal of 100 MW online by the end of 2014.

Fuel Supply —PGE contracts for natural gas and coal supplies required to fuel the Company's thermal generating plants, with certain plants also able to operate on fuel oil if needed. In addition, the Company uses forward, future, swap, and option contracts to manage its exposure to volatility in natural gas prices.

Coal

Boardman —PGE has fixed-price purchase agreements that will provide coal for Boardman for the majority of 2014. The coal is obtained from surface mining operations in Wyoming and Montana and is delivered by rail under two separate transportation contracts which extend through 2020.

PGE expects to begin seeking requests for proposal in 2014 for the purchase of coal to fill remaining open positions for 2014, and to start layering open positions for 2015 and beyond. The terms of contracts and the quality of coal are expected to be staged in alignment with required emissions limits. PGE believes that sufficient market supplies of coal are available to meet anticipated operations of Boardman through 2020.

Natural Gas

Port Westward and Beaver —PGE manages the price risk of natural gas supply for Port Westward through financial contracts up to 60 months in advance. Physical supplies for Port Westward and Beaver are generally purchased within 12 months of delivery and based on anticipated operation of the plants. PGE owns 79.5%, and is the operator of record, of the Kelso-Beaver Pipeline, which directly connects both generating plants to the Northwest Pipeline, an interstate natural gas pipeline operating between British Columbia and New Mexico. Currently, PGE transports gas on the Kelso-Beaver Pipeline for its own use under a firm transportation service agreement, with capacity offered to others on an interruptible basis to the extent not utilized by the Company. PGE has access to 103,305 Dth per day of firm gas transportation capacity to serve the two plants.

PGE also has contractual access through April 2017 to natural gas storage in Mist, Oregon, from which it can draw in the event that gas supplies are interrupted or if economic factors require its use. This storage may be used to fuel both Port Westward and Beaver. PGE believes that sufficient market supplies of gas are available to meet anticipated operations of both plants for the foreseeable future.

Beaver has the capability to operate on No. 2 diesel fuel oil when it is economical or if the plant's natural gas supply is interrupted. PGE had an approximate 6-day supply of ultra-low sulfur diesel fuel oil at the plant site as of December 31, 2013. The current operating permit for Beaver limits the number of gallons of fuel oil that can be burned daily, which effectively limits the daily hours of operation of Beaver on fuel oil.

Coyote Springs —PGE manages the price risk of natural gas supply for Coyote Springs through financial contracts up to 60 months in advance, while physical supplies are generally purchased within 12 months of delivery and based on anticipated operation of the plant. Coyote Springs utilizes 41,000 Dth per day of natural gas when operating at full capacity, with firm transportation capacity on three pipeline systems accessing gas fields in Alberta, Canada. PGE believes that sufficient market supplies of gas are available for Coyote Springs for the foreseeable future, based on anticipated operation of the plant. Although Coyote Springs was designed to also operate on fuel oil, such capability has been deactivated in order to optimize natural gas operations.

Purchased Power

PGE supplements its own generation with power purchased in the wholesale market to meet its retail load requirements. The Company utilizes short- and long-term wholesale power purchase contracts in an effort to provide the most favorable economic mix on a variable cost basis. Such contracts have original terms ranging from one month to 53 years and expire at varying dates through 2055.

PGE's medium term power cost strategy helps mitigate the effect of price volatility on its customers due to changing energy market conditions. The strategy allows the Company to take positions in power and fuel markets up to five years in advance of physical delivery. By purchasing a portion of anticipated energy needs for future

years over an extended period, PGE mitigates a portion of the potential future volatility in the average cost of purchased power and fuel

The Company's major power purchase contracts consist of the following (also see the preceding table which summarizes the average resource capabilities related to these contracts):

Capacity/exchange —PGE has two contracts that provide PGE with firm capacity to help meet the Company's peak loads. The contract representing 10 MW of capacity expires in May 2014 and the contract representing 150 MW of capacity expires in December 2016. In addition to PGE's capacity/exchange power purchase contracts presented in the preceding table, the Company entered into two power purchase agreements for up to 100 MW of seasonal peaking capacity pursuant to the competitive bidding process completed in 2013. One agreement covers winter from December 2014 to February 2019 and the second agreement covers summer from July 2014 to September 2018.

Hydro —The Company has four contracts that provide for the purchase of power generated from hydroelectric projects with an aggregate capacity of 117 MW and which expire between 2015 and 2018. In addition, PGE has the following:

- *Mid-Columbia hydro* —PGE has long-term power purchase contracts with certain public utility districts in the state of Washington for a portion of the output of three hydroelectric projects on the mid-Columbia River. The contract representing 163 MW of capacity expires in 2018 and the contract representing 168 MW of capacity expires in 2052. Although the projects currently provide a total of 331 MW of capacity, actual energy received is dependent upon river flows.
- Confederated Tribes PGE has a long-term agreement under which the Company purchases, at market prices, the Tribes' interest in the output of the Pelton/Round Butte hydroelectric project. Although the agreement provides 155 MW of capacity, actual energy received is dependent upon river flows. The term of the agreement coincides with the term of the FERC license for this project, which expires in 2055. The Tribes may elect to sell its output to another party with a one year notice to PGE.

Wind —PGE has three contracts that provide for the purchase of renewable wind-generated electricity and which extend to various dates between 2028 and 2035. Although these contracts provide a total of 39 MW of capacity, actual energy received is dependent upon wind conditions.

Solar —PGE has three agreements to purchase power generated from photovoltaic solar projects, which expire between 2036 and 2037. These projects have a combined generating capacity of 7 MW. In addition, the Company operates, and purchases power from four solar projects with an aggregate of approximately 6 MW of capacity.

Other —These primarily consist of long-term contracts to purchase power from various counterparties, including other Pacific Northwest utilities, over terms extending into 2031.

Short-term contracts — These contracts are for delivery periods of one month up to one year in length. They are entered into with various counterparties to provide additional firm energy to help meet the Company's load requirement.

PGE also utilizes spot purchases of power in the open market to secure the energy required to serve its retail customers. Such purchases are made under contracts that range in duration from 30 minutes to less than one month. For additional information regarding PGE's power purchase contracts, see Note 15, Commitments and Guarantees, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8.—"Financial Statements and Supplementary Data."

Future Energy Resource Strategy

PGE is in the process of finalizing its next IRP (2013 IRP), which outlines the Company's expectations for resource needs and resource portfolio performance over the next 20 years. The 2013 IRP is expected to be filed with the OPUC by the end of March 2014. The 2013 IRP also includes an "Action Plan," which covers the Company's proposed actions over the next five years (2014 through 2018). Over this time period, PGE projects energy requirements to approximate, or slightly exceed, the energy available through its generation resources and long-term power purchase agreements. The Company believes that any shortfalls will be manageable through its wholesale purchasing strategy.

Based on PGE's current draft of the 2013 IRP, which was provided to the OPUC Staff in November 2013, the proposed Action Plan includes the following, among other components, between 2014 and 2017:

- Seek renewal, or partial renewal, of expiring power purchase agreements for energy generated from hydroelectric projects, if available and cost-effective for our customers;
- Acquisition of a total of 124 MWa of energy efficiency through continuation of Energy Trust of Oregon programs;
- To help manage peak load conditions and other supply contingencies, acquisition of 55 MW of demand response and PGE dispatchable standby generation from our customers;
- In preparation for the next IRP, perform various research and studies related to load forecast and energy efficiency projections, distributed PV solar application within PGE's service territory, the viability of large-scale biomass operations, fuel supply, wind integration needs, and operational flexibility requirements; and
- Retain and acquire transmission service through Bonneville Power Administration's (BPA's) OATT to interconnect new and existing resources in eastern Oregon to PGE's service territory.

The draft 2013 IRP also incorporates the selected energy and capacity resources resulting from the outcome of the competitive bidding process in 2013 pursuant to the Company's 2009 IRP, the most recent IRP acknowledged by the OPUC. These new resources are currently under construction and are expected to be in service between 2015 and 2016. For additional information on these capital projects see "Capital Requirements" in the Liquidity and Capital Resources section in Item 7.—"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations."

Beyond 2018, PGE projects it will need to procure new resources in order to meet the 2020 and 2025 RPS requirements and to replace energy from Boardman, which is scheduled to cease coal-fired operations in 2020. Additional post-2018 actions may also be needed to offset expiring power purchase agreements and to back-up variable energy resources, such as wind generation facilities. These actions are expected to be identified in a future IRP.

Transmission and Distribution

Transmission systems deliver energy from generating facilities to distribution systems for final delivery to customers. PGE schedules energy deliveries over its transmission system in accordance with FERC requirements and operates one balancing authority area (an electric system bounded by interchange metering) in its service territory. In 2013, PGE delivered approximately 22 million megawatt hours (MWh) in its balancing authority area through 1,141 circuit miles of transmission lines operating at or above 115 kV.

PGE's transmission system is part of the Western Interconnection, the regional grid in the western United States. The Western Interconnection includes the interconnected transmission systems of 11 western states, two Canadian provinces and parts of Mexico, and is subject to the reliability rules of the WECC and the NERC. PGE relies on transmission contracts with BPA to transmit a significant amount of the Company's generation to its distribution system. PGE's transmission system, together with contractual rights on other transmission systems, enables the Company to integrate and access generation resources to meet its customers' energy requirements. PGE's generation is managed on a coordinated basis to obtain maximum load-carrying capability and efficiency. The Company's transmission and distribution systems are located as follows:

- On property owned or leased by PGE;
- Under or over streets, alleys, highways and other public places, the public domain and national forests, and state lands under franchises, easements or other rights that are generally subject to termination;
- Under or over private property as a result of easements obtained primarily from the record holder of title; or
- Under or over Native American reservations under grant of easement by the Secretary of the Interior or lease or easement by Native American tribes.

The Company's wholesale transmission activities are regulated by the FERC and are offered on a non-discriminatory basis, with all potential customers provided equal access to PGE's transmission system in accordance with FERC Standards of Conduct. In accordance with its OATT, PGE offers several transmission services to wholesale customers:

- Network integration transmission service, a service that integrates generating resources to serve retail loads;
- Short- and long-term firm point-to-point transmission service, a service with fixed delivery and receipt points; and
- Non-firm point-to-point service, an "as available" service with fixed delivery and receipt points.

PGE continues to meet state regulatory requirements related to power distribution service quality and reliability. Such requirements are reflected in specific indices that measure outage duration, outage frequency, and momentary power interruptions. The Company is required to include performance results related to service quality measures in annual reports filed with the OPUC. Specific monetary penalties can be assessed for failure to attain required performance levels, with amounts dependent upon the extent to which actual results fail to meet such requirements.

For additional information regarding the Company's transmission and distribution facilities, see "*Transmission and Distribution*" in Item 2.—"Properties."

Environmental Matters

PGE's operations are subject to a wide range of environmental protection laws and regulations, which pertain to air and water quality, endangered species and wildlife protection, and hazardous material. Various state and federal agencies regulate environmental matters that relate to the siting, construction, and operation of generation, transmission, and substation facilities and the handling, accumulation, cleanup, and disposal of toxic and hazardous substances. In addition, certain of the Company's hydroelectric projects and transmission facilities are located on property under the jurisdiction of federal and state agencies, and/or tribal entities that have authority in environmental protection matters. The following discussion provides further information on certain regulations that affect the Company's operations and facilities.

Air Quality

Clean Air Act —PGE's operations, primarily its thermal generating plants, are subject to regulation under the federal Clean Air Act (CAA), which addresses, among other things, particulate matter, hazardous air pollutants, and greenhouse gas emissions (GHGs). Oregon and Montana, the states in which PGE's thermal facilities are located, also implement and administer certain portions of the CAA and have set standards that are at least equal to federal standards.

The United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) has issued emissions limits under the CAA National Emission Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants (NESHAP) to regulate hazardous air emissions from coal and oil fired electric generating units. Emissions limits included in the NESHAP are based on the application of maximum achievable control technology (MACT). Installation of emissions controls to meet the emissions limits for sulfur dioxide (SO 2) and nitrous oxide at Boardman, which include a Dry Sorbent Injection system, was completed in 2013. With the addition of these controls, the Company believes the Boardman plant should meet the MACT requirements without additional capital investment. Oregon Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) rules provide for coal-fired operation at Boardman to cease no later than December 31, 2020.

Emissions controls in place at Colstrip allow operation within the standards necessary to meet the MACT requirements. The Company does not anticipate further capital investment to meet the requirements currently in place.

Although regulation of mercury emissions is contemplated under NESHAP, the states of Oregon and Montana have previously adopted regulations concerning mercury emissions. Both Boardman and Colstrip meet the mercury compliance requirements in their respective states.

PGE manages its air emissions by the use of low sulfur fuel, emissions and combustion controls and monitoring, and SO 2 allowances awarded under the CAA. The current allowance inventory and expected future annual SO 2 allowances, along with the recent and planned installation of emissions controls, are anticipated to be sufficient to permit the Company to continue to meet its compliance requirements and operate its thermal generating plants at forecasted capacity for at least the next several years.

Climate Change —No comprehensive GHG emissions legislation has been considered and voted on by Congress in recent years. However, state, regional, and federal legislative efforts continue with respect to establishing regulation of GHG emissions and their potential impacts on climate change. Currently, the EPA has taken the lead role on climate change policy utilizing existing authority under the CAA to develop regulations. Areas of focus for the Company include the following:

• In December 2010, the EPA announced a proposed settlement agreement with states and environmental groups that would require the EPA to set GHG New Source Performance Standards (NSPS) for new and modified fossil fuel-based power plants, and guidelines for state-developed NSPS for existing sources. The emissions standards for new natural gas- and coal-fired electric generating units were proposed in April 2012 under the CAA, but have yet to be finalized, as the EPA is in the process of issuing a revised proposal. The EPA has also been directed to propose emissions standards under the CAA for existing fossil fuel-based

power plants by June 2014 and issue a final rule one year later. It is expected that individual states will have flexibility that would allow for an array of tools, including RPS and cap and trade programs, to be used to comply with new standards. The Company continues to monitor the developments around the federal proposals.

• The State of Oregon established a non-binding policy guideline that sets a goal to reduce GHG emissions to 10% below 1990 levels by 2020 and at least 75% below 1990 levels by 2050. Although the guideline does not mandate reductions by any specific entity nor include penalties for failure to meet the goal, the Company is required to report to the DEQ the amount of GHG emissions produced along with the total amount of energy produced or purchased by PGE for consumption in Oregon.

Any laws that would impose emissions taxes or mandatory reductions in GHG emissions may have a material impact on PGE's operations, as the Company utilizes fossil fuels in its own power generation and other companies use such fuels to generate power that PGE purchases in the wholesale market. PGE's natural gas-fired facilities, Beaver, Coyote Springs, and Port Westward, and the Company's ownership interest in coal-fired facilities, Boardman and Colstrip, provided approximately 67% of the Company's net generating capacity during 2013. If PGE were to incur incremental costs as a result of changes in the regulations regarding GHGs, the Company would seek recovery in customer prices.

Water Quality

The federal Clean Water Act requires that any federal license or permit to conduct an activity that may result in a discharge to waters of the United States must first receive a water quality certification from the state in which the activity will occur. In Oregon, Montana, and Washington, the Departments of Environmental Quality are responsible for reviewing proposed projects under this requirement to ensure that federally approved activities will meet water quality standards and policies established by the respective state. PGE has obtained permits where required, and has certificates of compliance for its hydroelectric operations under the FERC licenses.

Threatened and Endangered Species and Wildlife

Fish Protection —The federal Endangered Species Act (ESA) has granted protection to many populations of migratory fish species in the Pacific Northwest that have declined significantly over the last several decades. Long-term recovery plans for these species have caused major operational changes to many of the region's hydroelectric projects. PGE purchases power in the wholesale market to serve its retail load requirements and has contracts to purchase power generated at some of the affected facilities on the mid-Columbia River in central Washington.

PGE continues to implement fish protection measures at its hydroelectric projects on the Clackamas, Deschutes, and Willamette rivers that were prescribed by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service and the National Marine Fisheries Service under their authority granted in the ESA and the Federal Power Act. As a result of measures contained in their operating licenses, the Deschutes River and Willamette River projects have been certified as low impact hydro, with 50 MWa of their output included as part of the Company's renewable energy portfolio used to meet the requirements of the Oregon RPS. Conditions required with the operating licenses are expected to result in a minor reduction in power production and increase capital spending to modify the facilities to enhance fish passage and survival.

Avian Protection —Various statutory authorities as well as the Migratory Bird Treaty Act have established civil, criminal, and administrative penalties for the unauthorized take of migratory birds. Because PGE operates electric transmission lines and wind generation facilities that can pose risks to a variety of such birds, the Company is required to have an avian protection plan to reduce risks to bird species that can result from Company operations. PGE has developed and implemented such a plan for its transmission and distribution facilities and continues to develop similar plans for its wind generation facilities. In 2014, the avian protection plan is expected to be finalized for Biglow Canyon, while data collection will occur at Tucannon River with a plan expected in 2015.

Hazardous Waste

PGE has a comprehensive program to comply with requirements of both federal and state regulations related to hazardous waste storage, handling, and disposal. The handling and disposal of hazardous waste from Company facilities is subject to regulation under the federal Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA). In addition, the use, disposal, and clean-up of polychlorinated biphenyls, contained in certain electrical equipment, are regulated under the federal Toxic Substances Control Act.

Boardman and Colstrip produce coal combustion byproducts (CCBs), which have historically not been considered hazardous waste under the RCRA. The EPA continues to consider listing these residuals as hazardous waste, which would likely have an impact on current disposal practices and could increase the Company's cost of handling these materials. The EPA is expected to issue a proposed rulemaking by the end of 2014. The Company cannot predict the possible impact of this matter until the EPA provides further guidance on the proposed rules. If PGE were to incur incremental costs as a result of changes in the regulations, the Company would seek recovery in customer prices.

PGE is also subject to regulation under the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation and Liability Act (CERCLA), commonly referred to as Superfund. The CERCLA provides authority to the EPA to assert joint and several liability for investigation and remediation costs for designated Superfund sites.

A 1997 investigation by the EPA of a segment of the Willamette River known as Portland Harbor revealed significant contamination of river sediments and prompted the EPA to subsequently include Portland Harbor on the federal National Priority List as a Superfund site pursuant to CERCLA. The EPA initially listed sixty-nine Potentially Responsible Parties (PRPs), including PGE as it has historically owned or operated property near the river. In 2008, the EPA requested further information from various parties, including PGE, concerning property several miles beyond the original river segment and, as a result, the PRPs now number over one hundred. In March 2012, a draft feasibility study was submitted to the EPA for review and approval. A Record of Decision is expected from the EPA in 2015 on the various clean-up alternatives, which, as outlined in the draft feasibility study, could take up to 28 years to complete and range in cost from \$169 million to \$1.8 billion. It is unclear for what portion, if any, that PGE might be held responsible.

For additional information on this EPA action, see Note 18, Contingencies, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8.—"Financial Statements and Supplementary Data."

Under the Nuclear Waste Policy Act of 1982, the USDOE is responsible for the permanent storage and disposal of spent nuclear fuel. PGE has contracted with the USDOE for permanent disposal of spent nuclear fuel from Trojan that is stored in the Independent Spent Fuel Storage Installation (ISFSI), an NRC-licensed interim dry storage facility that houses the fuel at the former plant site. The spent nuclear fuel is expected to remain in the ISFSI until permanent off-site storage is available, which is not likely to be before 2020. Shipment of the spent nuclear fuel from the ISFSI to off-site storage is not expected to be completed prior to 2033. For additional information regarding this matter, see " *Trojan decommissioning activities*" in Note 7, Asset Retirement Obligations, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8.—"Financial Statements and Supplementary Data."

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS.

Certain risks and uncertainties that could have a significant impact on PGE's business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows, or that may cause the Company's actual results to vary materially from the forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, include those set forth below.

Recovery of PGE's costs is subject to regulatory review and approval, and the inability to recover costs may adversely affect the Company's results of operations.

The prices that PGE charges for its retail services, as authorized by the OPUC, are a major factor in determining the Company's operating income, financial position, liquidity, and credit ratings. As a general matter, PGE seeks to recover in customer prices most of the costs incurred in connection with the operation of its business, including, among other things, costs related to capital projects (such as the construction of new facilities or the modification of existing facilities), the costs of compliance with legislative and regulatory requirements and the costs of damage from storms and other natural disasters. However, there can be no assurance that such recovery will be granted. The OPUC has the authority to disallow the recovery of any costs that it considers imprudently incurred. Although the OPUC is required to establish customer prices that are fair, just and reasonable, it has significant discretion in the interpretation of this standard.

In February 2014, PGE filed with the OPUC a 2015 General Rate Case with a 2015 test year. For additional information regarding the 2015 General Rate Case, see the Overview section of Item 7.—"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations." In PGE's three most recent general rate cases (2014, 2011 and 2009), overall price increases approved by the OPUC were less than the Company's initial proposals. Under such circumstances, PGE attempts to manage its costs at levels consistent with the reduced price increases. However, if the Company is unable to do so, or if such cost management results in increased operational risk, the Company's financial and operating results could be adversely affected.

Economic conditions that result in reduced demand for electricity and impair the financial stability of some of PGE 's customers, could affect the Company 's results of operations.

Unfavorable economic conditions in Oregon may result in reduced demand for electricity. Such reductions in demand could adversely affect PGE's results of operations and cash flows. Economic conditions could also result in an increased level of uncollectible customer accounts and cause the Company's vendors and service providers to experience cash flow problems and be unable to perform under existing or future contracts.

Market prices for power and natural gas are subject to forces that are often not predictable and which can result in price volatility and general market disruption, adversely affecting PGE's costs and ability to manage its energy portfolio and procure required energy supply, which ultimately could have an adverse effect on the Company's liquidity and results of operations.

As part of its normal business operations, PGE purchases power and natural gas in the open market under short and long term contracts, which may specify variable-prices or volumes. Market prices for power and natural gas are influenced primarily by factors related to supply and demand. These factors generally include the adequacy of generating capacity, scheduled and unscheduled outages of generating facilities, hydroelectric and wind generation levels, prices and availability of fuel sources for generation, disruptions or constraints to transmission facilities, weather conditions, economic growth, and changes in technology.

Volatility in these markets can affect the availability, price and demand for power and natural gas. Disruption in power and natural gas markets could result in a deterioration of market liquidity, increase the risk of counterparty default, affect regulatory and legislative processes in unpredictable ways, affect wholesale power prices, and impair PGE's ability to manage its energy portfolio. Changes in power and natural gas prices can also affect the fair value of derivative instruments and cash requirements to purchase power and natural gas. If power and natural gas prices decrease from those contained in the Company's existing purchased power and natural gas agreements, PGE may

be required to provide increased collateral, which could adversely affect the Company's liquidity. Conversely, if power and natural gas prices rise, especially during periods when the Company requires greater-than-expected volumes that must be purchased at market or short-term prices, PGE could incur greater costs than originally estimated.

The risk of volatility in power costs is partially mitigated through the AUT and the PCAM. PGE files an annual AUT with an update of the Company's forecasted net variable power costs (baseline NVPC) to be reflected in customer prices. The PCAM provides a mechanism by which the Company can adjust future customer prices to reflect a portion of the difference between each year's baseline NVPC included in customer prices and actual NVPC. PGE is subject to a portion of the business risk or benefit associated with the difference between actual NVPC and baseline NVPC by application of an asymmetrical "deadband." The PCAM provides for a fixed deadband range of \$15 million below, to \$30 million above, baseline NVPC. Application of the PCAM requires that PGE absorb certain power cost increases before the Company is allowed to recover any amount from customers. Accordingly, the PCAM is expected to only partially mitigate the potentially adverse financial impacts of forced generating plant outages, reduced hydro and wind availability, interruptions in fuel supplies, and volatile wholesale energy prices.

The effects of weather on electricity usage can adversely affect results of operations.

Weather conditions can adversely affect PGE's revenues and costs, impacting the Company's results of operations. Variations in temperatures can affect customer demand for electricity, with warmer-than-normal winters or cooler-than-normal summers reducing the demand for energy. Weather conditions are the dominant cause of usage variations from normal seasonal patterns, particularly for residential customers. Severe weather can also disrupt energy delivery and damage the Company's transmission and distribution system.

Rapid increases in load requirements resulting from unexpected adverse weather changes, particularly if coupled with transmission constraints, could adversely impact PGE's cost and ability to meet the energy needs of its customers. Conversely, rapid decreases in load requirements could result in the sale of excess energy at depressed market prices.

Forced outages at PGE's generating plants can increase the cost of power required to serve customers because the cost of replacement power purchased in the wholesale market generally exceeds the Company's cost of generation.

Forced outages at the Company's generating plants could result in power costs greater than those included in customer prices. In 2013, the Company experienced forced outages at three of its generating plants, and as a result, incurred incremental replacement power costs of \$17 million. As indicated above, application of the Company's PCAM could help mitigate adverse financial impacts of such outages; however, the cost sharing features of the mechanism do not provide full recovery in customer prices. Inability to recover such costs in future prices could have a negative impact on the Company's results of operations.

The construction of new facilities, or modifications to existing facilities, is subject to risks that could result in the disallowance of certain costs for recovery in customer prices or higher operating costs.

PGE's current position as a "short" utility requires that the Company supplement its own generation with wholesale power purchases to meet its retail load requirement. In addition, long-term increases in both the number of customers and demand for energy will require continued expansion and upgrade of PGE's generation, transmission, and distribution systems. Construction of new facilities and modifications to existing facilities could be affected by various factors, including unanticipated delays and cost increases and the failure to obtain, or delay in obtaining, necessary permits from state or federal agencies or tribal entities, which could result in failure to complete the projects and the disallowance of certain costs in the rate determination process. In addition, failure to complete construction projects according to specifications could result in reduced plant efficiency, equipment failure, and plant performance that falls below expected levels, which could increase operating costs.

Adverse changes in PGE's credit ratings could negatively affect its access to the capital markets and its cost of borrowed funds.

Access to capital markets is important to PGE's ability to operate its business and complete its capital projects. Credit rating agencies evaluate the Company's credit ratings on a periodic basis and when certain events occur. A ratings downgrade could increase the interest rates and fees on PGE's revolving credit facilities and letter of credit facilities, increasing the cost of funding day-to-day working capital requirements, and could also result in higher interest rates on future long-term debt. A ratings downgrade could also restrict the Company's access to the commercial paper market, a principal source of short-term financing, or result in higher interest costs.

In addition, if Moody's Investors Service (Moody's) and/or Standard & Poor's Ratings Services (S&P) reduce their rating on PGE's unsecured debt to below investment grade, the Company could be subject to requests by certain wholesale counterparties to post additional performance assurance collateral, which could have an adverse effect on the Company's liquidity.

PGE is subject to various legal and regulatory proceedings, the outcome of which is uncertain, and resolution unfavorable to PGE could adversely affect the Company's results of operations, financial condition or cash flows.

From time to time in the normal course of its business, PGE is subject to various regulatory proceedings, lawsuits, claims and other matters, which could result in adverse judgments, settlements, fines, penalties, injunctions, or other relief. These matters are subject to many uncertainties, the ultimate outcome of which management cannot predict. The final resolution of certain matters in which PGE is involved could require that the Company incur expenditures over an extended period of time and in a range of amounts that could have an adverse effect on its cash flows and results of operations. Similarly, the terms of resolution could require the Company to change its business practices and procedures, which could also have an adverse effect on its cash flows, financial position or results of operations.

There are certain pending legal and regulatory proceedings, such as those related to PGE's recovery of its investment in Trojan, the proceedings related to refunds on wholesale market transactions in the Pacific Northwest and the investigation and any resulting remediation efforts related to the Portland Harbor site, that may have an adverse effect on results of operations and cash flows for future reporting periods. For additional information, see Item 3.—"Legal Proceedings" and Note 18, Contingencies, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8.—"Financial Statements and Supplementary Data."

Reduced river flows and unfavorable wind conditions can adversely affect generation from hydroelectric and wind generating resources. The Company could be required to replace energy expected from these sources with higher cost power from other facilities or with wholesale market purchases, which could have an adverse effect on results of operations.

PGE derives a significant portion of its power supply from its own hydroelectric facilities and through long-term purchase contracts with certain public utility districts in the state of Washington. Regional rainfall and snow pack levels affect river flows and the resulting amount of energy generated by these facilities. Shortfalls in energy expected from low-cost hydroelectric generating resources would require increased energy from the Company's higher cost thermal generating plants and/or power purchases in the wholesale market, which could have an adverse effect on results of operations.

PGE also derives a portion of its power supply from wind generating resources, for which the output is dependent upon wind conditions. Unfavorable wind conditions could require increased reliance on power from the Company's thermal generating resources or power purchases in the wholesale market, both of which could have an adverse effect on results of operations.

Although the application of the PCAM could help mitigate adverse financial effects from any decrease in power provided by hydroelectric and wind generating resources, full recovery of any increase in power costs is not assured. Inability to fully recover such costs in future prices could have a negative impact on the Company's results of operations, as well as a reduction in renewable energy credits and loss of production tax credits related to wind generating resources.

Capital and credit market conditions could adversely affect the Company's access to capital, cost of capital, and ability to execute its strategic plan as currently scheduled.

Access to capital and credit markets is important to PGE's ability to operate. The Company expects to issue debt and equity securities, as necessary, to fund its future capital requirements. In addition, contractual commitments and regulatory requirements may limit the Company's ability to delay or terminate certain projects. For additional information concerning PGE's capital requirements, see " *Capital Requirement* s" in the Liquidity and Capital Resources section in Item 7.—"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations."

If the capital and credit market conditions in the United States and other parts of the world deteriorate, the Company's future cost of debt and equity capital, as well as access to capital markets, could be adversely affected. In addition, restrictions on PGE's ability to access capital markets could affect its ability to execute its strategic plan.

Legislative or regulatory efforts to reduce greenhouse gas emissions could lead to increased capital and operating costs and have an adverse impact on the Company's results of operations.

Future legislation or regulations could result in limitations on greenhouse gas emissions from the Company's fossil fuel-fired generation facilities. Compliance with any greenhouse gas emissions reduction requirements could require PGE to incur significant expenditures, including those related to carbon capture and sequestration technology, purchase of emission allowances and offsets, fuel switching, and the replacement of high-emitting generation facilities with lower-emitting facilities.

The cost to comply with potential greenhouse gas emissions reduction requirements is subject to significant uncertainties, including those related to: the timing of the implementation of emissions reduction rules; required levels of emissions reductions; requirements with respect to the allocation of emissions allowances; the maturation, regulation and commercialization of carbon capture and sequestration technology; and PGE's compliance alternatives. Although the Company cannot currently estimate the effect of future legislation or regulations on its results of operations, financial condition or cash flows, the costs of compliance with such legislation or regulations could be material.

Under certain circumstances, banks participating in PGE's credit facilities could decline to fund advances requested by the Company or could withdraw from participation in the credit facilities.

PGE currently has unsecured revolving credit facilities with several banks for an aggregate amount of \$700 million. These revolving credit facilities provide a primary source of liquidity and may be used to supplement operating cash flow and as backup for commercial paper borrowings.

The revolving credit facilities represent commitments by the participating banks to make loans and, in certain cases, to issue letters of credit. The Company is required to make certain representations to the banks each time it requests an advance under one of the credit facilities. However, in the event certain circumstances occur that could result in a material adverse change in the business, financial condition or results of operations of PGE, the Company may not be able to make such representations, in which case the banks would not be required to lend. PGE is also subject to the risk that one or more of the participating banks may default on their obligation to make loans under the credit facilities.

In addition, it is possible that the Company might not be aware of certain developments at the time it makes such a representation in connection with a request for a loan, which could cause the representation to be untrue at the time made and constitute an event of default. Such a circumstance could result in a loss of the banks' commitments under the credit facilities and, in certain circumstances, the accelerated repayment of any outstanding loan balances.

Measures required to comply with state and federal regulations related to air emissions and water discharges from thermal generating plants could result in increased capital expenditures and operating costs and reduce generating capacity, which could adversely affect the Company's results of operations.

PGE is subject to state and federal requirements concerning air emissions and water discharges from thermal generating plants. For additional information, see the Environmental Matters section in Item 1.—"Business." These requirements could adversely affect the Company's results of operations by requiring (i) the installation of additional air emissions and water discharge controls at PGE's generating plants, which could result in increased capital expenditures and (ii) changes to the Company's operations that could increase operating costs and reduce generating capacity.

Adverse capital market performance could result in reductions in the fair value of benefit plan assets and increase the Company's liabilities related to such plans. Sustained declines in the fair value of the plans' assets could result in significant increases in funding requirements, which could adversely affect PGE's liquidity and results of operations.

Performance of the capital markets affects the value of assets that are held in trust to satisfy future obligations under PGE's defined benefit pension plan. Sustained adverse market performance could result in lower rates of return for these assets than projected by the Company and could increase PGE's funding requirements related to the pension plan. Additionally, changes in interest rates affect PGE's liabilities under the pension plan. As interest rates decrease, the Company's liabilities increase, potentially requiring additional funding.

Performance of the capital markets also affects the fair value of assets that are held in trust to satisfy future obligations under the Company's non-qualified employee benefit plans, which include deferred compensation plans. As changes in the fair value of these assets are recorded in current earnings, decreases can adversely affect the Company's operating results. In addition, such decreases can require that PGE make additional payments to satisfy its obligations under these plans.

For additional information regarding PGE's contribution obligations under its pension and non-qualified benefit plans, see "

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments" in the Liquidity and Capital Resources section in Item 7.—"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations," and "Pension and Other Postretirement Plans" in Note 10, Employee Benefits, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8.— "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data."

Changes in technology may negatively impact the revenues derived from PGE's generation facilities.

A basic premise of PGE's business is that generating electricity at central generation facilities achieves economies of scale and produces electricity at a relatively low price. Many companies and organizations conduct research and development activities to seek improvements in alternative technologies, such as fuel cells, photovoltaic (solar) cells, micro-turbines and other forms of distributed generation. It is possible that advances in such technologies will reduce the cost of alternative methods of electricity production to a level that is equal to or below that of central thermal and wind generation facilities. Such a development could limit the Company's future growth opportunities and limit growth in demand for PGE's electric service.

Failure of PGE's wholesale suppliers to perform their contractual obligations could adversely affect the Company's ability to deliver electricity and increase the Company's costs.

PGE relies on suppliers to deliver natural gas, coal and electricity, in accordance with short- and long-term contracts. Failure of suppliers to comply with such contracts in a timely manner could disrupt the Company's ability to deliver electricity and require PGE to incur additional expenses in order to meet the needs of its customers. In addition, as these contracts expire, the Company could be unable to continue to purchase natural gas, coal or electricity on terms and conditions equivalent to those of existing agreements.

Operational changes required to comply with both existing and new environmental laws related to fish and wildlife could adversely affect PGE's results of operations.

A portion of PGE's total energy requirement is supplied with power generated from hydroelectric and wind generating resources. Operation of these facilities is subject to regulation related to the protection of fish and wildlife. The listing of various plants and species of fish, birds, and other wildlife as threatened or endangered has resulted in significant operational changes to these projects. Salmon recovery plans could include further major operational changes to the region's hydroelectric projects, including those owned by PGE and those from which the Company purchases power under long-term contracts. In addition, laws relating to the protection of migratory birds and other wildlife could impact the development and operation of transmission lines and wind projects. Also, new interpretations of existing laws and regulations could be adopted or become applicable to such facilities, which could further increase required expenditures for salmon recovery and endangered species protection and reduce the availability of hydroelectric or wind generating resources to meet the Company's energy requirements.

PGE could be vulnerable to cyber security attacks, data security breaches or other similar events that could disrupt its operations, require significant expenditures or result in claims against the Company.

In the normal course of business, PGE collects, processes, and retains sensitive and confidential customer and employee information, as well as proprietary business information, and operates systems that directly impact the availability of electric power and the transmission of electric power in its service territory. Despite the security measures in place, the Company's systems, and those of third-party service providers, could be vulnerable to cyber security attacks, data security breaches or other similar events that could disrupt operations or result in the release of sensitive or confidential information. Such events could cause a shutdown of service or expose PGE to liability. In addition, the Company may be required to expend significant capital and other resources to protect against security breaches or to alleviate problems caused by security breaches. PGE maintains insurance coverage against some, but not all, potential losses resulting from these risks. However, insurance may not be adequate to protect the Company against liability in all cases. In addition, PGE is subject to the risk that insurers will dispute or be unable to perform their obligations to the Company.

Storms and other natural disasters could damage the Company's facilities and disrupt delivery of electricity resulting in significant property loss, repair costs, and reduced customer satisfaction.

PGE has exposure to natural disasters that can cause significant damage to its generation, transmission, and distribution facilities. Such events can interrupt the delivery of electricity, increase repair and service restoration expenses, and reduce revenues. Such events, if repeated or prolonged, can also affect customer satisfaction and the level of regulatory oversight. As a regulated utility, the Company is required to provide service to all customers within its service territory and generally has been afforded liability protection against customer claims related to service failures beyond the Company's reasonable control.

The OPUC has authorized the Company to collect \$2 million annually from retail customers for such damages and to defer any amount not utilized in the current year. The deferred amount, \$6 million as of December 31, 2013, along with the annual collection, would be available to offset potential storm damage costs in future years.

PGE utilizes insurance, when possible, to mitigate the cost of physical loss or damage to the Company's property. As cost effective insurance coverage for transmission and distribution line property (poles and wires) is currently not available, however, the Company would likely seek recovery of large losses to such property through the ratemaking process.

PGE is subject to extensive regulation that affects the Company's operations and costs.

PGE is subject to regulation by the FERC, the OPUC, and by certain federal, state and local authorities under environmental and other laws. Such regulation significantly influences the Company's operating environment and can have an effect on many aspects of its business. Changes to regulations are ongoing, and the Company cannot predict with certainty the future course of such changes or the ultimate effect that they might have on its business. However, changes in regulations could delay or adversely affect business planning and transactions, and substantially increase the Company's costs.

PGE has a workforce with a significant number of employees approaching retirement, which could make it more difficult to maintain the workforce necessary to provide safe and reliable service to customers and meet regulatory requirements.

The Company anticipates higher averages of retirement rates over the next several years and will likely need to replace a significant number of employees in key positions. PGE's ability to successfully implement a workforce succession plan is dependent upon the Company's ability to employ and retain skilled professional and technical workers. Without a skilled workforce, the Company would face greater challenges in providing safe and reliable service to its customers and meeting regulatory requirements, both of which could affect operating results.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS.

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES.

PGE's principal property, plant, and equipment are located on land owned by the Company or land under the control of the Company pursuant to existing leases, federal or state licenses, easements or other agreements. In some cases, meters and transformers are located on customer property. PGE leases its corporate headquarters complex, located in Portland, Oregon. The Indenture securing the Company's First Mortgage Bonds (FMBs) constitutes a direct first mortgage lien on substantially all utility property and franchises, other than expressly excepted property.

Generating Facilities

The following are generating facilities owned by PGE as of December 31, 2013:

Facility	Location	Net Capacity (1)
Wholly-owned:		
Hydro:		
Faraday	Clackamas River	46 MW
North Fork	Clackamas River	58
Oak Grove	Clackamas River	44
River Mill	Clackamas River	25
T.W. Sullivan	Willamette River	18
Natural Gas/Oil:		
Beaver	Clatskanie, Oregon	516
Port Westward	Clatskanie, Oregon	402
Coyote Springs	Boardman, Oregon	245
Wind:		
Biglow Canyon	Sherman County, Oregon	450
Jointly-owned (2):		
Coal:		
Boardman (3)	Boardman, Oregon	460
Colstrip (4)	Colstrip, Montana	296
Hydro:		
Pelton (5)	Deschutes River	73
Round Butte (5)	Deschutes River	237
Total net capacity		2,870 MW

⁽¹⁾ Represents net capacity of generating unit as demonstrated by actual operating or test experience, net of electricity used in the operation of a given facility. For wind-powered generating facilities, nameplate ratings are used in place of net capacity. A generator's nameplate rating is its full-load capacity under normal operating conditions as defined by the manufacturer.

⁽²⁾ Reflects PGE's ownership share.

⁽³⁾ PGE operates Boardman and has an 80% ownership interest, which, on December 31, 2013, increased from 65%. For additional information concerning the Company's acquisition of an additional 15% ownership interest in Boardman, see Note 17, Jointly-owned Plant, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8.—"Financial Statements and Supplementary Data."

⁽⁴⁾ PPL Montana, LLC operates Colstrip and PGE has a 20% ownership interest.

(5) PGE operates Pelton and Round Butte and has a 66.67% ownership interest	(5)	PGE operates Pe	lton and Round	Butte and has	a 66.67%	ownership interest.
---	-----	-----------------	----------------	---------------	----------	---------------------

PGE's hydroelectric projects are operated pursuant to FERC licenses issued under the Federal Power Act. The licenses for the hydroelectric projects on the three different rivers expire as follows: Clackamas River, 2055; Willamette River, 2035; and Deschutes River, 2055.

Transmission and Distribution

PGE owns and/or has contractual rights associated with transmission lines that deliver electricity from its Oregon generation facilities to its distribution system in its service territory and also to the Western Interconnection. As of December 31, 2013, PGE owned an electric transmission system consisting of 1,141 circuit miles as follows: 212 circuit miles of 500 kV line; 382 circuit miles of 230 kV line; and 547 miles of 115 kV line. The Company also has 26,867 circuit miles of primary and secondary distribution lines that deliver electricity to its customers.

The Company also has an ownership interest in the following transmission facilities:

- Approximately 14% of the capacity on the Montana Intertie from the Colstrip plant in Montana to BPA's transmission system; and
- Approximately 20% of the capacity on the Pacific Northwest Intertie, a 4,800 MW transmission facility between John Day, in northern Oregon, and Malin, in southern Oregon near the California border. The Pacific Northwest Intertie is used primarily for the transmission of interstate purchases and sales of electricity among utilities, including PGE.

In addition, the Company has contractual rights to the following transmission capacity:

- Approximately 3,100 MW of firm BPA transmission on BPA's system to PGE's service territory in Oregon; and
- 200 MW of firm BPA transmission from mid-Columbia projects in Washington to the northern end of the Pacific Northwest Intertie, near John Day, Oregon, and 100 MW to the northern end of the Pacific DC Intertie, near Celilo, Oregon.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

<u>Citizens' Utility Board of Oregon v. Public Utility Commission of Oregon and Utility Reform Project and Colleen O'Neill v. Public Utility Commission of Oregon, Marion County Oregon Circuit Court, the Court of Appeals of the State of Oregon, and the Oregon Supreme Court.</u>

PGE, in its 1993 general rate filing, sought OPUC approval to recover through rates future decommissioning costs and full recovery of, and a rate of return on, its Trojan investment. PGE's request was challenged, but in August 1993, the OPUC issued a Declaratory Ruling in PGE's favor. The Citizens' Utility Board (CUB) appealed the decision to the Oregon Court of Appeals.

In PGE's 1995 general rate case, the OPUC issued an order (1995 Order) granting PGE full recovery of Trojan decommissioning costs and 87% of its remaining undepreciated investment in the plant. The Utility Reform Project (URP) filed an appeal of the 1995 Order to the Marion County Circuit Court. The CUB also filed an appeal to the Marion County Circuit Court challenging the portion of the 1995 Order that authorized PGE to recover a return on its remaining undepreciated investment in Trojan.

In April 1996, the Marion County Circuit Court issued a decision that found that the OPUC could not authorize PGE to collect a return on its undepreciated investment in Trojan. The 1996 decision was appealed to the Oregon Court of Appeals.

In June 1998, the Oregon Court of Appeals ruled that the OPUC did not have the authority to allow PGE to recover a rate of return on its undepreciated investment in Trojan. The court remanded the matter to the OPUC for reconsideration of its 1995 Order in light of the court's decision.

In September 2000, PGE, CUB, and the OPUC Staff settled proceedings related to PGE's recovery of its investment in the Trojan plant (Settlement). The URP did not participate in the Settlement and filed a complaint with the OPUC, challenging PGE's application for approval of the accounting and ratemaking elements of the Settlement.

In March 2002, the OPUC issued an order (Settlement Order) denying all of the URP's challenges and approving PGE's application for the accounting and ratemaking elements of the Settlement. The URP appealed the Settlement Order to the Marion County Circuit Court. Following various appeals and proceedings, the Oregon Court of Appeals issued an opinion in October 2007 that reversed the Settlement Order and remanded the Settlement Order to the OPUC for reconsideration.

As a result of its reconsideration of the Settlement Order, the OPUC issued an order in September 2008 that required PGE to refund \$33.1 million to customers. The Company completed the distribution of the refund to customers, plus accrued interest, as required.

In October 2008, the URP and the Class Action Plaintiffs (described in the Dreyer proceeding below) separately appealed the September 2008 OPUC order to the Oregon Court of Appeals. On February 6, 2013, the Oregon Court of Appeals issued an opinion that upheld the September 2008 OPUC order.

On October 18, 2013, the Oregon Supreme Court accepted plaintiffs' petition seeking review of the February 6, 2013 Oregon Court of Appeals decision. Opening briefs have been filed with oral argument scheduled for March 4, 2014.

<u>Dreyer, Gearhart and Kafoury Bros., LLC v. Portland General Electric Company</u>, Marion County Circuit Court; and Morgan v. Portland General Electric Company, Marion County Circuit Court.

In January 2003, two class action suits were filed in Marion County Circuit Court against PGE. The Dreyer case seeks to represent current PGE customers that were customers during the period from April 1, 1995 to October 1, 2000 (Current Class) and the Morgan case seeks to represent PGE customers that were customers during the period from April 1, 1995 to October 1, 2000, but who are no longer customers (Former Class, together with the Current Class, the Class Action Plaintiffs). The suits seek damages of \$190 million plus interest for the Current Class and \$70 million plus interest for the Former Class, from the inclusion of a return on investment of Trojan in the rates PGE charged its customers.

In April 2004, the Class Action Plaintiffs filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and in July 2004, PGE also moved for Summary Judgment in its favor on all of the Class Action Plaintiffs' claims. In December 2004, the Judge granted the Class Action Plaintiffs' motion for Class Certification and Partial Summary Judgment and denied PGE's motion for Summary Judgment. In March 2005, PGE filed two Petitions with the Oregon Supreme Court asking the Court to take jurisdiction and command the trial Judge to dismiss the complaints, or to show cause why they should not be dismissed, and seeking to overturn the Class Certification.

In August 2006, the Oregon Supreme Court issued a ruling on PGE's Petitions abating these class action proceedings until the OPUC responded with respect to the certain issues that had been remanded to the OPUC by the Marion County Circuit Court in the proceeding described above.

In October 2006, the Marion County Circuit Court issued an Order of Abatement in response to the ruling of the Oregon Supreme Court, abating the class actions for one year.

In October 2007, the Class Action Plaintiffs filed a Motion with the Marion County Circuit Court to lift the abatement. In February 2009, the Circuit Court judge denied the Motion to lift the abatement.

<u>Puget Sound Energy, Inc. v. All Jurisdictional Sellers of Energy and/or Capacity at Wholesale Into Electric Energy and/or Capacity Markets in the Pacific Northwest, Including Parties to the Western System Power Pool Agreement</u>, Federal Energy Regulatory Commission and Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals (collectively, Pacific Northwest Refund proceeding).

In July 2001, the FERC called for a preliminary evidentiary hearing to explore whether there may have been unjust and unreasonable charges for spot market sales of electricity in the Pacific Northwest from December 25, 2000 through June 20, 2001. During that period, PGE both sold and purchased electricity in the Pacific Northwest. In June 2003, the FERC issued an order terminating the proceeding and denying the claims for refunds. Parties appealed various aspects of these FERC orders to the U.S. Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals (Ninth Circuit).

In August 2007, the Ninth Circuit issued its decision on appeal, concluding that the FERC failed to adequately explain how it considered or examined new evidence showing intentional market manipulation in California and the potential ties to the Pacific Northwest and that the FERC should not have excluded from the Pacific Northwest Refund proceeding purchases of energy made by the California Energy Resources Scheduling (CERS) division in the Pacific Northwest spot market. The Ninth Circuit remanded the case to the FERC to (i) address the new market manipulation evidence in detail and account for the evidence in any future orders regarding the award or denial of refunds in the proceedings, (ii) include sales to CERS in its analysis, and (iii) further consider its refund decision in light of related, intervening opinions of the court. The Ninth Circuit offered no opinion on the FERC's findings based on the record established by the administrative law judge and did not rule on the FERC's ultimate decision to deny refunds. After denying requests for rehearing, the Ninth Circuit, in April 2009, issued a mandate giving immediate effect to its August 2007 order remanding the case to the FERC.

In October 2011, the FERC issued an Order on Remand establishing an evidentiary hearing to determine whether any seller had engaged in unlawful market activity in the Pacific Northwest spot markets during the December 25, 2000 through June 20, 2001 period by violating specific contracts or tariffs, and, if so, whether a direct connection existed between the alleged unlawful conduct and the rate charged under the applicable contract. The FERC held that the *Mobile-Sierra* public interest standard governs challenges to the bilateral contracts at issue in this proceeding, and the strong presumption under *Mobile-Sierra* that the rates charged under each contract are just and reasonable would have to be specifically overcome before a refund could be ordered. The FERC directed the presiding judge, if necessary, to determine a refund methodology and to calculate refunds, but held that a market-wide remedy was not appropriate, given the bilateral contract nature of the Pacific Northwest spot markets. Certain parties claiming refunds filed requests for rehearing of the Order on Remand.

In December 2012, the FERC issued an order granting an interlocutory appeal of the trial judge's ruling on the scope of the remand proceeding. In this order, the FERC held that its Order on Remand was not intended to alter the general state of the law regarding the *Mobile-Sierra* presumption. The FERC also held that the *Mobile-Sierra* presumption could be overcome either by (i) a showing that a respondent had violated a contract or tariff and that the violation had a direct connection to the rate charged under the applicable contract or (ii) a showing that the contract rate at issue imposed an excessive burden or seriously harmed the public interest.

On April 5, 2013, and subject to its December 2012 clarification in the interlocutory appeal, the FERC denied rehearing requests from refund proponents that had contested the FERC's use of the *Mobile-Sierra* standard in the remand proceeding, its denial of a market-wide remedy, and the restraints in the Order on Remand that limited the types of evidence that could be introduced in the hearing. However, the FERC granted rehearing on the issue of the appropriate refund period, holding that parties could pursue refunds for transactions between January 1, 2000 and December 24, 2000 under Section 309 of the Federal Power Act by showing violations of a filed tariff or rate schedule or of a statutory requirement. Refund claimants have filed petitions for appeal of the Order on Remand and the Order on Rehearing with the Ninth Circuit.

In its October 2011 Order on Remand, the FERC held the hearing procedures in abeyance pending the results of settlement discussions, which it ordered be convened before a FERC settlement judge. Pursuant to the settlement

proceedings, the Company received notice of two claims and reached agreements to settle both claims for an immaterial amount. The FERC approved both settlements during 2012.

In May 2007, the FERC approved a settlement between PGE and certain parties in the California refund case in Docket No. EL00-95, et seq. This resolved the claims between PGE and the California parties named in the settlement as to transactions in the Pacific Northwest during the settlement period, January 1, 2000 through June 20, 2001. The settlement with the California parties did not resolve potential claims from other market participants relating to transactions in the Pacific Northwest.

The above-referenced settlements resulted in a release of the Company as a named respondent in the ongoing remand proceedings, which are limited to initial and direct claims for refunds, but there remains a possibility that additional claims could be asserted against the Company in future proceedings if refunds are ordered against current respondents.

<u>Sierra Club and Montana Environmental Information Center v. PPL Montana LLC, Avista Corporation, Puget Sound Energy, Portland General Electric Company, Northwestern Corporation, and PacifiCorp</u>, U.S. District Court for the District of Montana.

On July 30, 2012, PGE received a Notice of Intent to Sue (Notice) for violations of the CAA at Colstrip Steam Electric Station (CSES) from counsel on behalf of the Sierra Club and the Montana Environmental Information Center (MEIC). The Notice was also addressed to the other CSES co-owners, including PPL Montana, LLC - the operator of CSES. PGE has a 20% ownership interest in Units 3 and 4 of CSES. The Notice alleges certain violations of the CAA, and stated that the Sierra Club and MEIC would: i) request a United States District Court to impose injunctive relief and civil penalties; ii) require a beneficial environmental project in the areas affected by the alleged air pollution; and iii) seek reimbursement of Sierra Club's and MEIC's costs of litigation and attorney's fees.

The Sierra Club and MEIC asserted that the CSES owners violated the Title V air quality operating permit during portions of 2008 and 2009 and that the owners have violated the CAA by failing to timely submit a complete air quality operating permit application to the Montana Department of Environmental Quality. The Sierra Club and MEIC also asserted violations of opacity provisions of the CAA.

On March 6, 2013, the Sierra Club and MEIC sued the CSES co-owners, including PGE, for these and additional alleged violations of various environmental related regulations. The plaintiffs are seeking relief that includes civil penalties and an injunction preventing the co-owners from operating CSES except in accordance with the CAA, the Montana State Implementation Plan, and the plant's federally enforceable air quality permits. In addition, plaintiffs are seeking civil penalties against the co-owners including \$32,500 per day for each violation occurring through January 12, 2009, and \$37,500 per day for each violation occurring thereafter. On May 3, 2013, the defendants filed a motion to dismiss 36 of the 39 claims in the suit. On September 27, 2013, the plaintiffs filed an amended complaint that deleted the Title V and opacity claims, added claims associated with two 2011 projects, and expanded the scope of certain claims to encompass approximately 40 additional projects. This matter is scheduled for trial in March 2015.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES.

Not applicable.

PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES.

PGE's common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) under the ticker symbol "POR". As of February 10, 2014, there were 964 holders of record of PGE's common stock and the closing sales price of PGE's common stock on that date was \$29.40 per share. The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the highest and lowest sales prices of PGE's common stock as reported on the NYSE.

]	High	Low	Dividends Declared Per Share	
	<u>2013</u>					
Fourth Quarter		\$	30.57	\$ 27.82	\$	0.275
Third Quarter			33.26	27.57		0.275
Second Quarter			32.91	29.14		0.275
First Quarter			30.53	27.42		0.270
<u>2012</u>						
Fourth Quarter		\$	28.08	\$ 24.86	\$	0.270
Third Quarter			27.92	26.57		0.270
Second Quarter			26.94	24.25		0.270
First Quarter			25.62	24.29		0.265

While PGE expects to pay comparable quarterly dividends on its common stock in the future, the declaration of any dividends is at the discretion of the Company's Board of Directors. The amount of any dividend declaration depends upon factors that the Board of Directors deems relevant and may include, but are not limited to, PGE's results of operations and financial condition, future capital expenditures and investments, and applicable regulatory and contractual restrictions.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.

The following consolidated selected financial data should be read in conjunction with Item 7.—"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and Item 8.—"Financial Statements and Supplementary Data."

Years Ended December 31, 2011 2009 2013 2012 2010 (In millions, except per share amounts) **Statement of Income Data:** Revenues, net 1,810 \$ 1,805 \$ 1,813 \$ 1,783 \$ 1,804 Gross margin 54% 48% 58% 60% 58% Income from operations (1) \$ 206 \$ 302 \$ 309 \$ 267 \$ 208 Net income (1) 104 140 89 147 121 Net income attributable to Portland General Electric Company (1) 105 95 141 147 125 Earnings per share—basic (1) 1.87 1.95 1.31 1.36 1.66 Earnings per share—diluted (1) 1.35 1.87 1.95 1.66 1.31 Dividends declared per common share 1.095 1.055 1.010 1.075 1.035 **Statement of Cash Flows Data:** Capital expenditures 303 300 656 450 696

⁽¹⁾ The year ended December 31, 2013 includes \$52 million of costs expensed related to the Company's Cascade Crossing Transmission Project.

	As of December 31,										
		2013	2012			2011		2010		2009	
				(Dolla	rs in milli	ons)				
Balance Sheet Data:											
Total assets	\$	6,101	\$	5,670	\$	5,733	\$	5,491	\$	5,172	
Total long-term debt		1,916		1,636		1,735		1,808		1,744	
Total Portland General Electric Company shareholders' equity		1,819		1,728		1,663		1,592		1,542	
Common equity ratio		48.7%		51.1%	ı	48.6%		46.7%		46.9%	

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

Forward-Looking Statements

The information in this report includes statements that are forward-looking within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Such forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements that relate to expectations, beliefs, plans, assumptions and objectives concerning future and results of operations, business prospects, future loads, the outcome of litigation and regulatory proceedings, future capital expenditures, market conditions, future events or performance and other matters. Words or phrases such as "anticipates," "estimates," "expects," "intends," "plans," "predicts," "projects," "will likely result," "will continue," "should," or similar expressions are intended to identify such forward-looking statements.

Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results or outcomes to differ materially from those expressed. PGE's expectations, beliefs and projections are expressed in good faith and are believed by PGE to have a reasonable basis including, but not limited to, management's examination of historical operating trends and data contained in records and other data available from third parties, but there can be no assurance that PGE's expectations, beliefs or projections will be achieved or accomplished.

In addition to any assumptions and other factors and matters referred to specifically in connection with such forward-looking statements, factors that could cause actual results or outcomes for PGE to differ materially from those discussed in forward-looking statements include:

- governmental policies and regulatory audits, investigations and actions, including those of the FERC and OPUC with respect
 to allowed rates of return, financings, electricity pricing and price structures, acquisition and disposal of facilities and other
 assets, construction and operation of plant facilities, transmission of electricity, recovery of power costs and capital
 investments, and current or prospective wholesale and retail competition;
- economic conditions that result in decreased demand for electricity, reduced revenue from sales of excess energy during
 periods of low wholesale market prices, impaired financial stability of vendors and service providers and elevated levels of
 uncollectible customer accounts;
- the outcome of legal and regulatory proceedings and issues including, but not limited to, the matters described in Note 18, Contingencies, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8.— "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" of this Annual Report on Form 10-K;
- unseasonable or extreme weather and other natural phenomena, which could affect customers' demand for power and PGE's
 ability and cost to procure adequate power and fuel supplies to serve its customers, and could increase the Company's costs to
 maintain its generating facilities and transmission and distribution systems;
- operational factors affecting PGE's power generating facilities, including forced outages, hydro and wind conditions, and disruption of fuel supply, which may cause the Company to incur repair costs, as well as increased power costs for replacement power;
- the failure to complete capital projects on schedule and within budget or the abandonment of capital projects, which could result in the Company's inability to recover project costs;
- volatility in wholesale power and natural gas prices, which could require PGE to issue additional letters of credit or post additional cash as collateral with counterparties pursuant to existing power and natural gas purchase agreements;
- capital market conditions, including access to capital, interest rate volatility, reductions in demand for investment-grade commercial paper, as well as changes in PGE's credit ratings, which could have an impact on the Company's cost of capital and its ability to access the capital markets to support requirements for working capital, construction of capital projects, and the repayments of maturing debt;

- future laws, regulations, and proceedings that could increase the Company's costs or affect the operations of the Company's thermal generating plants by imposing requirements for additional emissions controls or significant emissions fees or taxes, particularly with respect to coal-fired generating facilities, in order to mitigate carbon dioxide, mercury and other gas emissions:
- changes in wholesale prices for fuels, including natural gas, coal and oil, and the impact of such changes on the Company's
 power costs;
- changes in the availability and price of wholesale power;
- changes in residential, commercial, and industrial customer growth, and in demographic patterns, in PGE's service territory;
- the effectiveness of PGE's risk management policies and procedures;
- declines in the fair value of securities held for the defined benefit pension plans and other benefit plans, which could result in increased funding requirements for such plans;
- changes in, and compliance with, environmental and endangered species laws and policies;
- the effects of climate change, including changes in the environment that may affect energy costs or consumption, increase the Company's costs, or adversely affect its operations;
- new federal, state, and local laws that could have adverse effects on operating results;
- cyber security attacks, data security breaches, or other malicious acts that cause damage to the Company's generation and transmission facilities or information technology systems, or result in the release of confidential customer and proprietary information;
- employee workforce factors, including a significant number of employees approaching retirement, potential strikes, work stoppages, and transitions in senior management;
- political, economic, and financial market conditions;
- natural disasters and other risks, such as earthquake, flood, drought, lightning, wind, and fire;
- financial or regulatory accounting principles or policies imposed by governing bodies; and
- acts of war or terrorism.

Any forward-looking statement speaks only as of the date on which such statement is made, and, except as required by law, PGE undertakes no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect events or circumstances after the date on which such statement is made or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events. New factors emerge from time to time and it is not possible for management to predict all such factors, nor can it assess the impact of any such factor on the business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause results to differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statement.

Overview

Operating Activities —PGE is a vertically integrated electric utility engaged in the generation, transmission, distribution, and retail sale of electricity in the state of Oregon, as well as the wholesale purchase and sale of electricity and natural gas in the United States and Canada. The Company generates revenues and cash flows primarily from the retail sale and distribution of electricity to customers in its service territory.

The Company's revenues and income from operations can fluctuate during the year due to, among other variables, the impacts of seasonal weather conditions on the demand for electricity and changes in retail prices for electricity and in customer usage patterns. In addition, the availability and price of power and fuel can affect income from operations. PGE is a winter-peaking utility that typically experiences its highest retail energy demand during the winter heating season, with a slightly lower peak in the summer that generally results from air conditioning demand.

Customers and Demand —Residential energy deliveries increased 2.6% in 2013 from 2012, reflecting the effects of weather. During 2013, heating and cooling degree-days (indicator of the effect of weather on demand for energy) combined were 7% higher than 2012, when more normal seasonal weather conditions prevailed. Energy deliveries to commercial and industrial customers combined for 2013 were comparable to 2012. Energy efficiency and conservation efforts by retail customers influence demand, although the financial effects of such efforts are intended to be mitigated by the decoupling mechanism.

The following table indicates the average number of retail customers and deliveries, by customer class, during the past two years:

	20	013	20	Increase/	
	Average Number of Customers	Energy Deliveries *	Average Number of Customers	Energy Deliveries *	(Decrease) in Energy Deliveries
Residential	728,481	7,702	723,440	7,505	2.6 %
Commercial	104,385	7,441	103,766	7,402	0.5
Industrial	263	4,276	261	4,283	(0.2)
Total	833,129	19,419	827,467	19,190	1.2 %

^{*} In thousands of MWh.

Adjusted for the effects of weather, total retail energy deliveries in 2013 were comparable to 2012. PGE projects that retail energy deliveries for 2014 will increase approximately 1% from 2013 weather adjusted levels, after allowing for energy efficiency and conservation efforts.

Power Operations —PGE utilizes a combination of its own generating resources and wholesale market transactions to meet the energy needs of its retail customers. Based on numerous factors, including plant availability, customer demand, river flows, wind conditions, and current wholesale prices, the Company continuously makes economic dispatch decisions in an effort to obtain reasonably-priced power for its retail customers. As a result, the amount of power generated and purchased in the wholesale market to meet the Company's retail load requirement can vary from period to period.

Plant availability is impacted by planned maintenance and forced outages, during which the respective plant is unavailable to provide power. PGE's thermal generating plants require varying levels of annual maintenance, which is generally performed during the second quarter of the year. More extensive planned service maintenance was performed in 2011, compared to 2013 and 2012.

In addition, unplanned plant outages impact the plants' availability and during the second half of 2013, three different plants had unplanned outages ranging from four weeks to six months as follows:

- Colstrip Unit 4 tripped off-line on July 1, 2013 as a result of damage that occurred in the unit's generator. PPL Montana, LLC is the operator of Colstrip Unit 4, of which PGE has a 20% ownership interest representing 148 MW net capacity. Total repair costs are estimated at \$30 million, with PGE's share representing \$6 million. The majority of the repair costs are expected to be capitalized. The plant came back online in late January 2014.
- Boardman was off-line July 1, 2013 to July 31, 2013 as a result of a thermal water hammer event causing structural damage to the cold reheat piping line that runs between the turbine and the boiler. PGE is the operator of Boardman and had a 65% ownership interest representing 374 MW net capacity at the time of the outage. Total repair costs amounted to \$10 million, the majority of which have been capitalized net of \$6.7 million of insurance proceeds.
- Coyote Springs was off-line from August 24, 2013 to November 30, 2013 as a result of cracks in the steam turbine rotor. Coyote Springs has a net capacity of 246 MW, which represents approximately 9% of the Company's total net generating capacity. Total repair costs amounted to \$2 million, which is included in operating and maintenance expense.

As a result of these unplanned outages, the Company incurred \$17 million of incremental power costs to replace its share of the output of these plants over the period of time the plants were off-line in 2013. These incremental replacement power costs are included in actual NVPC in the Company's PCAM calculation for 2013.

Availability of the plants PGE operates approximated 89%, 94%, and 93% for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively, with the availability of Colstrip, which PGE does not operate, approximating 66%, 93%, and 84%, respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company's generating plants provided approximately 54% of its retail load requirement, compared to 50% in 2012 and 48% in 2011. The lower relative volume of power generated to meet the Company's retail load requirement during 2012 and 2011 was primarily due to the economic displacement of thermal generation by energy received from hydro resources and lower-cost purchased power.

Energy received from PGE-owned hydroelectric plants and under contracts from mid-Columbia hydroelectric projects decreased 11% in 2013 compared to 2012, primarily due to less favorable hydro conditions in 2013. These resources provided approximately 17% of the Company's retail load requirement for 2013, compared with 19% for 2012 and 25% for 2011. Energy received from these sources exceeded projections (or "normal") included in the Company's AUT by approximately 1% in 2013, 11% in 2012, and 13% in 2011. Such projections, which are finalized with the OPUC in November each year, establish the power cost component of retail prices for the following calendar year. "Normal" represents the level of energy forecasted to be received from hydroelectric resources for the year and is based on average regional hydro conditions. Any excess in hydro generation from that projected in the AUT generally displaces power from higher cost sources, while any shortfall is generally replaced with power from higher cost sources. Based on recent forecasts of regional hydro conditions, energy from hydro resources is expected to be below normal for 2014.

Energy expected to be received from wind generating resources is projected annually in the AUT and through 2013, was based on wind studies completed in connection with the permitting process of the wind farm. For 2014 and beyond, the projection included in the AUT will be based on a five-year historical rolling average of the wind farm. To the extent historical information is not available for a given year, the projections will be based on the wind studies. Any excess in wind generation from that projected in the AUT generally displaces power from higher cost sources, while any shortfall is generally replaced with power from higher cost sources. Energy received from wind generating resources fell short of that projected in PGE's AUT by 15% in 2013, 20% in 2012 and 13% in 2011.

Pursuant to the Company's PCAM, customer prices can be adjusted to reflect a portion of the difference between each year's forecasted NVPC included in prices (baseline NVPC) and actual NVPC for the year, to the extent such difference is outside of a predetermined "deadband," which ranges from \$15 million below to \$30 million above baseline NVPC. To the extent actual NVPC is above or below the deadband, the PCAM provides for 90% of the variance to be collected from or refunded to customers, respectively, subject to a regulated earnings test. The following is a summary of the impacts of the PCAM for 2013, 2012 and 2011.

- For 2013, actual NVPC was above baseline NVPC by \$11 million, which is within the established deadband range. Accordingly, no customer refund or collection was recorded as of December 31, 2013. A final determination regarding the 2013 PCAM results will be made by the OPUC through a public filing and review in 2014.
- For 2012, actual NVPC was below baseline NVPC by \$17 million, and exceeded the lower deadband threshold of \$15 million. However, based on results of the regulated earnings test, no estimated refund to customers was recorded as of December 31, 2012. A final determination regarding the 2012 PCAM results was made by the OPUC through a public filing and review in 2013, which confirmed no refund to customers pursuant to the PCAM for 2012.
- For 2011, actual NVPC was below baseline NVPC by \$34 million, and exceeded the lower deadband threshold of \$15 million. PGE recorded an estimated refund to customers of \$10 million as of December 31, 2011, reduced from the \$17 million potential refund to customers as a result of the regulated earnings test. A final determination regarding the 2011 PCAM results was made by the OPUC through a public filing and review in 2012, which, based upon the application of an updated regulated earnings test, resulted in a revised refund to customers of \$6 million, which was returned to customers over a one-year period that began January 1, 2013.

For further information concerning the PCAM see *Power Costs* under "State of Oregon Regulation" in the Regulation section of Item 1.—"Business."

General Rate Cases —On December 9, 2013, the OPUC issued an order on PGE's 2014 General Rate Case, which was based on a 2014 test year. The OPUC authorized a \$61 million increase in annual revenues, representing an approximate 4% overall increase in customer prices. New customer prices became effective January 1, 2014.

The increase includes improvements to existing power plants and wind forecasting, new Clackamas River fish-sorting facilities, a disaster-preparedness center, technology investments, employee benefit costs and compliance with new federal regulations. In addition, the order approves a capital structure of 50% debt and 50% equity, a return on equity of 9.75%, a cost of capital of 7.65%, and an average rate base of approximately \$3.1 billion.

On February 13, 2014, PGE filed with the OPUC a 2015 General Rate Case, which is based on a 2015 test year. PGE requested an \$81 million net increase in annual revenues, representing an approximate 4.6% overall increase in customer prices. The net increase in annual revenues consists of the following (in millions):

New generating plants:	
Port Westward Unit 2	\$ 51
Tucannon River	47
Base business cost increase	12
Less: customer credits (1)	 (29)
Annual revenue net increase	\$ 81

⁽¹⁾ Includes approximately \$17 million for the return of \$50 million over three years, 2015 through 2017, for the settlement of a legal matter concerning costs associated with the operation of the ISFSI at Trojan. Also includes credits related to the return of ISFSI tax credits to customers and additional BPA Regional Power Act refund to residential customers.

PGE is proposing a capital structure of 50% debt and 50% equity, a return on equity of 10%, a cost of capital of 7.78%, and an average rate base of approximately \$3.9 billion.

Regulatory review of the 2015 General Rate Case will continue throughout 2014, with a final order expected to be issued by the OPUC by mid-December 2014. New customer prices are expected to become effective in 2015, with the first price increase effective January 1 and two additional price increases effective as two new generating plants become operational, which is expected in the first half of 2015.

Capital Requirements and Financing —During 2013, PGE completed the competitive bidding processes for additional generation resources identified in its 2009 IRP. Pursuant to the request for proposals, one for capacity and energy (baseload) resources and one for renewable resources, the following resources were selected as the successful bids:

- In January, Port Westward Unit 2 (PW2), a flexible 220 MW natural gas-fired generating resource, was selected as the successful bid for the capacity resource;
- In June, Carty Generating Station (Carty), a 440 MW natural gas-fired generating plant, located adjacent to the Company's Boardman plant in eastern Oregon, was selected as the successful bid for the energy (baseload) resource; and
- In June, Tucannon River, a 267 MW wind farm, was selected as the successful bid for the renewable resource.

For additional information on these capital projects, see "Capital Requirements" in the Liquidity and Capital Resources section in this Item 7.

More than half of PGE's capital requirements in 2013 related to the construction of these new generation resources, with the remainder related to ongoing capital expenditures for the upgrade, replacement, and expansion of transmission, distribution and generation infrastructure, as well as technology enhancements and expenditures related to hydro licensing. During 2013, the combination of cash from operations in the amount of \$544 million, and net proceeds from the issuances of equity and debt instruments in the amount of \$67 million and \$380 million, respectively, funded the Company's capital requirements of \$656 million and contractual maturities of long-term debt of \$100 million.

Capital expenditures in 2014 are expected to approximate \$1 billion, which includes an estimated \$675 million related to the three new generation resources under construction. PGE expects to fund 2014 estimated capital requirements with a combination of cash from operations, which is expected to range from \$500 million to \$520 million, and issuances of shares pursuant to an equity forward sale agreement (EFSA) and long-term debt securities, which is dependent upon the timing and amount of capital expenditures. For information concerning the EFSA, see Note 12, Equity-based Plans, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8.— "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data." and for additional related information, see the Liquidity and Debt and Equity Financings sections of this Item 7.

Legal, Regulatory and Environmental Matters—PGE is a party to certain proceedings, the ultimate outcome of which could have a material impact on the results of operations and cash flows in future reporting periods. Such proceedings include, but are not limited to, matters related to:

- Recovery of the Company's investment in its closed Trojan plant;
- Claims for refunds related to wholesale energy sales during 2000 2001 in the Pacific Northwest Refund proceeding; and
- An investigation of environmental matters at Portland Harbor.

For additional information regarding the above and other matters, see Note 18, Contingencies, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8.—"Financial Statements and Supplementary Data."

The following discussion highlights certain regulatory items, which have impacted the Company's revenues, results of operations, or cash flows for 2013, or have affected customer prices, as authorized by the OPUC. In some cases, the Company deferred the related expenses or benefits as regulatory assets or liabilities, respectively, for later amortization and inclusion in customer prices, pending OPUC review and authorization.

Power Costs — Pursuant to the AUT process, PGE files annually an estimate of power costs for the following year. In the event a general rate case is filed in any given year, forecasted power costs would be included in such filing. The OPUC issued an order on the 2013 AUT resulting in an estimated 2% decrease in customer prices as a result of expected lower power costs. The new prices became effective January 1, 2013 and were expected to result in a decline of approximately \$36 million in annual revenues compared to 2012. Actual NVPC for 2013 were \$11 million above what was expected in the AUT.

The 2014 AUT was approved by the OPUC and became effective January 1, 2014, with an expected reduction in annual revenues of approximately \$17 million based on lower forecasted power costs. This amount is included in the overall \$61 million revenue increase authorized by the OPUC in the Company's 2014 General Rate Case.

In June 2013, the Company submitted the 2012 results of the PCAM to the OPUC for final regulatory review and determination of any customer refund or collection. Based on a regulated earnings test, no refund or collection resulted, and in October 2013, the OPUC issued an order to such effect. For further information, see "*Power Operations*" in the Operating Activities section of this Overview, above.

Renewable Resource Costs — Pursuant to a renewable adjustment clause (RAC) mechanism, PGE can recover in customer prices prudently incurred costs of renewable resources that are expected to be placed in service in the current year. The Company may submit a filing to the OPUC by April 1st each year, with prices expected to become effective January 1st of the following year. As part of the RAC, the OPUC has authorized the deferral of eligible costs not yet included in customer prices until the January 1st effective date.

PGE did not submit a RAC filing to the OPUC in 2013 as it did not place renewable resources into service. The Company expects to utilize the RAC to recover certain costs associated with Tucannon River, construction of which began in 2013.

Decoupling Mechanism — The decoupling mechanism, which the OPUC has authorized through 2016, is intended to provide for recovery of margin lost as a result of a reduction in electricity sales attributable to energy efficiency and conservation efforts by residential and certain commercial customers. The mechanism provides for collection from (or refund to) customers if weather adjusted use per customer is less (or more) than that projected in the Company's most recent general rate case.

As part of the Company's 2014 General Rate Case, the OPUC approved a change in the refund or collection period to begin January 1. Collection or refund is expected to occur over a one-year period, which, for the 2013 year, will begin January 1, 2015. The Company recorded an estimated collection of \$5 million during the year ended December 31, 2013, which resulted from variances between actual weather adjusted use per customer and that projected in the 2011 General Rate Case.

Capital deferral —In the 2011 General Rate Case, the OPUC authorized the Company to defer the costs associated with four capital projects that were not completed at the time the 2011 General Rate Case was approved. In 2012, PGE recorded a regulatory asset of \$16 million for potential recovery in customer prices with an offsetting credit to Depreciation and amortization expense. The OPUC authorized recovery of the deferred costs, with a resulting tariff effective over a one year period beginning January 1, 2014. The Company deferred an additional \$18 million of costs associated with these projects during 2013 and plans to file for recovery of these deferred costs, subje

ct to an earnings test, in July 2014 with new customer prices expected to be effective in January 2015.

Boardman Operating Life Adjustment —In PGE's 2011 General Rate Case, the OPUC approved a tariff that provided a mechanism for future consideration of customer price changes related to the recovery of the Company's remaining investment in Boardman over a shortened operating life. Pursuant to the tariff, the OPUC approved recovery of increased depreciation expense reflecting a change in the retirement date of Boardman from 2040 to 2020 and estimated decommissioning costs, with new prices effective July 1, 2011. As part of the 2014 General Rate Case, the incremental depreciation expense that resulted from the shortened Boardman life was rolled into base customer prices, while recovery of the decommissioning costs continue under this separate tariff. The OPUC is currently considering the request for recovery of additional decommissioning costs that resulted from the acquisition of the additional 15% interest in Boardman on December 31, 2013. The tariff also provides for annual updates to decommissioning revenue requirements with revised prices to take effect each January 1.

Results of Operations

The following tables provide financial and operational information to be considered in conjunction with management's discussion and analysis of results of operations.

The consolidated statements of income for the years presented (dollars in millions):

			7	Yea	ars Ended l	December 31	Ι,	
		20	013		20	12	2	011
	A	mount	As % of Rev	F	Amount	As % of Rev	Amount	As % of Rev
Revenues, net	\$	1,810	100%	\$	1,805	100%	\$ 1,813	100%
Purchased power and fuel		757	42		726	40	760	42
Gross margin		1,053	58		1,079	60	1,053	58
Other operating expenses:								
Production and distribution		225	12		211	12	201	11
Cascade Crossing transmission project		52	3		_	_	_	
Administrative and other		219	12		216	12	218	12
Depreciation and amortization		248	14		248	14	227	13
Taxes other than income taxes		103	6		102	5	98	5
Total other operating expenses		847	47		777	43	744	41
Income from operations		206	11		302	17	309	17
Interest expense, net (1)		101	5		108	6	110	6
Other income:								
Allowance for equity funds used during construction		13	1		6	_	5	_
Miscellaneous income, net		7	_		4	_	1	_
Other income, net		20	1		10		6	
Income before income taxes		125	7		204	11	205	11
Income tax expense		21	1		64	3	58	3
Net income		104	6		140	8	147	8
Less: net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests		(1)	_		(1)	_	_	_
Net income attributable to Portland General Electric Company	\$	105	6%	\$	141	8%	\$ 147	8%

 $(1) \ \ Includes an allowance for borrowed funds used during construction of \$7 million in 2013 \ , \$4 million in 2012 \ , and \$3 million in 2011 \ .$

Revenues, energy deliveries (based in MWh), and average number of retail customers consist of the following for the years presented:

			•	Year	s Ended	Decei	mber 3	1,			
		20	13		20	12			20	11	
Revenues (1) (dollars in millions):											
Retail:											
Residential	\$	861	48%	\$	860		48%	\$	877		48 %
Commercial		619	34		633		34		635		35
Industrial		217	12		226		13		226		13
Subtotal		1,697	94		1,719		95		1,738		96
Other accrued (deferred) revenues, net		(5)	_		4		_		(16)		(1)
Total retail revenues		1,692	94		1,723		95		1,722		95
Wholesale revenues		80	4		49		3		60		3
Other operating revenues		38	2		33		2		31		2
Total revenues	\$	1,810	100%	\$	1,805		100%	\$	1,813		100 %
Energy deliveries (MWh in thousands):											
Retail:											
Residential		7,702	35%		7,505		35%		7,733		36 %
Commercial		7,441	34		7,402		35		7,419		35
Industrial		4,276	20		4,283		20		4,193		19
Total retail energy deliveries		19,419	89		19,190		90		19,345		90
Wholesale energy deliveries		2,353	11		2,249		10		2,142		10
Total energy deliveries		21,772	100%		21,439		100%		21,487		100 %
								_			
Average number of retail customers:											
Residential	7	728,481	87%	7	23,440		87%	-	719,977		87 %
Commercial		104,385	13		03,766		13		102,940		13
Industrial		263	_		261		_		255		_
Total	8	333,129	100%	8	27,467		100%	8	323,172		100 %

⁽¹⁾ Includes both revenues from customers who purchase their energy supplies from the Company and revenues from the delivery of energy to those commercial and industrial customers that purchase their energy from ESSs.

⁽²⁾ Includes both energy sold to retail customers and energy deliveries to those commercial and industrial customers that purchase their energy from ESSs.

PGE's sources of energy, including total system load and retail load requirement, for the years presented are as follows:

	Years Ended December 31,											
	2013	3	2012	2	201	1						
Sources of energy (MWh in thousands):												
Generation:												
Thermal:												
Coal	4,070	19%	3,610	17%	4,125	19%						
Natural gas	3,375	16	2,882	14	2,138	10						
Total thermal	7,445	35	6,492	31	6,263	29						
Hydro	1,646	8	1,943	9	1,933	9						
Wind	1,200	5	1,125	5	1,216	6						
Total generation	10,291	48	9,560	45	9,412	44						
Purchased power:												
Term	6,472	31	7,382	35	6,252	29						
Hydro	1,629	8	1,728	8	2,897	13						
Wind	311	1	319	1	269	1						
Spot	2,547	12	2,285	11	2,763	13						
Total purchased power	10,959	52	11,714	55	12,181	56						
Total system load	21,250	100%	21,274	100%	21,593	100%						
Less: wholesale sales	(2,353)		(2,249)		(2,142)							
Retail load requirement	18,897		19,025		19,451							

Net income attributable to Portland General Electric Company for the year ended December 31, 2013 was \$105 million, or \$1.35 per diluted share, compared to \$141 million, or \$1.87 per diluted share, for the year ended December 31, 2012. The \$36 million, or 26%, decrease in net income was primarily due to the charge to expense in 2013 of \$52 million of previously capitalized costs related to Cascade Crossing, \$17 million of incremental replacement power costs related to three unplanned plant outages, and an industrial customer refund of \$9 million related to cumulative over-billings over a period of several years. These three items are the primary drivers for the reduction in the Company's income tax expense for 2013, which had a favorable impact to net income when compared to 2012. In addition, higher repair costs at the Company's generating plants, higher operating and maintenance costs related to PGE's transmission and distribution system, a 4% increase in average variable power cost per MWh, and higher pension costs all contributed to the decrease in net income. A 3% increase in retail energy deliveries to residential customers primarily resulting from more extreme weather in 2013, an increase in the allowance for debt and equity funds used for construction, as well as lower interest expense partially offset the decreases to net income.

Net income attributable to Portland General Electric Company for the year ended December 31, 2012 was \$141 million, or \$1.87 per diluted share, compared to \$147 million, or \$1.95 per diluted share, for the year ended December 31, 2011. The \$6 million, or 4%, decrease in net income was primarily driven by the 3% decrease in retail energy deliveries to residential customers, primarily resulting from warmer weather during the heating season, which was partially offset by a 3% decrease in average variable power cost per MWh, which was driven by lower wholesale power and natural gas prices. Actual NVPC was \$17 million below the baseline NVPC established in the AUT for 2012, compared to \$34 million below the baseline in 2011. In addition, a higher effective income tax rate and increased pension expense contributed to the decrease in net income. Offsetting these decreases was the deferral of \$15 million of costs related to four capital projects during 2012.

2013 Compared to 2012

Revenues increased \$5 million in 2013 compared with 2012 as a result of the items discussed below.

Total retail revenues decreased \$31 million, or 2%, in 2013 compared with 2012, primarily due to the net effect of the following:

- A \$38 million decrease resulting from lower average prices due primarily to lower expected power costs as established in the Company's 2013 AUT and a larger portion of energy deliveries going to customers who purchase their energy from ESSs;
- A \$9 million decrease related to an industrial customer refund for cumulative over-billings that occurred over a period of
 several years as a result of a meter configuration error. Management believes the customer billing error is not material to any
 past reporting period. The Company corrected this matter in the second quarter of 2013 through an out of period adjustment;
 and
- A \$4 million decrease related to the Company's PCAM, as the estimated refund to customers related to the 2011 PCAM was reduced in 2012, with no estimated refund to or collection from customers recorded in 2013; partially offset by
- A \$20 million increase related to higher volumes of energy deliveries driven by more extreme weather in 2013 compared to 2012. Residential energy deliveries were up 2.6% in 2013, while commercial and industrial deliveries combined were comparable to 2012.

Both heating and cooling degree-days in 2013 exceeded the 15-year averages (as provided by the National Weather Service, as measured at Portland International Airport), while in 2012, both heating and cooling degree-days fell below the 15-year averages. The following table indicates the number of actual heating and cooling degree-days for the periods presented, along with the 15-year averages:

	Н	eating Degree-Da	ys	Coc	ys	
	2013	2012	Increase/ (decrease)	2013	2012	Increase/ (decrease)
1st quarter	1,902	1,967	(3)%	_	_	— %
2nd quarter	593	709	(16)	82	40	105
3rd quarter	90	58	55	457	395	16
4th quarter	1,801	1,435	26		1	(100)
	4,386	4,169	5	539	436	24
15-year annual average	4,239	4,235	_	454	456	_
Increase (decrease) from the 15-year annual average	3%	(2)%		19%	(4)%	

On a weather adjusted basis, retail energy deliveries in 2013 were comparable to 2012, with energy deliveries to residential customers increasing by 1%, and energy deliveries to commercial and industrial customers combined were comparable to prior year. PGE projects that retail energy deliveries for 2014 will increase approximately 1% from 2013 weather adjusted levels, after allowing for energy efficiency and conservation efforts.

Wholesale revenues result from sales of electricity to utilities and power marketers that are made in the Company's efforts to secure reasonably priced power for its retail customers, manage risk, and administer its current long-term wholesale contracts. Such sales can vary significantly from year to year as a result of economic conditions, power and fuel prices, hydro and wind availability, and customer demand.

In 2013, the \$31 million, or 63%, increase in wholesale revenues from 2012 consisted of \$29 million related to a 55% increase in average wholesale price and \$2 million related to a 5% increase in wholesale sales volume.

Other operating revenues increased \$5 million, or 15%, in 2013 from 2012, primarily due to an increase in gains on the sale of excess natural gas, and an increase in the sale of oil, not needed for operations.

Purchased power and fuel expense includes the cost of power purchased and fuel used to generate electricity to meet PGE's retail load requirements, as well as the cost of settled electric and natural gas financial contracts. In 2013, Purchased power and fuel expense increased \$31 million, or 4%, from 2012, largely due to a 4% increase in average variable power cost per MWh. Such increase was driven by a 16% increase in the cost of purchased power and a decrease in energy received from hydroelectric projects. In addition, during the second half of 2013, the Company experienced unplanned plant outages at three of its generating facilities and incurred \$17 million of incremental replacement power costs. A 10% decrease in the average cost per MWh of power generated partially offset the increases. The average variable power cost increased to \$35.61 per MWh in 2013 from \$34.25 per MWh in 2012.

Hydroelectric energy, from PGE-owned hydroelectric projects and from mid-Columbia projects combined, decreased 11% during 2013 from 2012 due to less favorable hydro conditions in 2013. In each of 2013 and 2012 total hydroelectric energy received exceeded that projected in the Company's AUT by approximately 1% for 2013 and 11% for 2012. Based on recent forecasts of regional hydro conditions in 2014, energy from hydro resources is expected to be below normal levels.

The following table presents the forecast of the April-to-September 2014 runoff (issued February 12, 2014) compared to the actual runoffs for 2013 and 2012 (as a percentage of normal, as measured over the 30-year period from 1971 through 2000):

	Runoff as a Percent of Normal *								
<u>Location</u>	2014 Forecast	2013 Actual	2012 Actual						
Columbia River at The Dalles, Oregon	95%	100%	126%						
Mid-Columbia River at Grand Coulee, Washington	97	108	129						
Clackamas River at Estacada, Oregon	92	102	133						
Deschutes River at Moody, Oregon	96	98	118						

^{*} Volumetric water supply forecasts for the Pacific Northwest region are prepared by the Northwest River Forecast Center in conjunction wit the Natural Resources Conservation Service and other cooperating agencies.

Energy from PGE-owned wind generating resources (Biglow Canyon) increased 7% from 2012 due to unfavorable wind conditions in 2012, and represented 6% of the Company's retail load requirement in 2013 and in 2012. Energy received from Biglow Canyon fell short of projections included in the Company's AUT by approximately 15% in 2013 compared to 20% in 2012.

Actual NVPC consists of Purchased power and fuel expense net of Wholesale revenues and was comparable for 2013 relative to 2012. A decrease driven by a 55% increase in the average price per MWh of wholesale power sales, was largely offset by a 4% increase in the average variable power cost per MWh. For 2013, actual NVPC was \$11 million above baseline NVPC, compared with \$17 million below baseline NVPC for 2012.

Production and distribution expense increased \$14 million, or 7%, in 2013 compared to 2012. The increase is largely due to \$5 million related to planned overhaul and repair costs at Colstrip and Coyote Springs, \$3 million related to increased delivery system repair and restoration work, \$3 million for the warranty extension related to the

third phase of Biglow Canyon, and \$2 million of expense associated with the Company's benchmark proposals that were not selected in the RFP process for new generation.

Cascade Crossing transmission project reflects \$52 million of costs expensed in the second quarter of 2013, which were previously recorded as construction work-in-progress (CWIP). For additional information, see " *Electric Utility Plant*" in Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8.—"Financial Statements and Supplementary Data."

Administrative and other expense increased \$3 million, or 1%, in 2013 compared to 2012, as a \$6 million increase in employee pension expense, driven by a lower discount rate, was partially offset by amortization of \$3 million in 2012 of deferred costs related to the Trojan refund matter.

Depreciation and amortization expense in 2013 was comparable to 2012, as a \$7 million increase resulting from capital additions was largely offset by an increase in costs deferred related to four capital projects as authorized in the Company's 2011 General Rate Case, a decrease in the asset retirement obligation (ARO) resulting from the decommissioning of the Bull Run hydro facility in 2012, and the amortization in 2012 of tax credits related to the ISFSI located at the former Trojan site.

Interest expense decreased \$7 million, or 6%, in 2013 compared with 2012, consisting of \$4 million related to the timing of the 2013 maturities and issuances of long-term debt, and \$3 million related to an increase in the allowance for borrowed funds used for construction, which was driven by a higher average CWIP balance resulting from the commencement of the construction of PW2, Carty, and Tucannon River Wind Farm (Tucannon River) in 2013.

Other income, net increased \$10 million, or 100%, in 2013 compared with 2012, primarily due to a \$7 million increase in the allowance for equity funds used for construction from the higher average CWIP balance, as well as an increase in earnings from the non-qualified benefit plan trust assets.

Income tax expense decreased \$43 million, or 67%, in 2013, compared to 2012, with the effective tax rate decreasing to 16.8% for 2013 from 31.4% for 2012. These decreases are primarily due to a decrease in the pre-tax income for 2013 compared with 2012, which was driven by the \$52 million charge to expense in 2013 related to Cascade Crossing, combined with other unfavorable impacts to 2013 pre-tax income. Also contributing to the decreases was an increase to deferred tax balances in 2012 for a change in the Company's composite state tax rate and an increase in production tax credits in 2013.

2012 Compared to 2011

Revenues decreased \$8 million in 2012 compared to 2011 as a result of the net effect of the items discussed below.

Total retail revenues were comparable with the prior year primarily due to the net effect of the following items:

- An \$18 million increase as a result of credits provided to customers in 2011 (offset in Depreciation and amortization), with no comparable refund in 2012. The customer credits were the result of tax credits the Company had accumulated over several years in relation to the ISFSI located at the former Trojan site;
- A \$14 million increase related to the PCAM, as an estimated refund to customers in the amount of \$10 million was recorded in 2011 compared with a \$4 million reduction in the estimated PCAM refund for the 2011 year recorded in 2012. No estimated refund or collection was recorded under the PCAM related to the 2012 year. For further discussion of the PCAM, see "Purchased power and fuel expense," below; and
- A \$17 million increase resulting from supplemental tariffs and several small regulatory items, which are primarily offset in other line items in the statements of income and thus have no effect on income. The largest contributors amounted to \$5 million for the recovery of costs under the solar Feed-In Tariff and \$3 million for the recovery of expenses related to the Trojan refund; offset by
- A \$34 million decrease related to the volume of retail energy sold and delivered. Residential volumes were down 3%, primarily driven by warmer temperatures during the heating season in 2012. Deliveries to industrial customers were up 2% due largely to increased demand from the high technology sector; and
- A \$15 million decrease related to changes in the average retail price, resulting primarily from tariff changes effective January 1, 2012 as authorized by the OPUC including lower anticipated power costs included in the AUT partially offset by a \$7 million net annual increase related to the tariff for recovery of Boardman over a shortened operating life. Incremental revenues under the Boardman tariff for the full year 2012 were \$14 million compared with \$7 million for the last six months

Heating degree-days in 2012 were 2% less than the 15-year average provided by the National Weather Service, as measured at Portland International Airport, and decreased 10% compared with 2011, which had 10% more heating degree-days that the 15-year average. The following table indicates the number of heating and cooling degree-days for the periods presented, along with 15-year averages:

	Hea	ting Degree-Da	ys	Cooling Degree-Days					
	2012	2011	Increase/ (decrease)	2012	2011	Increase/ (decrease)			
1st quarter	1,967	1,974	— %	_	_	— %			
2nd quarter	709	946	(25)	40	16	150			
3rd quarter	58	51	14	395	346	14			
4th quarter	1,435	1,679	(15)	1					
	4,169	4,650	(10)	436	362	20			
15-year annual average	4,235	4,219	_	456	464	(2)			
Increase (decrease) from the 15-year annual average	(2)%	10%		(4)%	(22)%				

On a weather adjusted basis, retail energy deliveries in 2012 increased 0.6% compared to 2011, with deliveries to residential, commercial, and industrial customers increasing by 0.4%, 0.2%, and 1.7%, respectively.

Wholesale revenues in 2012 decreased \$11 million, or 18%, from 2011 and consisted of \$14 million related to a 22% decline in the average wholesale price, driven by lower electricity market prices due to the relatively low price of natural gas and a surplus of hydro generation in the region, partially offset by \$3 million related to a 5% increase in wholesale energy sales volume.

Purchased power and fuel expense decreased \$34 million, or 4%, in 2012 from 2011, with \$19 million related to a 3% decrease in average variable power cost per MWh, partially offset by \$11 million related to a 1% decrease in total system load. The decrease in the average variable power cost to \$34.25 per MWh in 2012 from \$35.15 per MWh in 2011 was largely due to lower wholesale power prices resulting from favorable hydro conditions and low natural gas prices.

Hydroelectric energy, from PGE-owned hydroelectric projects and from mid-Columbia projects combined, decreased 24% during 2012 from 2011, which was primarily the result of the expiration of a contract related to a mid-Columbia project that represented approximately 156 MW of capacity. Favorable hydro conditions in both years resulted in total hydroelectric energy received for each respective year exceeding that projected in the Company's AUT by approximately 11% for 2012 and 13% for 2011.

The following table presents the actual of the April-to-September runoff for 2012 and 2011 (as a percentage of normal, as measured over the 30-year period from 1971 through 2000):

	Runoff as a Percent of Normal						
<u>Location</u>	2012 Actual	2011 Actual					
Columbia River at The Dalles, Oregon	126%	135%					
Mid-Columbia River at Grand Coulee, Washington	129	123					
Clackamas River at Estacada, Oregon	133	135					
Deschutes River at Moody, Oregon	118	120					

^{*} Volumetric water supply forecasts for the Pacific Northwest region are prepared by the Northwest River Forecast Center in conjunction wit the Natural Resources Conservation Service and other cooperating agencies.

Energy received from PGE-owned wind generating resources (Biglow Canyon) decreased 7% from 2011, and represented 6% of the Company's retail load requirement in 2012 and in 2011. The decrease from prior year was due to unfavorable wind conditions, with energy received from Biglow Canyon falling short of projections included in the Company's AUT by approximately 20% in 2012 compared with 13% in 2011.

Actual NVPC decreased approximately \$23 million for 2012 compared with 2011, largely due to a 3% decrease in average variable power cost per MWh combined with a 1% decrease in total system load. For 2012, actual NVPC was \$17 million below baseline NVPC, compared with \$34 million below baseline NVPC for 2011.

Production and distribution expense increased \$10 million, or 5%, in 2012 compared to 2011, primarily due to the following:

- A \$4 million increase due to higher maintenance costs of the Company's generating plants and distribution system;
- A \$3 million increase due to an insurance recovery related to the Selective Water Withdrawal project recorded in 2011; and
- A \$3 million increase due to higher delivery system labor costs.

Administrative and other expense increased \$2 million, or 1%, in 2012 compared to 2011, primarily due to the following:

- A \$6 million decrease due to expenses related to information technology upgrades in 2011;
- A \$3 million decrease related to higher write-offs of uncollectible customer accounts in 2011;
- A \$2 million decrease in compensation expense primarily due to lower incentive compensation in 2012; partially offset by
- A \$7 million increase in employee pension expenses resulting from a lower discount rate and lower return on pension trust assets; and
- A \$3 million increase due to the amortization of deferred expenses related to the Trojan refund (offset in Revenues).

Depreciation and amortization expense decreased \$21\$ million, or 9%, in 2012 compared to 2011, due largely to the net effect of the following:

• An \$18 million increase related to the amortization of customer refunds for the ISFSI tax credits in 2011(offset in Revenues);

- A \$13 million increase in depreciation expense related to a shorter operating life for Boardman (effective July 2011 and offset in Revenues), and other capital additions including emissions control retrofits at Boardman;
- A \$5 million increase in amortization related to the Solar Feed-In Tariff (offset in Revenues); partially offset by
- A \$15 million decrease related to the 2012 deferral of costs related to four capital projects as approved in the 2011 General Rate Case.

Taxes other than income taxes increased \$4 million, or 4%, in 2012 compared to 2011, primarily due to higher property taxes resulting from increased property values and tax rates. Also contributing to the increase were higher franchise fees.

Interest expense decreased \$2 million, or 2%, in 2012 compared to 2011, primarily due to lower interest resulting from a lower average outstanding balance of long-term debt.

Other income, net was \$10 million in 2012 compared to \$6 million in 2011. The increase is primarily due to higher income from the non-qualified benefit plan trust.

Income tax expense increased \$6 million, or 10%, in 2012 compared to 2011, with effective tax rates of 31.4% and 28.3% for 2012 and 2011, respectively. The increase in the effective tax rate is primarily due to the change in apportionment of state income taxes, which resulted in an increase to deferred taxes. The change in apportionment was caused by lower wholesale sales in Washington, which has no corporate income tax, resulting in more taxable income being apportioned to Oregon.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Discussions, forward-looking statements and projections in this section, and similar statements in other parts of the Form 10-K, are subject to PGE's assumptions regarding the availability and cost of capital. See "Current capital and credit market conditions could adversely affect the Company's access to capital, cost of capital, and ability to execute its strategic plan as currently scheduled." in Item 1A.—"Risk Factors."

Capital Requirements

The following table indicates actual capital expenditures for 2013 and future debt maturities and projected cash requirements for 2014 through 2018 (in millions, excluding allowance for funds used during construction, or AFDC):

	Years Ending December 31,												
		2013			2014		2015		2016	2	2017		2018
Ongoing capital expenditures	\$	315		\$	325	\$	290	\$	290	\$	250	\$	240
Port Westward Unit 2		155			130		15						_
Carty Generating Station		135			155		115		45				_
Tucannon River Wind Farm		95			390		15						_
Hydro licensing and construction		20			40		35		5		5		5
Total capital expenditures	\$	720	(1)	\$	1,040	\$	470	\$	340	\$	255	\$	245
Long-term debt maturities	\$	100	·	\$		\$	70	\$	67	\$	58	\$	75

⁽¹⁾ Amounts shown include removal costs, which are included in other net operating activities in the consolidated statements of cash flows.

For a discussion concerning PGE's ability to fund its future capital requirements, see "Debt and Equity Financings" in this Item 7.

Ongoing capital expenditures —Consists of upgrades to and replacement of transmission, distribution, and generation infrastructure as well as new customer connections.

Port Westward Unit 2 —In January 2013, PGE's PW2 flexible generating resource was selected as the successful bid for the capacity resource in the Company's RFP for energy and capacity resources. PW2 is a 220 MW natural gas-fired plant that will be located adjacent to Port Westward and Beaver near Clatskanie, Oregon. Total cost of PW2 is estimated at \$300 million, excluding AFDC, and the facility is expected to be online in the first quarter of 2015. Construction commenced in May 2013, and as of December 31, 2013, \$162 million, including AFDC, is included in CWIP for PW2.

Carty Generating Station —In June 2013, Carty, a proposed 440 MW natural gas-fired power plant in Eastern Oregon, located adjacent to Boardman, was selected as the successful bid for the energy (baseload) resource in the Company's RFP for energy and capacity resources. Total cost of Carty is estimated at \$450 million, excluding AFDC, and the facility is expected to be online in 2016. Construction commenced in January 2014, and as of December 31, 2013, \$138 million, including AFDC, is included in CWIP for Carty.

Tucannon River Wind Farm —In June 2013, Tucannon River in southeastern Washington was selected as the successful bid for the renewable resource in the Company's RFP for renewable resources. Tucannon River, with a nameplate capacity of 267 MW, consisting of 116 turbines each with a generating capacity of 2.3 MWs, is expected to be in service in the first half of 2015 at an estimated cost of \$500 million, excluding AFDC. Construction commenced in September 2013, and as of December 31, 2013, \$99 million, including AFDC, is included in CWIP for Tucannon River.

Hydro licensing and construction —PGE's hydroelectric projects are operated pursuant to FERC licenses issued under the Federal Power Act. The licenses for the hydroelectric projects expire as follows: Clackamas River, 2055; Willamette River, 2035; and Deschutes River, 2055. Capital spending requirements reflected in the table above relate primarily to modifications to the Company's various hydro facilities to enhance fish passage and survival, as required by conditions contained in the operating licenses.

Liquidity

PGE's access to short-term debt markets, including revolving credit from banks, helps provide necessary liquidity to support the Company's operating activities, including the purchase of power and fuel. Long-term capital requirements are driven largely by capital expenditures for distribution, transmission, and generation facilities to support both new and existing customers, as well as debt refinancing activities. PGE's liquidity and capital requirements can also be significantly affected by other working capital needs, including margin deposit requirements related to wholesale market activities, which can vary depending upon the Company's forward positions and the corresponding price curves.

The following summarizes PGE's cash flows for the periods presented (in millions):

	Years Ended December 31,										
		2012	2011								
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year	\$	12	\$	6	\$	4					
Net cash provided by (used in):											
Operating activities		544		494		453					
Investing activities		(692)		(294)		(299)					
Financing activities		243		(194)		(152)					
Net change in cash and cash equivalents		95		6		2					
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year	\$	107	\$	12	\$	6					

2013 Compared to 2012

Cash Flows from Operating Activities — Cash flows from operating activities are generally determined by the amount and timing of cash received from customers and payments made to vendors, as well as the nature and amount of non-cash items, including depreciation and amortization, deferred income taxes, and pension and other postretirement benefit costs included in net income during a given period. The \$50 million increase in cash flows from operating activities in 2013 compared to 2012 was largely due to the receipt of \$44 million in the third quarter of 2013 related to the settlement of a legal matter concerning costs associated with the operation of the ISFSI. Such amount was transferred into the Nuclear decommissioning trust, and consequently is also reflected as an outflow of cash for investing activities. The net change in working capital items, partially offset by a decrease in net income after the consideration of non-cash items, also contributed to the increase in cash flows from operating activities.

Cash provided by operations includes the recovery in customer prices of non-cash charges for depreciation and amortization. The Company estimates that such charges in 2014 will range from \$300 million to \$310 million. Combined with all other sources, cash provided by operations in 2014 is estimated to range from \$500 million to \$520 million. This estimate anticipates no change in margin deposits held by brokers as of December 31, 2013, which is based on both the timing of contract settlements and projected energy prices. The remaining estimated cash flows from operations in 2014 is expected from normal operating activities.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities — Cash flows used in investing activities consist primarily of capital expenditures related to new construction and improvements to PGE's distribution, transmission, and generation facilities. The \$398 million increase in net cash used in investing activities in 2013 compared to 2012 was primarily due to a \$353 million increase in capital expenditures, largely due to the construction of three new generation projects (PW2, Carty and Tucannon River), and a \$44 million contribution to the Nuclear decommissioning trust in the third quarter of 2013. For additional information regarding the contribution to the Nuclear decommissioning trust, see Note 7, Asset Retirement Obligations, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8.— "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data."

The Company plans approximately \$1 billion of capital expenditures in 2014 related to upgrades to and replacement of transmission, distribution and generation infrastructure, including \$675 million related to the construction of three new generation resources. PGE plans to fund the 2014 capital expenditures with the cash expected to be generated from operations during 2014, as discussed above, as well as with the issuance of debt and equity securities. For additional information, see "Capital Requirements" and "Debt and Equity Financings" in the Liquidity and Capital Resources section of this Item 7.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities —Financing activities provide supplemental cash for both day-to-day operations and capital requirements as needed. During 2013, cash provided by such activities consisted of net proceeds received from the issuances of common stock in the aggregate amount of \$67 million and FMBs in the aggregate amount of \$377 million, partially offset by the repayment of FMBs of \$100 million and commercial paper of \$17 million, and payment of dividends of \$84 million. During 2012, net cash used in financing activities consisted of the repayment of FMBs of \$100 million, payment of dividends of \$81 million and net maturities of commercial paper of \$13 million.

2012 Compared to 2011

Cash Flows from Operating Activities —The \$41 million increase in cash provided by operating activities in 2012 compared to 2011 was largely due to the impact of a combined contribution of \$42 million to the pension plan and the voluntary employees' beneficiary association trusts (VEBAs) in 2011 and a decrease in margin deposit requirements, partially offset by a decrease in net income after the consideration of non-cash items. The VEBAs fund the benefits of the Company's non-contributory postretirement health and life insurance plans.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities — The \$5 million decrease in cash used in investing activities in 2012 compared to 2011 was primarily due to proceeds received in the amount of \$10 million for the sale of a solar power facility during the first quarter of 2012, partially offset by a 1% increase in capital expenditures.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities —During 2012, net cash used in financing activities consisted of the repayment of FMBs of \$100 million, the payment of dividends of \$81 million and net maturities of commercial paper of \$13 million. During 2011, net cash used in financing activities primarily consisted of the payment of dividends of \$79 million and the repayment of long-term debt of \$80 million, including the premium paid, partially offset by net issuances of commercial paper of \$11 million.

Dividends on Common Stock

The following table indicates common stock dividends declared in 2013:

Declaration Date	Record Date	Payment Date	clared Per mon Share
February 20, 2013	March 25, 2013	April 15, 2013	\$ 0.270
May 22, 2013	June 25, 2013	July 15, 2013	0.275
July 31, 2013	September 25, 2013	October 15, 2013	0.275
October 30, 2013	December 26, 2013	January 15, 2014	0.275

While the Company expects to pay comparable quarterly dividends on its common stock in the future, the declaration of any dividends is at the discretion of the Company's Board of Directors. The amount of any dividend declaration will depend upon factors that the Board of Directors deems relevant and may include, but are not limited to, PGE's results of operations and financial condition, future capital expenditures and investments, and applicable regulatory and contractual restrictions.

Credit Ratings and Debt Covenants

PGE's secured and unsecured debt is rated investment grade by Moody's and S&P, with current credit ratings and outlook as follows:

	Moody's	S&P
First Mortgage Bonds	A1	A-
Senior unsecured debt	A3	BBB
Commercial paper	Prime-2	A-2
Outlook	Stable	Stable

In January 2014, Moody's upgraded their credit ratings on the Company's FMBs to 'A1' from 'A2' and senior unsecured debt to 'A3' from 'Baa1,' with no changes to their rating on PGE's commercial paper or their outlook on PGE. The credit rating upgrades were primarily driven by Moody's favorable view of the relative credit support of the United States regulatory framework. The upgrades also reflect Moody's acknowledgement of a high degree of credit support offered by the OPUC through a suite of cost recovery mechanisms, including forecasted test years, revenue decoupling and the ability to recover financing costs, commensurate with the spend, of certain renewable projects, and Moody's view that these recovery features provide predictability and stability of PGE's cash flows.

Should Moody's and/or S&P reduce their credit rating on PGE's unsecured debt to below investment grade, the Company could be subject to requests by certain of its wholesale, commodity and transmission counterparties to post additional performance assurance collateral in connection with its price risk management activities. The performance assurance collateral can be in the form of cash deposits or letters of credit, depending on the terms of the underlying agreements, and are based on the contract terms and commodity prices and can vary from period to period. Cash deposits provided as collateral are classified as Margin deposits in PGE's consolidated balance sheet, while any letters of credit issued are not reflected in the Company's consolidated balance sheet.

As of December 31, 2013, PGE had posted approximately \$38 million of collateral with these counterparties, consisting of \$9 million in cash and \$29 million in letters of credit, \$7 million of which is related to master netting agreements. Based on the Company's energy portfolio, estimates of energy market prices, and the level of collateral outstanding as of December 31, 2013, the approximate amount of additional collateral that could be requested upon a single agency downgrade to below investment grade is approximately \$80 million and decreases to approximately \$34 million by December 31, 2014. The amount of additional collateral that could be requested upon a dual agency

downgrade to below investment grade is approximately \$190 million and decreases to approximately \$104 million by December 31, 2014.

PGE's financing arrangements do not contain ratings triggers that would result in the acceleration of required interest and principal payments in the event of a ratings downgrade. However, the cost of borrowing under the credit facilities would increase.

The issuance of FMBs requires that PGE meet earnings coverage and security provisions set forth in the Indenture of Mortgage and Deed of Trust securing the bonds. PGE estimates that on December 31, 2013, under the most restrictive issuance test in the Indenture of Mortgage and Deed of Trust, the Company could have issued up to approximately \$63 million of additional FMBs. PGE expects that this amount will increase in June 2014 when the impact of the \$52 million expense related to Cascade Crossing, recorded in June 2013, will no longer be applicable to this issuance test. Accordingly, PGE does not expect this test to adversely affect PGE's ability to obtain sufficient financing to satisfy its capital requirements in 2014. Any issuances of FMBs would be subject to market conditions and amounts could be further limited by regulatory authorizations or by covenants and tests contained in other financing agreements. PGE also has the ability to release property from the lien of the Indenture of Mortgage and Deed of Trust under certain circumstances, including bond credits, deposits of cash, or certain sales, exchanges or other dispositions of property.

PGE's credit facilities contain customary covenants and credit provisions, including a requirement that limits consolidated indebtedness, as defined in the credit agreements, to 65% of total capitalization (debt to total capital ratio). As of December 31, 2013, the Company's debt to total capital ratio, as calculated under the credit agreements, was 51.3%.

Debt and Equity Financings

PGE's ability to secure sufficient long-term capital at a reasonable cost is determined by its financial performance and outlook, capital expenditure requirements, alternatives available to investors, and other factors. The Company's ability to obtain and renew such financing depends on its credit ratings, as well as on credit markets, both generally and for electric utilities in particular. Management believes that the availability of credit facilities, the expected ability to issue long-term debt and equity securities, and cash expected to be generated from operations provide sufficient liquidity to meet the Company's anticipated capital and operating requirements for the foreseeable future. However, the Company's ability to issue long-term debt and equity could be adversely affected by changes in capital market conditions. For 2014, PGE expects to fund estimated capital requirements with cash from operations and issuances of debt securities ranging from \$350 million to \$400 million and equity securities under the EFSA of approximately \$285 million, with the actual timing and amount of such issuances dependent upon the timing and amount of capital expenditures.

Short-term Debt. PGE has approval from the FERC to issue short-term debt up to a total of \$900 million through February 6, 2016 and currently has the following unsecured revolving credit facilities:

- A \$400 million syndicated credit facility, which is scheduled to terminate in November 2018; and
- A \$300 million syndicated credit facility, which is scheduled to terminate in December 2017.

These revolving credit facilities supplement operating cash flows and provide a primary source of liquidity. Pursuant to the terms of the agreements, the revolving credit facilities may be used for general corporate purposes, backup for commercial paper borrowings, and the issuance of standby letters of credit.

As of December 31, 2013, PGE had no borrowings outstanding under the revolving credit facilities, no commercial paper outstanding, and \$37 million of letters of credit issued. As of December 31, 2013, the aggregate unused available credit under the revolving credit facilities was \$663 million.

The Company also has two letter of credit facilities under which it may obtain letters of credit in an aggregate amount not to exceed \$60 million. Under these facilities, an additional \$37 million of letters of credit was outstanding as of December 31, 2013.

Long-term Debt. During 2013, PGE repaid a total of \$100 million of FMBs, in accordance with the terms of the debt agreements, and issued a total of \$380 million of FMBs, consisting of the following:

- In December, issued \$50 million of 4.84% Series FMBs due 2048;
- In November, issued \$105 million of 4.74% Series FMBs due 2042;
- In August, repaid \$50 million of 5.625% Series FMBs and issued \$75 million of 4.47% Series FMBs due 2043;
- In June, issued \$150 million of 4.47% Series FMBs due 2044; and
- In April, repaid \$50 million of 4.45% Series FMBs.

As of December 31, 2013, total long-term debt outstanding was \$1,916 million, with no scheduled maturities in 2014. In addition, of the \$27 million of Pollution Control Revenue Bonds held by the Company, PGE has the option to remarket \$21 million through 2033 and retired \$6 million in January 2014.

Equity. On June 11, 2013, PGE entered into an EFSA in connection with the public offering of 11,100,000 shares of its common stock, with an initial value of \$317 million. Pursuant to the EFSA, a forward counterparty borrowed 11,100,000 shares of PGE's common stock from third parties and such borrowed shares were sold in a registered public offering. PGE receives proceeds from the sale of the common stock when the EFSA is physically settled. Through December 31, 2013, the Company had the following equity transactions in connection with the offering:

- On June 17, 2013, the underwriters exercised their over-allotment option in full and PGE issued 1,665,000 shares of common stock for net proceeds of \$47 million; and
- On August 21, 2013, the Company issued 700,000 shares of common stock for net proceeds of \$20 million.

As of December 31, 2013, the Company could have physically settled the EFSA by delivering 10,400,000 shares of PGE common stock to the forward counterparty in exchange for cash of \$288 million. The Company anticipates physical settlement of the EFSA by delivery of newly issued shares on or before June 11, 2015. For additional information on the EFSA, see Note 12, Equity-based Plans, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8.—"Financial Statements and Supplementary Data."

Capital Structure. PGE's financial objectives include the balancing of debt and equity to maintain a low weighted average cost of capital while retaining sufficient flexibility to meet the Company's financial obligations. PGE attempts to maintain a common equity ratio (common equity to total consolidated capitalization, including current debt maturities) of approximately 50%. Achievement of this objective while sustaining sufficient cash flow is necessary to maintain acceptable credit ratings and allow access to long-term capital at attractive interest rates. The Company's common equity ratios were 48.7% and 51.1% as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

The following indicates PGE's contractual obligations as of December 31, 2013 (in millions):

	2014	2	015	2	2016	2	2017	2	2018	There- after	Total
Long-term debt	\$ —	\$	70	\$	67	\$	58	\$	75	\$ 1,646	\$ 1,916
Interest on long-term debt (1)	107		105		100		99		94	1,392	1,897
Capital and other purchase commitments	710		113		40		2		2	67	934
Purchased power and fuel:											
Electricity purchases	240		159		150		125		126	683	1,483
Capacity contracts	22		23		22		2		2	1	72
Public Utility Districts	8		8		7		5		5	33	66
Natural gas	65		21		12		10		8	6	122
Coal and transportation	21		6		6		6		4	5	48
Pension plan contributions (2)					23		21		11	_	55
Operating leases	11		9		10		10		10	191	241
Total	\$ 1,184	\$	514	\$	437	\$	338	\$	337	\$ 4,024	\$ 6,834

⁽¹⁾ Future interest on long-term debt is calculated based on the assumption that all debt remains outstanding until maturity. For debt instruments with variable rates, interest is calculated for all future periods using the rates in effect as of December 31, 2013.

Other Financial Obligations

PGE has entered into long-term power purchase contracts with certain public utility districts in the state of Washington under which it has acquired a percentage of the output (Allocation) of three hydroelectric projects (the Priest Rapids, Wanapum and Wells hydroelectric projects). The Company is required to pay its proportionate share of the operating and debt service costs of the projects whether or not they are operable. The contracts further provide that, should any other purchaser of output default on payments as a result of bankruptcy or insolvency, PGE would be allocated a pro rata share of both the output and the operating and debt service costs of the defaulting purchaser. For the Wells project, PGE would be allocated up to a cumulative maximum of 25% of the defaulting purchaser's percentage Allocation. For the Priest Rapids and Wanapum projects, PGE would be allocated up to a cumulative maximum that would not adversely affect the tax exempt status of any outstanding debt.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

In June 2013, PGE entered into an EFSA in connection with a registered public offering of its common stock. The Company may settle the EFSA with issuance of PGE common stock, for cash or net share settlement from time-to-time, in whole or part, through June 11, 2015. For additional information on the EFSA, see Note 12, Equity-based Plans, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8.—"Financial Statements and Supplementary Data."

⁽²⁾ Contributions to the Company's pension plan are not estimated beyond 2018 due to significant uncertainty in financial market and demographic outcomes.

PGE has no other off-balance sheet arrangements other than outstanding letters of credit from time to time that have, or are reasonably likely to have, a material current or future effect on its consolidated financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires that management apply accounting policies and make estimates and assumptions that affect amounts reported in the statements. The following accounting policies represent those that management believes are particularly important to the consolidated financial statements and that require the use of estimates, assumptions, and judgments to determine matters that are inherently uncertain.

Regulatory Accounting

As a rate-regulated enterprise, PGE is required to comply with certain regulatory accounting requirements, which include the recognition of regulatory assets and liabilities on the Company's consolidated balance sheets. Regulatory assets represent probable future revenue associated with certain incurred costs that are expected to be recovered from customers through the ratemaking process. Regulatory liabilities represent probable future reductions in revenues associated with amounts that are expected to be credited or refunded to customers through the ratemaking process. Regulatory accounting is appropriate as long as prices are established or subject to approval by independent third-party regulators; prices are designed to recover the specific enterprise's cost of service; and in view of demand for service, it is reasonable to assume that prices set at levels that will recover costs can be charged to and collected from customers. Amortization of regulatory assets and liabilities is reflected in the statement of income over the period in which they are included in customer prices.

If future recovery of regulatory assets ceases to be probable, PGE would be required to write them off. Further, if PGE determines that all or a portion of its utility operations no longer meet the criteria for continued application of regulatory accounting, the Company would be required to write off those regulatory assets and liabilities related to operations that no longer meet requirements for regulatory accounting. Discontinued application of regulatory accounting would have a material impact on the Company's results of operations and financial position.

Asset Retirement Obligations

PGE recognizes AROs for legal obligations related to dismantlement and restoration costs associated with the future retirement of tangible long-lived assets. Upon initial recognition of AROs that are measurable, the probability-weighted future cash flows for the associated retirement costs, discounted using a credit-adjusted risk-free rate, are recognized as both a liability and as an increase in the capitalized carrying amount of the related long-lived assets. Due to the long lead time involved, a market-risk premium cannot be determined for inclusion in future cash flows. In estimating the liability, management must utilize significant judgment and assumptions in determining whether a legal obligation exists to remove assets. Other estimates may be related to lease provisions, ownership agreements, licensing issues, cost estimates, inflation, and certain legal requirements. Changes that may arise over time with regard to these assumptions and determinations can change future amounts recorded for AROs.

Capitalized asset retirement costs related to electric utility plant are depreciated over the estimated life of the related asset and included in Depreciation and amortization expense in the consolidated statements of income. Accretion of the ARO liability is classified as an operating expense in the consolidated statements of income. Accumulated asset retirement removal costs that do not qualify as AROs have been reclassified from accumulated depreciation to regulatory liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.

Revenue Recognition

Retail customers are billed monthly for electricity use based on meter readings taken throughout the month. At the end of each month, PGE estimates the revenue earned from the last meter read date through the last day of the month, which has not yet been billed to customers. Such amount, which is classified as Unbilled revenues in the Company's consolidated balance sheet, is calculated based on each month's actual net retail system load, the number of days from the last meter read date through the last day of the month, and current customer prices.

Contingencies

PGE has various unresolved legal and regulatory matters about which there is inherent uncertainty, with the ultimate outcome contingent upon several factors. Such contingencies are evaluated using the best information available. A loss contingency is accrued, and disclosed if material, when it is probable that an asset has been impaired or a liability incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. If a range of probable loss is established, the minimum amount in the range is accrued, unless some other amount within the range appears to be a better estimate. If the probable loss cannot be reasonably estimated, no accrual is recorded, but the loss contingency is disclosed to the effect that it cannot be reasonably estimated. Material loss contingencies are disclosed when it is reasonably possible that an asset has been impaired or a liability incurred. Established accruals reflect management's assessment of inherent risks, credit worthiness, and complexities involved in the process. There can be no assurance as to the ultimate outcome of any particular contingency.

Price Risk Management

PGE engages in price risk management activities to manage exposure to commodity and foreign currency market fluctuations and to manage volatility in net power costs for its retail customers. The Company utilizes derivative instruments, which may include forward, futures, swap, and option contracts for electricity, natural gas, oil, and foreign currency. These derivative instruments are recorded at fair value, or "marked-to-market," in PGE's consolidated financial statements.

Fair value adjustments consist of reevaluating the fair value of derivative contracts at the end of each reporting period for the remaining term of the contract and recording any change in fair value in Net income for the period. Fair value is the present value of the difference between the contracted price and the forward market price multiplied by the total quantity of the contract. For option contracts, a theoretical value is calculated using Black-Scholes models that utilize price volatility, price correlation, time to expiration, interest rate and forward commodity price curves. The fair value of these options is the difference between the premium paid or received and the theoretical value at the fair value measurement date.

Determining the fair value of these financial instruments requires the use of prices at which a buyer or seller could currently contract to purchase or sell a commodity at a future date (termed "forward prices"). Forward price "curves" are used to determine the current fair market value of a commodity to be delivered in the future. PGE's forward price curves are created by utilizing actively quoted market indicators received from electronic and telephone brokers, industry publications, and other sources. Forward price curves can change with market conditions and can be materially affected by unpredictable factors such as weather and the economy. PGE's forward price curves are validated using broker quotes and market data from a regulated exchange and differences for any single location, delivery date and commodity are less than 5%.

Pension Plan

Primary assumptions used in the actuarial valuation of PGE's pension plan include the discount rate, the expected return on plan assets, mortality rates, and wage escalation. These assumptions are evaluated by the Company, reviewed annually with the plan actuaries and trust investment consultants, and updated in light of market changes, trends, and future expectations. Significant differences between assumptions and actual experience can have a material impact on the valuation of the pension benefit plan obligation and net periodic pension cost.

PGE's pension discount rate is determined based on a portfolio of high-quality bonds that match the duration of the plan cash flows. The expected rate of return on plan assets is based on the projected long-term return on assets in the plan investment portfolio. PGE capitalizes a portion of pension expense based on the proportion of labor costs capitalized.

Changes in actuarial assumptions can also have a material effect on net periodic pension expense. A 0.25% reduction in the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets, or reduction in the discount rate, would have the effect of increasing the 2013 net periodic pension expense by approximately \$2 million.

Fair Value Measurements

PGE applies fair value measurements to its financial assets and liabilities, with fair value defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The Company's financial assets and liabilities consist of derivative instruments entered into in connection with its price risk management activities, certain assets held by the Nuclear decommissioning, Pension plan and Non-qualified benefit plan trusts, and long-term debt. In valuing these items, the Company uses inputs and assumptions that market participants would use to determine their fair value, utilizing valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The determination of fair value can require subjective and complex judgment and PGE's assessment of the inputs and the significance of a particular input to fair value measurement may affect the valuation of the instruments and their placement within the fair value hierarchy reported in its financial statements.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

PGE is exposed to various forms of market risk, consisting primarily of fluctuations in commodity prices, foreign currency exchange rates, and interest rates, as well as credit risk. Any variations in the Company's market risk or credit risk may affect its future financial position, results of operations or cash flows, as discussed below.

Risk Management Committee

PGE has a Risk Management Committee (RMC) which is responsible for providing oversight of the adequacy and effectiveness of corporate policies, guidelines, and procedures for market and credit risk management related to the Company's energy portfolio management activities. The RMC consists of officers and Company representatives with responsibility for risk management, finance and accounting, legal, rates and regulatory affairs, power operations, and generation operations. The RMC reviews and approves adoption of policies and procedures, and monitors compliance with policies, procedures, and limits on a regular basis through reports and meetings. The RMC also reviews and recommends risk limits that are subject to approval by PGE's Board of Directors.

Commodity Price Risk

PGE is exposed to commodity price risk as its primary business is to provide electricity to its retail customers. The Company engages in price risk management activities to manage exposure to volatility in net power costs for its retail customers. The Company uses power purchase contracts to supplement its thermal, hydroelectric, and wind generation and to respond to fluctuations in the demand for electricity and variability in generating plant operations. The Company also enters into contracts for the purchase of fuel for the Company's natural gas- and coal-fired generating plants. These contracts for the purchase of power and fuel expose the Company to market risk. The Company uses instruments such as forward contracts, which may involve physical delivery of an energy commodity; financial swap and futures agreements, which may require payments to, or receipt of payments from, counterparties based on the differential between a fixed and variable price for the commodity; and option contracts to mitigate risk that arises from market fluctuations of commodity prices. PGE does not engage in trading activities for non-retail purposes.

The following table presents energy commodity derivative fair values as a net liability as of December 31, 2013 that are expected to settle in each respective year (in millions):

	2	014	2	2015	2	2016 2017		2018		Thereafter		7	Total	
Commodity contracts	s:													
Electricity	\$	11	\$	26	\$	12	\$	5	\$	5	\$	58	\$	117
Natural gas		25		10		14		10		_		_		59
	\$	36	\$	36	\$	26	\$	15	\$	5	\$	58	\$	176

PGE reports energy commodity derivative fair values as a net asset or liability, which combines purchases and sales expected to settle in the years noted above. As a short utility, energy commodity fair values exposed to commodity price risk are primarily related to purchase contracts, which are slightly offset by sales.

PGE's energy portfolio activities are subject to regulation, with related costs included in retail prices approved by the OPUC. The timing differences between the recognition of gains and losses on certain derivative instruments and their realization and subsequent recovery in prices are deferred as regulatory assets and regulatory liabilities to reflect the effects of regulation, significantly mitigating commodity price risk for the Company. As contracts are settled, these deferrals reverse and are recognized as Purchased power and fuel in the statements of income and included in the PCAM. PGE remains subject to cash flow risk in the form of collateral requirements based on the value of open positions and regulatory risk if recovery is disallowed by the OPUC. PGE attempts to mitigate both types of risks through prudent energy procurement practices.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

PGE is exposed to foreign currency risk associated with natural gas forward and swap contracts denominated in Canadian dollars in its energy portfolio. Foreign currency risk is the risk of changes in value of pending financial obligations in foreign currencies that could occur prior to the settlement of the obligation due to a change in the value of that foreign currency in relation to the U.S. dollar. PGE monitors its exposure to fluctuations in the Canadian exchange rate with an appropriate hedging strategy.

As of December 31, 2013, a 10% change in the value of the Canadian dollar would result in an immaterial change in exposure for transactions that will settle over the next twelve months.

Interest Rate Risk

To meet short-term cash requirements, PGE has established a program under which it may from time to time issue commercial paper for terms of up to 270 days; such issuances are supported by the Company's unsecured revolving credit facilities. Although any borrowings under the commercial paper program subject the Company to fluctuations in interest rates, reflecting current market conditions, individual instruments carry a fixed rate during their respective terms. As of December 31, 2013, PGE had no borrowings outstanding under its revolving credit facilities and no commercial paper outstanding.

PGE currently has no financial instruments to mitigate risk related to changes in short-term interest rates, including those on commercial paper; however, it may consider such instruments in the future as considered necessary.

As of December 31, 2013, the total fair value and carrying amounts by maturity date of PGE's long-term debt are as follows (in millions):

		Total Carrying Amounts by Maturity Date													
	,	Fair Value		Total	2015		2016		2017		2018			There- after	
First Mortgage Bonds	\$	1,948	\$	1,795	\$	70	\$	67	\$	58	\$	75	\$	1,525	
Pollution Control Revenue Bonds		126		121				_		_				121	
Total	\$	2,074	\$	1,916	\$	70	\$	67	\$	58	\$	75	\$	1,646	

As of December 31, 2013, PGE had no long-term variable rate debt outstanding; accordingly, the Company's outstanding long-term debt is not subject to interest rate risk exposures.

Credit Risk

PGE is exposed to credit risk in its commodity price risk management activities related to potential nonperformance by counterparties. PGE manages the risk of counterparty default according to its credit policies by performing financial credit reviews, setting limits and monitoring exposures, and requiring collateral (in the form of cash, letters of credit, and guarantees) when needed. The Company also uses standardized enabling agreements and, in certain cases, master netting agreements, which allow for the netting of positive and negative exposures under multiple agreements with counterparties. Despite such mitigation efforts, defaults by counterparties may periodically occur. Based upon periodic review and evaluation, allowances are recorded to reflect credit risk related to wholesale accounts receivable.

The large number and diversified base of residential, commercial, and industrial customers, combined with the Company's ability to discontinue service, contribute to reduce credit risk with respect to trade accounts receivable from retail sales. Estimated provisions for uncollectible accounts receivable related to retail sales are provided for such risk.

As of December 31, 2013, PGE's credit risk exposure is \$6 million for commodity activities with externally-rated investment grade counterparties and matures in 2014. The credit risk is included in accounts receivable and price risk management assets, offset by related accounts payable and price risk management liabilities.

Investment grade includes those counterparties with a minimum credit rating on senior unsecured debt of Baa3 (as assigned by Moody's) or BBB- (as assigned by S&P), and also those counterparties whose obligations are guaranteed or secured by an investment grade entity. The credit exposure includes activity for electricity and natural gas forward, swap, and option contracts. Posted collateral may be in the form of cash or letters of credit and may represent prepayment or credit exposure assurance.

Omitted from the market risk exposures discussed above are long-term power purchase contracts with certain public utility districts in the state of Washington and with the City of Portland, Oregon. These contracts provide PGE with a percentage share of hydro facility output in exchange for an equivalent percentage share of operating and debt service costs. These contracts expire at varying dates through 2052. For additional information, see "*Public Utility Districts*" in Note 15, Commitments and Guarantees, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 8.—"Financial Statements and Supplementary Data." Management believes that circumstances that could result in the nonperformance by these counterparties are remote.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA. **ITEM 8.**

The following financial statements and report are included in Item 8:

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm	68
Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011	70
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011	71
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2013 and 2012	72
Consolidated Statements of Equity for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011	74
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011	75
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements	77
67	

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Portland General Electric Company Portland, Oregon

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Portland General Electric Company and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2013. We also have audited the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, based on criteria established in *Internal Control-Integrated Framework* (1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Company's management is responsible for these financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management's Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and an opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the financial statements included examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company's principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company's board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Table of Contents

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Portland General Electric Company and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2013, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2013, based on the criteria established in *Internal Control-Integrated Framework* (1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Portland, Oregon February 13, 2014

PORTLAND GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(Dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

	Years Ended December 31,							
		2013	2012			2011		
Revenues, net	\$	1,810	\$	1,805	\$	1,813		
Operating expenses:								
Purchased power and fuel		757		726		760		
Production and distribution		225		211		201		
Cascade Crossing transmission project		52		_		_		
Administrative and other		219		216		218		
Depreciation and amortization		248		248		227		
Taxes other than income taxes		103		102		98		
Total operating expenses		1,604		1,503	'	1,504		
Income from operations		206		302		309		
Interest expense, net		101		108		110		
Other income:								
Allowance for equity funds used during construction		13		6		5		
Miscellaneous income, net		7		4		1		
Other income, net		20		10		6		
Income before income taxes		125		204		205		
Income tax expense		21		64		58		
Net income		104	-	140		147		
Less: net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests		(1)		(1)		_		
Net income attributable to Portland General Electric Company	\$	105	\$	141	\$	147		
Weighted-average shares outstanding (in thousands):								
Basic		76,821		75,498		75,333		
Diluted		77,388		75,647		75,350		
		77,500		72,017		, , , , , , ,		
Earnings per share:								
Basic	\$	1.36	\$	1.87	\$	1.95		
Diluted	\$	1.35	\$	1.87	\$	1.95		

PORTLAND GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(In millions)

	Years Ended December 31,								
		2013		2012	2011				
Net income	\$	104	\$	140	\$	147			
Other comprehensive income (loss)—Change in compensation retirement benefits liability and amortization, net of taxes of (\$1) in 2013 and \$1 in 2011		1		_		(1)			
Comprehensive income		105		140		146			
Less: comprehensive loss attributable to the noncontrolling interests		(1)		(1)		_			
Comprehensive income attributable to Portland General Electric Company	\$	106	\$	141	\$	146			

PORTLAND GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In millions)

	As of	As of December 31,						
	2013	2012						
ASSETS								
Current assets:								
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 10)7 \$ 12						
Accounts receivable, net	14	152						
Unbilled revenues	10	97						
Inventories, at average cost:								
Materials and supplies	4	11 38						
Fuel	2	24 40						
Margin deposits		9 46						
Regulatory assets—current	ϵ	66 144						
Other current assets	Ç	93						
Total current assets	59	01 622						
Electric utility plant:								
Production	2,96	58 2,899						
Transmission	41	7 412						
Distribution	2,94	2,816						
General	38	327						
Intangible	38	357						
Construction work-in-progress	50	08 140						
Total electric utility plant	7,60	6,951						
Accumulated depreciation and amortization	(2,72	23) (2,559)						
Electric utility plant, net	4,88	4,392						
Regulatory assets—noncurrent	46	54 524						
Nuclear decommissioning trust	3	38						
Non-qualified benefit plan trust	3	32						
Other noncurrent assets	4	19 62						
Total assets	\$ 6,10	\$ 5,670						

PORTLAND GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS, continued

(In millions, except share amounts)

	As of December 31,				
	2013	2012			
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY					
Current liabilities:					
Accounts payable	\$ 173	\$	98		
Liabilities from price risk management activities—current	49		127		
Short-term debt	_		17		
Current portion of long-term debt	_		100		
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities	171		179		
Total current liabilities	 393		521		
Long-term debt, net of current portion	 1,916		1,536		
Regulatory liabilities—noncurrent	865		765		
Deferred income taxes	586		588		
Unfunded status of pension and postretirement plans	154		247		
Liabilities from price risk management activities—noncurrent	141		73		
Non-qualified benefit plan liabilities	101		102		
Asset retirement obligations	100		94		
Other noncurrent liabilities	25		14		
Total liabilities	 4,281		3,940		
Commitments and contingencies (see notes)					
Equity:					
Portland General Electric Company shareholders' equity:					
Preferred stock, no par value, 30,000,000 shares authorized; none issued and outstanding	_		_		
Common stock, no par value, 160,000,000 shares authorized; 78,085,559 and 75,556,272 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2013 and 2012,					
respectively	911		841		
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	(5)		(6)		
Retained earnings	 913		893		
Total Portland General Electric Company shareholders' equity	1,819		1,728		
Noncontrolling interests' equity	1		2		
Total equity	 1,820		1,730		
Total liabilities and equity	\$ 6,101	\$	5,670		

PORTLAND GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY

(In millions, except share amounts)

Portland General Electric Company Shareholders' Equity

	Common	1 Stock		Accumulated Other		Noncontrolling
	Shares	Amo	ount	Comprehensive Loss	Retained Earnings	Interests' Equity
Balance as of December 31, 2010	75,316,419	\$	831	\$ (5)	\$ 766	\$ 7
Shares issued pursuant to equity- based plans	46,537		1	_	_	_
Noncontrolling interests' capital distributions	_			_	_	(4)
Stock-based compensation	<u>—</u>		4	_	_	_
Dividends declared (\$1.055 per share)	_			_	(80)	_
Net income	<u>—</u>			_	147	_
Other comprehensive loss				(1)		
Balance as of December 31, 2011	75,362,956		836	(6)	833	3
Shares issued pursuant to equity- based plans	193,316		1	_	_	_
Stock-based compensation	_		4	_	_	_
Dividends declared (\$1.075 per share)	_		_	_	(81)	_
Net income (loss)					141	(1)
Balance as of December 31, 2012	75,556,272		841	(6)	893	2
Issuances of common stock, net of issuance costs of \$3	2,365,000		67	_	_	_
Shares issued pursuant to equity- based plans	164,287		1	_	_	_
Stock-based compensation			2	_	_	_
Dividends declared (\$1.095 per share)	_			_	(85)	_
Net income (loss)	_		_	_	105	(1)
Other comprehensive income	_			1		_
Balance as of December 31, 2013	78,085,559	\$	911	\$ (5)	\$ 913	\$ 1

PORTLAND GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In millions)

	Years	er 31,		
	2013	2012	2011	
Cash flows from operating activities:				
Net income	5 104	\$ 140	\$ 147	
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:				
Depreciation and amortization	248	248	227	
(Decrease) increase in net liabilities from price risk management activities	(18)	(175)	9	
Regulatory deferrals—price risk management activities	18	172	(6)	
Cascade Crossing transmission project	52	_	_	
Deferred income taxes	11	47	56	
Renewable adjustment clause deferrals	_	1	22	
Pension and other postretirement benefits	37	27	15	
Regulatory deferral of settled derivative instruments	7	(9)	12	
Power cost deferrals, net of amortization	(6)	(4)	10	
Allowance for equity funds used during construction	(13)	(6)	(5)	
Decoupling mechanism deferrals, net of amortization	(6)	2	3	
Unrealized losses on non-qualified benefit plan trust assets	3	3	_	
Other non-cash income and expenses, net	18	16	16	
Changes in working capital:				
Increase in receivables and unbilled revenues	_	(4)	(15)	
Decrease in margin deposits	37	34	3	
Income tax refund received	_	8	9	
Increase in payables and accrued liabilities	14	1	5	
Other working capital items, net	17	1	(7)	
Proceeds received from Trojan spent fuel legal settlement	44	_	_	
Contribution to non-qualified employee benefit trust	(6)	_	_	
Contribution to voluntary employees' benefit association trust	(3)	(2)	(16)	
Contribution to pension plan	_	_	(26)	
Other, net	(14)	(6)	(6)	
Net cash provided by operating activities	544	494	453	
Cash flows from investing activities:				
Capital expenditures	(656)	(303)	(300)	
Purchases of nuclear decommissioning trust securities	(26)	(26)	(50)	
Sales of nuclear decommissioning trust securities	25	23	46	
Contribution to nuclear decommissioning trust	(44)	_	_	
Proceeds received from insurance recovery	6	_	_	
Proceeds from sale of solar power facility	_	10	_	
Other, net	3	2	5	
Net cash used in investing activities	(692)	(294)	(299)	

PORTLAND GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS, continued

(In millions)

	Years Ended December 31,						
	-	2013	2012			2011	
Cash flows from financing activities:							
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt	\$	380	\$		\$	_	
Payments on long-term debt		(100)		(100)		(73)	
Proceeds from issuances of common stock, net of issuance costs		67				_	
Borrowings on short-term debt		35		_		_	
Payments on short-term debt		(35)					
(Maturities) issuances of commercial paper, net		(17)		(13)		11	
Dividends paid		(84)		(81)		(79)	
Premium paid on repayment of long-term debt		_		_		(7)	
Debt issuance costs		(3)				_	
Noncontrolling interests' capital distributions		_		_		(4)	
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities		243		(194)		(152)	
Increase in cash and cash equivalents		95		6		2	
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year		12		6		4	
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year	\$	107	\$	12	\$	6	
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:							
Cash paid for interest, net of amounts capitalized	\$	90	\$	97	\$	103	
Cash paid for income taxes		10		13		3	
Non-cash investing and financing activities:							
Accrued capital additions		84		19		19	
Accrued dividends payable		22		21		21	
Preliminary engineering transferred to Construction work in progress from Other noncurrent assets		9		_		7	

NOTE 1: BASIS OF PRESENTATION

Nature of Operations

Portland General Electric Company (PGE or the Company) is a single, vertically integrated electric utility engaged in the generation, purchase, transmission, distribution, and retail sale of electricity in the state of Oregon. The Company also sells electricity and natural gas in the wholesale market to utilities, brokers, and power marketers. PGE operates as a single segment, with revenues and costs related to its business activities maintained and analyzed on a total electric operations basis. PGE's corporate headquarters is located in Portland, Oregon and its service area is located entirely within Oregon. PGE's service area includes 52 incorporated cities, of which Portland and Salem are the largest, within a state-approved service area allocation of approximately 4,000 square miles. As of December 31, 2013, PGE served 836,070 retail customers with a service area population of approximately 1.7 million, comprising approximately 44% of the state's population.

As of December 31, 2013, PGE had 2,596 employees, with 795 employees covered under two separate agreements with Local Union No. 125 of the International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers. Such agreements cover 760 and 35 employees and expire in February 2015 and August 2014, respectively.

PGE is subject to the jurisdiction of the Public Utility Commission of Oregon (OPUC) with respect to retail prices, utility services, accounting policies and practices, issuances of securities, and certain other matters. Retail prices are based on the Company's cost to serve customers, including an opportunity to earn a reasonable rate of return, as determined by the OPUC. The Company is also subject to regulation by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC) in matters related to wholesale energy transactions, transmission services, reliability standards, natural gas pipelines, hydroelectric project licensing, accounting policies and practices, short-term debt issuances, and certain other matters.

Consolidation Principles

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of PGE and its wholly-owned subsidiaries and those variable interest entities (VIEs) where PGE has determined it is the primary beneficiary. The Company's ownership share of direct expenses and costs related to jointly-owned generating plants are also included in its consolidated financial statements. Intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.

For entities that are determined to meet the definition of a VIE and where the Company has determined it is the primary beneficiary, the VIE is consolidated and a noncontrolling interest is recognized for any third party interests. This has resulted in the Company consolidating entities in which it has less than a 50% equity interest. For further information, see Note 16, Variable Interest Entities.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and disclosures of gain or loss contingencies, as of the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates.

Customer Billing Matter

In May 2013, PGE discovered that it had over-billed an industrial customer during a period of several years as a result of a meter configuration error. An analysis of the data determined that the Company's revenues were overstated by approximately \$3 million in 2012 and in 2011, \$2 million in 2010, and \$1 million in 2009. PGE

believes the customer billing error is not material to any annual reporting period. The Company corrected this matter in the second quarter of 2013 as an out of period adjustment, and recorded, as a reduction to Revenues, net, a refund to the customer in the amount of \$9 million.

NOTE 2: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Highly liquid investments with maturities of three months or less at the date of acquisition are classified as cash equivalents, of which PGE had \$104 million as of December 31, 2013 and none as of December 31, 2012.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded at invoiced amounts based on prices that are subject to federal (FERC) and state (OPUC) regulations. Balances do not bear interest; however, late fees are assessed beginning 16 business days after the invoice due date. Accounts that are inactivated due to nonpayment are charged-off in the period in which the receivable is deemed uncollectible, but no sooner than 45 business days after the due date of the final invoice.

Provisions for uncollectible accounts receivable related to retail sales are charged to Administrative and other expense and are recorded in the same period as the related revenues, with an offsetting credit to the allowance for uncollectible accounts. Such estimates are based on management's assessment of the probability of collection, aging of accounts receivable, bad debt write-offs, actual customer billings, and other factors.

Provisions for uncollectible accounts receivable related to wholesale sales are charged to Purchased power and fuel expense and are recorded periodically based on a review of counterparty non-performance risk and contractual right of offset when applicable. There have been no material write-offs of accounts receivable related to wholesale sales in 2013, 2012 and 2011.

Price Risk Management

PGE engages in price risk management activities, utilizing financial instruments such as forward, future, swap, and option contracts for electricity, natural gas, oil and foreign currency. These instruments are measured at fair value and recorded on the consolidated balance sheets as assets or liabilities from price risk management activities. Changes in fair value are recognized in the consolidated statement of income, offset by the effects of regulatory accounting. Certain electricity forward contracts that were entered into in anticipation of serving the Company's regulated retail load may meet the requirements for treatment under the normal purchases and normal sales scope exception. Such contracts are not recorded at fair value and are recognized under accrual accounting.

Price risk management activities are utilized as economic hedges to protect against variability in expected future cash flows due to associated price risk and to manage exposure to volatility in net power costs for the Company's retail customers.

In accordance with ratemaking and cost recovery processes authorized by the OPUC, PGE recognizes a regulatory asset or liability to defer unrealized losses or gains, respectively, on derivative instruments until settlement. At the time of settlement, PGE recognizes a realized gain or loss on the derivative instrument.

Electricity sale and purchase transactions that are physically settled are recorded in Revenues and Purchased power and fuel expense upon settlement, respectively, while transactions that are not physically settled (financial transactions) are recorded on a net basis in Purchased power and fuel expense upon settlement.

Pursuant to transactions entered into in connection with PGE's price risk management activities, the Company may be required to provide collateral with certain counterparties. The collateral requirements are based on the contract

terms and commodity prices and can vary period to period. Cash deposits provided as collateral are classified as Margin deposits in the consolidated balance sheets and were \$9 million and \$46 million as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Letters of credit provided as collateral are not recorded on the Company's consolidated balance sheet and were \$29 million and \$45 million as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Inventories

PGE's inventories, which are recorded at average cost, consist primarily of materials and supplies for use in operations, maintenance and capital activities and fuel for use in generating plants. Fuel inventories include natural gas, oil, and coal. Periodically, the Company assesses the realizability of inventory for purposes of determining that inventory is recorded at the lower of average cost or market.

Electric Utility Plant

Capitalization Policy

Electric utility plant is capitalized at its original cost, which includes direct labor, materials and supplies, and contractor costs, as well as indirect costs such as engineering, supervision, employee benefits, and an allowance for funds used during construction (AFDC). Plant replacements are capitalized, with minor items charged to expense as incurred. Periodic major maintenance inspections and overhauls at the Company's generating plants are charged to expense as incurred, subject to regulatory accounting as applicable. Costs to purchase or develop software applications for internal use only are capitalized and amortized over the estimated useful life of the software. Costs of obtaining a FERC license for the Company's hydroelectric projects are capitalized and amortized over the related license period.

During the period of construction, costs expected to be included in the final value of the constructed asset, and depreciated once the asset is complete and placed in service, are classified as Construction work-in-progress (CWIP) in Electric utility plant on the consolidated balance sheets. If the project becomes probable of being abandoned, such costs are expensed in the period such determination is made. If any costs are expensed, the Company may seek recovery of such costs in customer prices, although there can be no guarantee such recovery would be granted.

During the year ended December 31, 2013, PGE charged \$52 million of costs previously included in CWIP related to the Cascade Crossing Transmission Project (Cascade Crossing), which was originally proposed as a 215-mile, 500 kV transmission project between Boardman, Oregon and Salem, Oregon. Based on an updated forecast of demand and future transmission capacity in the region, PGE determined in the second quarter of 2013 that the original projections of transmission capacity limitations contemplated in the Company's 2009 Integrated Resource Plan, as acknowledged by the OPUC, were not likely to fully materialize. As a result, PGE and Bonneville Power Administration (BPA) worked toward refining the scope of the project and executed a non-binding memorandum of understanding (MOU) in May 2013. In connection with the MOU, the parties explored a new option under which BPA could provide PGE with ownership of approximately 1,500 MW of transmission capacity rights. As a result of the changed conditions reflected in the MOU, PGE also suspended permitting and development of Cascade Crossing and charged the capitalized costs related to Cascade Crossing to expense in the second quarter of 2013. In October 2013, the parties determined that they would not be able to reach an agreement on the financial terms for the proposed ownership of transmission capacity rights and, therefore, agreed to discontinue discussions on this option. The Company has determined that, under current conditions, the best option for meeting its transmission needs is to continue to acquire transmission service offered under BPA's Open Access Transmission Tariff. PGE has determined that it will not seek recovery of these costs.

PGE records AFDC, which is intended to represent the Company's cost of funds used for construction purposes and is based on the rate granted in the latest general rate case for equity funds and the cost of actual borrowings for debt funds. AFDC is capitalized as part of the cost of plant and credited to the consolidated statements of income. The

average rate used by PGE was 7.5% in 2013 and in 2012 and 7.8% in 2011. AFDC from borrowed funds was \$7 million in 2013, \$4 million in 2012, and \$3 million in 2011 and is reflected as a reduction to Interest expense. AFDC from equity funds was \$13 million in 2013, \$6 million in 2012, and \$5 million in 2011 and is included in Other income, net.

Costs disallowed for recovery in customer prices, if any, are charged to expense at the time such disallowance is probable.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method, based upon original cost, and includes an estimate for cost of removal and expected salvage. Depreciation expense as a percent of the related average depreciable plant in service was 3.7% in 2013, 3.8% in 2012, and 3.7% in 2011. Estimated asset retirement removal costs included in depreciation expense were \$55 million in 2013 and 2012, and \$49 million in 2011.

Periodic studies are conducted to update depreciation parameters (i.e. retirement dispersion patterns, average service lives, and net salvage rates), including estimates of asset retirement obligations (AROs) and asset retirement removal costs. The studies are conducted at a minimum of every five years and are filed with the OPUC for approval and inclusion in a future rate proceeding. The most recent depreciation study was completed for 2009, with an order received from the OPUC in September 2010 authorizing new depreciation rates effective January 1, 2011. During 2013, a depreciation study was completed, which has been incorporated into the Company's general rate case filed with the OPUC on February 13, 2014, with new prices expected to become effective January 1, 2015.

Thermal generation plants are depreciated using a life-span methodology which ensures that plant investment is recovered by the estimated retirement dates, which range from 2020 to 2050. Depreciation is provided on the Company's other classes of plant in service over their estimated average service lives, which are as follows (in years):

Generation, excluding thermal:	
Hydro	87
Wind	27
Transmission	53
Distribution	40
General	13

The original cost of depreciable property units, net of any related salvage value, is charged to accumulated depreciation when property is retired and removed from service. Cost of removal expenditures are recorded against AROs or to accumulated asset retirement removal costs, included in Regulatory liabilities, for assets without AROs.

Intangible plant consists primarily of computer software development costs, which are amortized over either five or ten years, and hydro licensing costs, which are amortized over the applicable license term, which range from 30 to 50 years. Accumulated amortization was \$170 million and \$151 million as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively, with amortization expense of \$22 million in 2013 and in 2012, and \$19 million in 2011. Future estimated amortization expense as of December 31, 2013 is as follows: \$23 million in 2014; \$22 million in 2015; \$19 million in 2016; \$16 million in 2017; and \$14 million in 2018.

Marketable Securities

All of PGE's investments in marketable securities, included in the Non-qualified benefit plan trust and Nuclear decommissioning trust on the consolidated balance sheets, are classified as trading. These securities are classified as noncurrent because they are not available for use in operations. Trading securities are stated at fair value based on

quoted market prices. Realized and unrealized gains and losses on the Non-qualified benefit plan trust assets are included in Other income, net. Realized and unrealized gains and losses on the Nuclear decommissioning trust fund assets are recorded as regulatory liabilities or assets, respectively, for future ratemaking. The cost of securities sold is based on the average cost method.

Regulatory Accounting

Regulatory Assets and Liabilities

As a rate-regulated enterprise, the Company applies regulatory accounting, resulting in regulatory assets or regulatory liabilities. Regulatory assets represent (i) probable future revenue associated with certain actual or estimated costs that are expected to be recovered from customers through the ratemaking process, or (ii) probable future collections from customers resulting from revenue accrued for completed alternative revenue programs, provided certain criteria are met. Regulatory liabilities represent probable future reductions in revenue associated with amounts that are expected to be credited to customers through the ratemaking process. Regulatory accounting is appropriate as long as prices are established by or subject to approval by independent third-party regulators; prices are designed to recover the specific enterprise's cost of service; and in view of demand for service, it is reasonable to assume that prices set at levels that will recover costs can be charged to and collected from customers. Once the regulatory asset or liability is reflected in prices, the respective regulatory asset or liability is amortized to the appropriate line item in the consolidated statement of income over the period in which it is included in prices.

Circumstances that could result in the discontinuance of regulatory accounting include (i) increased competition that restricts the Company's ability to establish prices to recover specific costs, and (ii) a significant change in the manner in which prices are set by regulators from cost-based regulation to another form of regulation. PGE periodically reviews the criteria of regulatory accounting to ensure that its continued application is appropriate. Based on a current evaluation of the various factors and conditions, management believes that recovery of the Company's regulatory assets is probable.

For additional information concerning the Company's regulatory assets and liabilities, see Note 6, Regulatory Assets and Liabilities.

Power Cost Adjustment Mechanism

PGE is subject to a power cost adjustment mechanism (PCAM) as approved by the OPUC. Pursuant to the PCAM, the Company can adjust future customer prices to reflect a portion of the difference between each year's forecasted net variable power costs (NVPC) included in customer prices (baseline NVPC) and actual NVPC. PGE is subject to a portion of the business risk or benefit associated with the difference between actual NVPC and baseline NVPC by application of an asymmetrical "deadband," which ranges from \$15 million below to \$30 million above baseline NVPC. NVPC consists of (i) the cost of power purchased and fuel used to generate electricity to meet PGE's retail load requirements, as well as the cost of settled electric and natural gas financial contracts, all of which is classified as Purchased power and fuel in the Company's consolidated statements of income; and is net of (ii) wholesale sales, which are classified as Revenues, net in the consolidated statements of income.

To the extent actual NVPC, subject to certain adjustments, is outside the deadband range, the PCAM provides for 90% of the variance to be collected from or refunded to customers, subject to a regulated earnings test. Pursuant to the regulated earnings test, a refund will occur only to the extent that it results in PGE's actual regulated return on equity (ROE) for that year being no less than 1% above the Company's latest authorized ROE, while a collection will occur only to the extent that it results in PGE's actual regulated ROE for that year being no greater than 1% below the Company's authorized ROE. PGE's authorized ROE was 10% for 2013, 2012 and 2011.

Any estimated refund to customers pursuant to the PCAM is recorded as a reduction in Revenues in the Company's consolidated statements of income, while any estimated collection from customers is recorded as a reduction in

Purchased power and fuel expense. A final determination of any customer refund or collection is made in the following year by the OPUC through a public filing and review.

For 2013, actual NVPC was above baseline NVPC by \$11 million, which is within the established deadband range. Accordingly, no estimated collection from customers was recorded as of December 31, 2013. A final determination regarding the 2013 PCAM results will be made by the OPUC through a public filing and review in 2014.

For 2012, actual NVPC was below baseline NVPC by \$17 million, and exceeded the lower deadband threshold of \$15 million. However, based on results of the regulated earnings test, no estimated refund to customers was recorded as of December 31, 2012. A final determination regarding the 2012 PCAM results was made by the OPUC through a public filing and review in 2013, which confirmed no refund to customers pursuant to the PCAM for 2012.

For 2011, actual NVPC was below baseline NVPC by \$34 million, and exceeded the lower deadband threshold of \$15 million. PGE recorded an estimated refund to customers of \$10 million as of December 31, 2011, reduced from the \$17 million potential refund to customers as a result of the regulated earnings test. A final determination regarding the 2011 PCAM results was made by the OPUC through a public filing and review in 2012, which, based upon the application of an updated regulated earnings test, resulted in a revised refund to customers of \$6 million to be returned to customers over a one-year period beginning January 1, 2013.

Asset Retirement Obligations

Legal obligations related to the future retirement of tangible long-lived assets are classified as AROs on PGE's consolidated balance sheet. An ARO is recognized in the period in which it is incurred if a reasonable estimate of fair value can be made. Due to the long lead time involved until decommissioning activities occur, the Company uses present value techniques because quoted market prices and a market-risk premium are not available. The present value of estimated future dismantlement and restoration costs is capitalized and included in Electric utility plant, net on the consolidated balance sheets with a corresponding offset to ARO. Such estimates are revised periodically, with actual expenditures charged to the ARO as incurred.

The estimated capitalized costs of AROs are depreciated over the estimated life of the related asset, which is included in Depreciation and amortization in the consolidated statements of income. Changes in the ARO resulting from the passage of time (accretion) is based on the original discount rate and recognized as an increase in the carrying amount of the liability and as a charge to accretion expense, which is classified as Depreciation and amortization expense in the Company's consolidated statements of income.

The difference between the timing of the recognition of the AROs' depreciation and accretion expenses and the amount included in customers' prices is recorded as a regulatory asset or liability in the Company's consolidated balance sheets. PGE had a regulatory liability related to AROs in the amount of \$39 million as of December 31, 2013 and 2012. See Note 6, Regulatory Assets and Liabilities.

Contingencies

Contingencies are evaluated using the best information available at the time the consolidated financial statements are prepared. Loss contingencies are accrued, and disclosed if material, when it is probable that an asset has been impaired or a liability incurred as of the financial statement date and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. If a reasonable estimate of probable loss cannot be determined, a range of loss may be established, in which case the minimum amount in the range is accrued, unless some other amount within the range appears to be a better estimate. Legal costs incurred in connection with loss contingencies are expensed as incurred.

A loss contingency will also be disclosed when it is reasonably possible that an asset has been impaired or a liability incurred if the estimate or range of potential loss is material. If a probable or reasonably possible loss cannot be reasonably estimated, disclosure of the loss contingency includes a statement to that effect and the reasons.

If an asset has been impaired or a liability incurred after the financial statement date, but prior to the issuance of the financial statements, the loss contingency is disclosed, if material, and the amount of any estimated loss is recorded in the subsequent reporting period.

Gain contingencies are recognized when realized and are disclosed when material.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (AOCL) presented on the consolidated balance sheets is comprised of the difference between the non-qualified benefit plans' obligations recognized in net income and the unfunded position.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues are recognized as electricity is delivered to customers and include amounts for any services provided. The prices charged to customers are subject to federal (FERC), and state (OPUC) regulation. Franchise taxes, which are collected from customers and remitted to taxing authorities, are recorded on a gross basis in PGE's consolidated statements of income. Amounts collected from customers are included in Revenues, net and amounts due to taxing authorities are included in Taxes other than income taxes and totaled \$41 million in 2013, \$42 million in 2012, and \$41 million in 2011.

Retail revenue is billed monthly based on meter readings taken throughout the month. Unbilled revenue represents the revenue earned from the last meter read date through the last day of the month, which has not been billed as of the last day of the month. Unbilled revenue is calculated based on each month's actual net retail system load, the number of days from the last meter read date through the last day of the month, and current retail customer prices.

As a rate-regulated utility, there are situations in which PGE recognizes revenue to be billed to customers in future periods or defers the recognition of certain revenues to the period in which the related costs are incurred or approved by the OPUC for amortization. For additional information, see "*Regulatory Assets and Liabilities*" in this Note 2.

Stock-Based Compensation

The measurement and recognition of compensation expense for all share-based payment awards, including restricted stock units, is based on the estimated fair value of the awards. The fair value of the portion of the award that is ultimately expected to vest is recognized as expense over the requisite vesting period. PGE attributes the value of stock-based compensation to expense on a straight-line basis.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of temporary differences between financial statement carrying amounts and tax bases of assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in current and future periods that includes the enactment date. Any valuation allowance is established to reduce deferred tax assets to the "more likely than not" amount expected to be realized in future tax returns.

As a rate-regulated enterprise, changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities that are related to certain property are required to be passed on to customers through future prices and are charged or credited directly to a regulatory asset or regulatory liability. These amounts were recognized as net regulatory assets of \$76 million and \$80 million as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively, and will be included in prices when the temporary differences reverse.

Unrecognized tax benefits represent management's expected treatment of a tax position taken in a filed tax return, or planned to be taken in a future tax return, that has not been reflected in measuring income tax expense for financial reporting purposes. Until such positions are no longer considered uncertain, PGE would not recognize the tax benefits resulting from such positions and would report the tax effect as a liability in the Company's consolidated balance sheet.

PGE records any interest and penalties related to income tax deficiencies in Interest expense and Other income, net, respectively, in the consolidated statements of income.

Recent Accounting Pronouncement

Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2011-11, *Balance Sheet (Topic 210) - Disclosures about Offsetting Assets and Liabilities* (ASU 2011-11), requires an entity to disclose information about offsetting and related arrangements to enable users of its financial statements to understand the effect of those arrangements on its financial position. In addition, ASU 2013-01, *Balance Sheet (Topic 210) - Clarifying the Scope of Disclosures about Offsetting Assets and Liabilities* (ASU 2013-01), was issued in January 2013 and clarifies that the scope of ASU 2011-11 applies to financial instruments accounted for in accordance with Topic 815, *Derivatives and Hedging*. Both ASUs were effective January 1, 2013 for the Company, and require retrospective application. PGE adopted the amendments contained in ASU 2011-11 and ASU 2013-01 on January 1, 2013, which did not have an impact on the Company's consolidated financial position, consolidated results of operations, or consolidated cash flows. See Note 5, Price Risk Management, for the additional disclosures made pursuant to the adoption of these ASUs.

NOTE 3: BALANCE SHEET COMPONENTS

Accounts Receivable, Net

Accounts receivable is net of an allowance for uncollectible accounts of \$6 million and \$5 million as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The following is the activity in the allowance for uncollectible accounts (in millions):

	Years Ended December 31,									
		2013		2012		2011				
Balance as of beginning of year	\$	5	\$	6	\$	5				
Increase in provision		6		6		11				
Amounts written off, less recoveries		(5)		(7)		(10)				
Balance as of end of year	\$	6	\$	5	\$	6				

Trust Accounts

PGE maintains two trust accounts as follows:

Nuclear decommissioning trust— Reflects assets held in trust to cover general decommissioning costs and operation of the Independent Spent Fuel Storage Installation (ISFSI) and represent amounts collected from customers less qualified expenditures plus any realized and unrealized gains and losses on the investments held therein. During 2013, the Company received \$44 million from the settlement of a legal matter concerning costs associated with the operation of the ISFSI. Those funds were deposited into the Nuclear decommissioning trust. For additional information concerning the legal matter, see Note 7, Asset Retirement Obligations.

Non-qualified benefit plan trust —Reflects assets held in trust to cover the obligations of PGE's non-qualified benefit plans and represents contributions made by the Company less qualified expenditures plus any realized and unrealized gains and losses on the investment held therein.

The trusts are comprised of the following investments as of December 31 (in millions):

	Nuclear Decommissioning Trust						ified Benefit Trust		
2013		2012		2013			2012		
Cash equivalents	\$	59	\$	15	\$	_	\$	2	
Marketable securities, at fair value:									
Equity securities		_		_		8		5	
Debt securities		23		23		1		2	
Insurance contracts, at cash surrender value		_		_		26		23	
	\$	82	\$	38	\$	35	\$	32	

For information concerning the fair value measurement of those assets recorded at fair value held in the trusts, see Note 4, Fair Value of Financial Instruments.

Other Current Assets and Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Other current assets and Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consist of the following (in millions):

		31,		
	2	013		2012
Other current assets:				
Current deferred income tax asset	\$	42	\$	51
Prepaid expenses		38		37
Assets from price risk management activities		13		4
Other		1		1
	\$	94	\$	93
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities:				
Accrued employee compensation and benefits	\$	46	\$	46
Accrued interest payable		23		23
Dividends payable		22		21
Accrued taxes payable		21		21
Regulatory liabilities—current		1		12
Other		58		56
	\$	171	\$	179

NOTE 4: FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

PGE determines the fair value of financial instruments, both assets and liabilities recognized and not recognized in the Company's consolidated balance sheets, for which it is practicable to estimate fair value as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, and then classifies these financial assets and liabilities based on a fair value hierarchy. The fair value hierarchy is used to prioritize the inputs to the valuation techniques used to measure fair value. These three broad levels and application to the Company are discussed below.

- Level 1 Quoted prices are available in active markets for identical assets or liabilities as of the reporting date.
- Level 2 Pricing inputs include those that are directly or indirectly observable in the marketplace as of the reporting date.
- Level 3 Pricing inputs include significant inputs which are unobservable for the asset or liability.

Financial assets and liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The Company's assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement requires judgment, and may affect the valuation of fair value assets and liabilities and their placement within the fair value hierarchy.

PGE recognizes transfers between levels in the fair value hierarchy as of the end of the reporting period for all of its financial instruments. Changes to market liquidity conditions, the availability of observable inputs, or changes in the economic structure of a security marketplace may require transfer of the securities between levels. There were no significant transfers between levels during the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, except those transfers from Level 3 to Level 2 presented in this note.

The Company's financial assets and liabilities whose values were recognized at fair value are as follows by level within the fair value hierarchy (in millions):

		As of December 31, 2013								
	Le	Level 1		Level 2		evel 2 Level 3		evel 3	T	otal
Assets:										
Nuclear decommissioning trust (1):										
Money market funds	\$	_	\$	59	\$		\$	59		
Debt securities:										
Domestic government		6		8		_		14		
Corporate credit				9				9		
Non-qualified benefit plan trust (2):										
Equity securities:										
Domestic		4		3		_		7		
International		1						1		
Debt securities - domestic government		1		_		_		1		
Assets from price risk management activities (1)(3):										
Electricity				9		1		10		
Natural gas				4				4		
	\$	12	\$	92	\$	1	\$	105		
Liabilities - Liabilities from price risk management activities (1)(3):										
Electricity	\$	_	\$	10	\$	117	\$	127		
Natural gas		_		40		23		63		
	\$		\$	50	\$	140	\$	190		

⁽¹⁾ Activities are subject to regulation, with certain gains and losses deferred pursuant to regulatory accounting and included in regulatory assets or regulatory liabilities as appropriate.

⁽²⁾ Excludes insurance policies of \$26 million, which are recorded at cash surrender value.

⁽³⁾ For further information, see Note 5, Price Risk Management.

	As of December 31, 2012							
	Lo	evel 1	L	evel 2	Le	evel 3	7	Total
Assets:								
Nuclear decommissioning trust (1):								
Money market funds	\$	_	\$	15	\$	_	\$	15
Debt securities:								
Domestic government		7		8				15
Corporate credit				8				8
Non-qualified benefit plan trust (2):								
Money market funds		_		2		_		2
Equity securities:								
Domestic		2		2				4
International		1				_		1
Debt securities - domestic government		2		_				2
Assets from price risk management activities (1)(3):								
Electricity				1				1
Natural gas		_		3		2		5
	\$	12	\$	39	\$	2	\$	53
Liabilities - Liabilities from price risk management activities (1)(3):								
Electricity	\$		\$	72	\$	10	\$	82
Natural gas		_		110		8		118
	\$		\$	182	\$	18	\$	200

Trust assets held in the Nuclear decommissioning and Non-qualified benefit plan trusts are recorded at fair value in PGE's consolidated balance sheets and invested in securities that are exposed to interest rate, credit and market volatility risks. These assets are classified within Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the following factors:

Money market funds —PGE invests in money market funds that seek to maintain a stable net asset value. These funds invest in high-quality, short-term, diversified money market instruments, short-term treasury bills, federal agency securities, certificates of deposits, and commercial paper. Money market funds are classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy as the securities are traded in active markets of similar securities but are not directly valued using quoted market prices.

Debt securities —PGE invests in highly-liquid United States treasury securities to support the investment objectives of the trusts. These domestic government securities are classified as Level 1 in the fair value hierarchy due to the availability of quoted prices for identical assets in an active market as of the reporting date.

Assets classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy include domestic government debt securities, such as municipal debt, and corporate credit securities. Prices are determined by evaluating pricing data such as broker quotes for similar securities and adjusted for observable differences. Significant inputs used in

⁽¹⁾ Activities are subject to regulation, with certain gains and losses deferred pursuant to regulatory accounting and included in regulatory assets or regulatory liabilities as appropriate.

⁽²⁾ Excludes insurance policies of \$23 million, which are recorded at cash surrender value.

⁽³⁾ For further information, see Note 5, Price Risk Management.

valuation models generally include benchmark yield and issuer spreads. The external credit rating, coupon rate, and maturity of each security are considered in the valuation as applicable.

Equity securities — Equity mutual fund and common stock securities are primarily classified as Level 1 in the fair value hierarchy due to the availability of quoted prices for identical assets in an active market as of the reporting date. Principal markets for equity prices include published exchanges such as NASDAQ and the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE). Certain mutual fund assets included in commingled trusts or separately managed accounts are classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy as pricing inputs are directly or indirectly observable in the marketplace.

Assets and liabilities from price risk management activities are recorded at fair value in PGE's consolidated balance sheets and consist of derivative instruments entered into by the Company to manage its exposure to commodity price risk and foreign currency exchange rate risk, and reduce volatility in net power costs for the Company's retail customers. For additional information regarding these assets and liabilities, see Note 5, Price Risk Management.

For those assets and liabilities from price risk management activities classified as Level 2, fair value is derived using present value formulas that utilize inputs such as forward commodity prices and interest rates. Substantially all of these inputs are observable in the marketplace throughout the full term of the instrument, can be derived from observable data, or are supported by observable levels at which transactions are executed in the marketplace. Instruments in this category include over-the-counter forwards, commodity futures and swaps.

Assets and liabilities from price risk management activities classified as Level 3 consist of instruments for which fair value is derived using one or more significant inputs that are not observable for the entire term of the instrument. These instruments consist of longer term swaps, forwards, and futures.

Quantitative information regarding the significant, unobservable inputs used in the measurement of Level 3 assets and liabilities from price risk management activities is presented below:

						Significant		Price per U		U <u>nit</u>		
		Fair	Valu	e	Valuation	Unobservable			W	eighted		
Commodity Contracts	A	ssets	Li	abilities	Technique	Input	Low	High	Average			
		(in m	illions	s)								
As of December 31, 2013:												
Electricity physical forward	\$	_	\$	103	Discounted cash flow	Electricity forward price (per MWh)	\$ 9.63	\$ 77.95	\$	40.18		
Natural gas financial swaps		_		23	Discounted cash flow	Natural gas forward price (per Dth)	3.16	4.49		3.71		
Electricity financial futures		1		14	Discounted cash flow	Electricity forward price (per MWh)	9.63	46.07		33.01		
	\$	1	\$	140								
As of December 31, 2012:												
Natural gas financial swaps	\$	2	\$	8	Discounted cash flow	Natural gas forward price (per Dth)	\$ 3.67	\$ 5.21	\$	4.28		
Electricity financial swaps		_		10	Discounted cash flow	Electricity forward price (per MWh)	7.12	51.72		41.14		
	\$	2	\$	18								

The significant unobservable inputs used in the Company's fair value measurement of price risk management assets and liabilities are long-term forward prices for commodity derivatives. For shorter term contracts, the Company uses internally-developed price curves that employ the mid-point of the market's bid-ask spread derived using observed transactions in active markets, as well as historical experience as a participant in those markets. These internally-developed price curves are validated against nonbinding quotes from brokers with whom the Company transacts. For certain longer term contracts, observable, liquid market transactions are not available for the duration of the delivery period. In such circumstances, the Company uses internally-developed price curves, which utilize observable data and regression techniques to derive future prices. In addition, changes in the fair value measurement of price risk management assets and liabilities are analyzed and reviewed on a monthly basis by the Company. This process includes analytical review of changes in commodity prices as well as procedures to analyze and identify the reasons for the changes over specific reporting periods.

The Company's Level 3 assets and liabilities from price risk management activities are sensitive to market price changes in the respective underlying commodities. The significance of the impact is dependent upon the magnitude of the price change and the Company's position as either the buyer or seller of the contract. Sensitivity of the fair value measurements to changes in the significant unobservable inputs is as follows:

Significant Unobservable Input	Position	Change to Input	Impact on Fair Value Measurement
Market price	Buy	Increase (decrease)	Gain (loss)
Market price	Sell	Increase (decrease)	Loss (gain)

Changes in the fair value of net liabilities from price risk management activities (net of assets from price risk management activities) classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy were as follows (in millions):

	Y	ears Ende 3	ed D 51,	ecember
		2013		2012
Net liabilities from price risk management activities as of beginning of year	\$	16	\$	79
Net realized and unrealized losses (1)		134		15
Purchases		_		(1)
Issuances		_		(1)
Settlements		(1)		_
Net transfers out of Level 3 to Level 2		(10)		(76)
Net liabilities from price risk management activities as of end of year	\$	139	\$	16
Level 3 net unrealized losses that have been fully offset by the effect of regulatory accounting	\$	133	\$	14

⁽¹⁾ Includes realized losses, net of \$1 million in 2013 and in 2012.

Transfers into Level 3 occur when significant inputs used to value the Company's derivative instruments become less observable, such as a delivery location becoming significantly less liquid. During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, there were no transfers into Level 3 from Level 2. Transfers out of Level 3 occur when the significant inputs become more observable, such as when the time between the valuation date and the delivery term of a transaction becomes shorter. PGE records transfers in and transfers out of Level 3 at the end of the reporting period for all of its financial instruments. Transfers from Level 2 to Level 1 for the Company's price risk management assets and liabilities do not occur as quoted prices are not available for identical instruments. As such, the Company's assets and liabilities from price risk management activities mature and settle as Level 2 fair value measurements.

Long-term debt is recorded at amortized cost in PGE's consolidated balance sheets. The fair value of long-term debt is classified as a Level 2 fair value measurement and is estimated based on the quoted market prices for the same or similar issues or on the current rates offered to PGE for debt of similar remaining maturities. As of December 31, 2013, the estimated aggregate fair value of PGE's long-term debt was \$2,074 million, compared to its \$1,916 million carrying amount. As of December 31, 2012, the estimated aggregate fair value of PGE's long-term debt was \$1,949 million, compared to its \$1,636 million carrying amount.

For fair value information concerning the Company's pension plan assets, see Note 10, Employee Benefits.

NOTE 5: PRICE RISK MANAGEMENT

PGE participates in the wholesale marketplace in order to balance its supply of power, which consists of its own generating resources combined with wholesale market transactions, to meet the needs of its retail customers, manage risk, and administer its existing long-term wholesale contracts. Such activities include fuel and power purchases and sales resulting from economic dispatch decisions for its own generation. As a result of this ongoing business activity, PGE is exposed to commodity price risk and foreign currency exchange rate risk, where adverse changes in prices and/or rates may affect the Company's financial position, performance, or cash flow.

PGE utilizes derivative instruments in its wholesale electric utility activities to manage its exposure to commodity price risk and foreign exchange rate risk in order to manage volatility in net power costs for its retail customers. These derivative instruments may include forward, futures, swap, and option contracts for electricity, natural gas, oil and foreign currency, which are recorded at fair value on the consolidated balance sheet, with changes in fair

value recorded in the statement of income. In accordance with ratemaking and cost recovery processes authorized by the OPUC, PGE recognizes a regulatory asset or liability to defer the gains and losses from derivative activity until settlement of the associated derivative instrument. PGE may designate certain derivative instruments as cash flow hedges or may use derivative instruments as economic hedges. PGE does not engage in trading activities for non-retail purposes.

PGE's Assets and Liabilities from price risk management activities consist of the following (in millions):

		As of December 31, 2013 9 4 13 1 — 1				
	2	013		2012		
Current assets:						
Commodity contracts:						
Electricity	\$	9	\$	1		
Natural gas		4		3		
Total current derivative assets		13 (1)		4 (1)		
Noncurrent assets:						
Commodity contracts:						
Electricity		1				
Natural gas	<u></u>			2		
Total noncurrent derivative assets		1		2		
Total derivative assets not designated as hedging instruments	\$	14 (2	\$	6 (2)		
Total derivative assets	\$	14	\$	6		
Current liabilities:						
Commodity contracts:						
Electricity	\$	20	\$	44		
Natural gas		29		83		
Total current derivative liabilities		49		127		
Noncurrent liabilities:						
Commodity contracts:						
Electricity		107		38		
Natural gas		34		35		
Total noncurrent derivative liabilities		141		73		
Total derivative liabilities not designated as hedging instruments	\$	190	\$	200		
Total derivative liabilities	\$	190	\$	200		

⁽¹⁾ Included in Other current assets on the consolidated balance sheets.

⁽²⁾ Included in Other noncurrent assets on the consolidated balance sheet.

PGE's net volumes related to its Assets and Liabilities from price risk management activities resulting from its derivative transactions, which are expected to deliver or settle at various dates through 2035, were as follows (in millions):

		As of	December :	31,			
	 ,	2013		2012			
Commodity contracts:							
Electricity	14	MWh		11	MWh		
Natural gas	106	Dth		86	Dth		
Foreign currency exchange	\$ 7	Canadian	\$	7	Canadian		

PGE has elected to report gross on the consolidated balance sheets the positive and negative exposures resulting from derivative instruments pursuant to agreements that meet the definition of a master netting arrangement. In the case of default on, or termination of, any contract under the master netting arrangements, these agreements provide for the net settlement of all related contractual obligations with a counterparty through a single payment. These types of transactions may include non-derivative instruments, derivatives qualifying for scope exceptions, receivables and payables arising from settled positions, and other forms of non-cash collateral, such as letters of credit, which are excluded from the offsetting table below.

Information related to price risk management liabilities subject to master netting agreements is as follows (in millions):

	G	ross		Gross		Net			s Not Offset in Consolidated		
	An	ounts	1	Amounts	A	Amounts	 Bala	nce	Sheets		
	Rec	ognized		Offset	P	resented	Derivatives		Cash Collateral (1)	No	et Amount
As of December 31, 2013:											
Liabilities:											
Commodity contracts:											
Electricity (2)	\$	91	\$	_	\$	91	\$ (91)	\$	_	\$	_
Natural gas (2)		1				1	 (1)		<u> </u>		_
	\$	92	\$		\$	92	\$ (92)	\$		\$	
As of December 31, 2012:											
Liabilities:											
Commodity contracts:											
Electricity (2)	\$	20	\$	_	\$	20	\$ (20)	\$	_	\$	_
Natural gas (2)		7				7	(7)		_		
	\$	27	\$		\$	27	\$ (27)	\$	_	\$	

⁽¹⁾ As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company had collateral posted of \$7 million and \$18 million, respectively, which consists entirely of letters of credit.

⁽²⁾ Included in Liabilities from price risk management activities—current and Liabilities from price risk management activities—noncurrent.

Net realized and unrealized losses on derivative transactions not designated as hedging instruments are classified in Purchased power and fuel in the consolidated statements of income and were as follows (in millions):

	Yea	rs En	ded Decemb	er 31,		
	 2013		2012		2011	
Commodity contracts:						
Electricity	\$ 78	\$	56	\$	117	
Natural Gas	28		19		98	
Foreign currency exchange	1					

Net unrealized losses and certain net realized losses presented in the table above are offset within the statement of income by the effects of regulatory accounting. Of the net loss recognized in net income for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, \$120 million, \$42 million, and \$192 million, respectively, have been offset.

Assuming no changes in market prices and interest rates, the following table indicates the year in which the net unrealized loss recorded as of December 31, 2013 related to PGE's derivative activities would be realized as a result of the settlement of the underlying derivative instrument (in millions):

	20	014	2	2015	2	2016	2017	2	2018	The	ereafter	7	Γotal
Commodity contracts:													
Electricity	\$	11	\$	26	\$	12	\$ 5	\$	5	\$	58	\$	117
Natural gas		25		10		14	10		_		_		59
Net unrealized loss	\$	36	\$	36	\$	26	\$ 15	\$	5	\$	58	\$	176

PGE's secured and unsecured debt is currently rated at investment grade by Moody's Investors Service (Moody's) and Standard & Poor's Ratings Services (S&P). Should Moody's and/or S&P reduce their rating on the Company's unsecured debt to below investment grade, PGE could be subject to requests by certain wholesale counterparties to post additional performance assurance collateral, in the form of cash or letters of credit, based on total portfolio positions with each of those counterparties and some other counterparties will have the right to terminate their agreements with the Company.

The aggregate fair value of all derivative instruments with credit-risk-related contingent features that were in a liability position as of December 31, 2013 was \$186 million, for which the Company had posted \$30 million in collateral, consisting primarily of letters of credit. If the credit-risk-related contingent features underlying these agreements were triggered at December 31, 2013, the cash requirement to either post as collateral or settle the instruments immediately would have been \$181 million. As of December 31, 2013, PGE had posted an additional \$9 million in cash collateral for derivative instruments with no credit-risk-related contingent features, which is classified as Margin deposits on the Company's consolidated balance sheet.

Counterparties representing 10% or more of Assets and Liabilities from price risk management activities were as follows:

	As of Decem	ber 31,
	2013	2012
Assets from price risk management activities:		
Counterparty A	53%	%
Counterparty B	5	21
Counterparty C	5	11
Counterparty D	4	13
Counterparty E	_	10
	67%	55%
Liabilities from price risk management activities:		
Counterparty F	43%	%
Counterparty G	11	_
Counterparty H	6	24
Counterparty I	5	10
Counterparty A	2	14
	67%	48%

For additional information concerning the determination of fair value for the Company's Assets and Liabilities from price risk management activities, see Note 4, Fair Value of Financial Instruments.

NOTE 6: REGULATORY ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The majority of PGE's regulatory assets and liabilities are reflected in customer prices and are amortized over the period in which they are reflected in customer prices. Items not currently reflected in prices are pending before the regulatory body as discussed below.

Regulatory assets and liabilities consist of the following (dollars in millions):

	Weighted					As of Dec	cember 31,					
	Average Remaining			20	013				2012			
	Life (1)	Cı	ırrent		Non	current	C	urrent	No	oncurrent		
Regulatory assets:												
Price risk management (2)	6 years	\$	36		\$	140	\$	123	\$	71		
Pension and other postretirement plans (2)	(3)					194		_		321		
Deferred income taxes (2)	(4)					76				80		
Deferred broker settlements (2)	1 year		12			1		20		1		
Debt issuance costs (2)	8 years					17				22		
Deferred capital projects	2 years		16			18		_		16		
Other (5)	Various		2			18		1		13		
Total regulatory assets		\$	66		\$	464	\$	144	\$	524		
Regulatory liabilities:												
Asset retirement removal costs (7)	(4)	\$	_		\$	747	\$		\$	692		
Trojan decommissioning activities	(6)					41				_		
Asset retirement obligations (7)	(4)		_			39		_		39		
Other	Various		1			38		12		34		
Total regulatory liabilities		\$	1	(8)	\$	865	\$	12 (8	\$	765		

⁽¹⁾ As of December 31, 2013.

As of December 31, 2013, PGE had regulatory assets of \$59 million earning a return on investment at the following rates: (i) \$34 million at PGE's cost of debt of 6.065%; (ii) \$15 million earning a return by inclusion in rate base; (iii) \$9 million at the approved rate for deferred accounts under amortization, ranging from 1.38% to 2.24%, depending on the year of approval; and (iv) \$1 million at PGE's cost of capital of 8.033%.

Price risk management represents the difference between the net unrealized losses recognized on derivative instruments related to price risk management activities and their realization and subsequent recovery in customer prices. For further information regarding assets and liabilities from price risk management activities, see Note 5, Price Risk Management.

⁽²⁾ Does not include a return on investment.

⁽³⁾ Recovery expected over the average service life of employees. For additional information, see Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.

⁽⁴⁾ Recovery expected over the estimated lives of the assets.

⁽⁵⁾ Of the total other unamortized regulatory asset balances, a return is recorded on \$16 million and \$15 million as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

⁽⁶⁾ Refund period not yet determined.

⁽⁷⁾ Included in rate base for ratemaking purposes.

⁽⁸⁾ Included in Accrued expenses and other current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets.

Pension and other postretirement plans represents unrecognized components of the benefit plans' funded status, which are recoverable in customer prices when recognized in net periodic benefit cost. For further information, see Note 10, Employee Benefits.

Deferred income taxes represents income tax benefits resulting from property-related timing differences that previously flowed to customers and will be included in customer prices when the temporary differences reverse. For further information, see Note 11, Income Taxes.

Deferred broker settlements consist of transactions that have been financially settled by clearing brokers prior to the contract delivery date. These gains and losses are deferred for future recovery in customer prices during the corresponding contract settlement month.

Debt issuance costs represents unrecognized debt issuance costs related to debt instruments retired prior to the stipulated maturity date.

Deferred capital projects represents costs related to four capital projects that were deferred for future accounting treatment pursuant to the Company's 2011 General Rate Case. The recovery of these project costs in future customer prices is subject to a regulated earnings test and approval by the OPUC.

Asset retirement removal costs represent the costs that do not qualify as AROs and are a component of depreciation expense allowed in customer prices. Such costs are recorded as a regulatory liability as they are collected in prices, and are reduced by actual removal costs incurred.

Trojan decommissioning activities represent a \$44 million settlement for the reimbursement of certain monitoring costs incurred related to spent nuclear fuel at the Company's Trojan nuclear power plant (Trojan). The proceeds will benefit customers in future regulatory proceedings and offset amounts previously collected from customers in relation to Trojan decommissioning activities.

Asset retirement obligations represent the difference in the timing of recognition of (i) the amounts recognized for depreciation expense of the asset retirement costs and accretion of the ARO, and (ii) the amount recovered in customer prices.

NOTE 7: ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS

AROs consist of the following (in millions):

	As of Dec	cember 31	nber 31,		
	 013	2	012		
Trojan decommissioning activities	\$ 41	\$	42		
Utility plant	49		39		
Non-utility property	10		13		
Asset retirement obligations	\$ 100	\$	94		

Trojan decommissioning activities represents the present value of future decommissioning expenditures for the plant, which ceased operation in 1993. The remaining decommissioning activities primarily consist of the long-term operation and decommissioning of the ISFSI, an interim dry storage facility that is licensed by the Nuclear Regulatory Commission. The ISFSI is to house the spent nuclear fuel at the former plant site until an off-site storage facility is available. Decommissioning of the ISFSI and final site restoration activities will begin once shipment of all the spent fuel to a United States Department of Energy (USDOE) facility is complete, which is not expected prior to 2033.

In 2004, the co-owners of Trojan (PGE, Eugene Water & Electric Board, and PacifiCorp, collectively referred to as Plaintiffs) filed a complaint against the USDOE for failure to accept spent nuclear fuel by January 31, 1998. PGE had contracted with the USDOE for the permanent disposal of spent nuclear fuel in order to allow the final decommissioning of Trojan. The Plaintiffs paid for permanent disposal services during the period of plant operation and have met all other conditions precedent. The Plaintiffs were seeking approximately \$112 million in damages incurred through 2009.

A trial before the U.S. Court of Federal Claims concluded in early 2012, and on November 30, 2012, the U.S. Court of Federal Claims issued a judgment awarding certain damages to the Plaintiffs. The judgment did not state the precise amount of the damages award, but directed the parties to consult and propose a final amount for the Plaintiffs' recovery that was based on certain adjustments specified in the court's ruling. In July 2013, the parties reached a settlement wherein the Trojan co-owners were to receive approximately \$70 million for the period through 2009. PGE's share, approximately \$44 million, was received during the third quarter 2013 and deposited into the Nuclear decommissioning trust. The proceeds received related to this legal matter will flow to the benefit of customers in future regulatory proceedings to offset amounts previously collected from customers in relation to Trojan decommissioning activities. The Trojan ARO is not impacted by the outcome of this case as such recovery is for past decommissioning costs and the ARO reflects only future decommissioning expenditures.

The settlement agreement also provided for a process to submit claims for allowable costs for the period 2010 through 2013. In January 2014, the settlement agreement was extended to cover costs through 2016. The Company will seek recovery of any costs for subsequent periods in future extensions of the agreement.

In October 2013, the Trojan co-owners submitted a claim for \$9 million related to 2010 through 2012 costs, with PGE's share approximating \$6 million. The Company expects to receive payment for the submitted claim in mid-2014.

Utility plant represents AROs that have been recognized for the Company's thermal and wind generation sites, distribution and transmission assets where disposal is governed by environmental regulation.

During 2011, an updated decommissioning study for PGE's Boardman coal-fired generating plant (Boardman) was completed, which included the assumption that Boardman's coal-fired operations cease in 2020 rather than 2040. As a result of the study, PGE increased its ARO related to Boardman by approximately \$20 million, with a corresponding increase in the cost basis of the plant, included in Electric utility plant, net on the consolidated balance sheet. Such transaction is non-cash and is excluded from investing activities in the consolidated statement cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2011. Furthermore, in December 2013, PGE increased the ARO by \$4 million related to the acquisition of an additional 15% interest in Boardman.

Non-utility property primarily represents AROs which have been recognized for portions of unregulated properties leased to third parties.

The following is a summary of the changes in the Company's AROs (in millions):

	Years Ended December 31,						
		2013	2	2012		2011	
Balance as of beginning of year	\$	94	\$	87	\$	64	
Liabilities incurred		4		_		1	
Liabilities settled		(4)		(3)		(4)	
Accretion expense		6		6		4	
Revisions in estimated cash flows		_		4		22	
Balance as of end of year	\$	100	\$	94	\$	87	

Pursuant to regulation, the amortization of utility plant AROs is included in depreciation expense and in customer prices. Any differences in the timing of recognition of costs for financial reporting and ratemaking purposes are deferred as a regulatory asset or regulatory liability. Recovery of Trojan decommissioning costs is included in PGE's retail prices, currently at approximately \$4 million annually, with an equal amount recorded in Depreciation and amortization expense.

PGE maintains a separate trust account, Nuclear decommissioning trust in the consolidated balance sheet, for funds collected from customers through prices to cover the cost of Trojan decommissioning activities. See "*Trust Accounts*" in Note 3, Balance Sheet Components, for additional information on the Nuclear decommissioning trust.

The Oak Grove hydro facility and transmission and distribution plant located on public right-of-ways and on certain easements meet the requirements of a legal obligation and will require removal when the plant is no longer in service. An ARO liability is not currently measurable as management believes that these assets will be used in utility operations for the foreseeable future. Removal costs are charged to accumulated asset retirement removal costs, which is included in Regulatory liabilities on PGE's consolidated balance sheets.

NOTE 8: CREDIT FACILITIES

PGE has credit facilities with an aggregate capacity of \$700 million as follows:

- A \$400 million syndicated unsecured revolving credit facility, which is scheduled to terminate in November 2018; and
- A \$300 million syndicated unsecured revolving credit facility, which is scheduled to terminate in December 2017.

Pursuant to the terms of the agreements, both revolving credit facilities may be used for general corporate purposes and as backup for commercial paper borrowings, and also permit the issuance of standby letters of credit. PGE may borrow for one, two, three, or six months at a fixed interest rate established at the time of the borrowing, or at a variable interest rate for any period up to the then remaining term of the applicable credit facility. Both revolving credit facilities contain two, one-year extensions subject to approval by the banks, require annual fees based on PGE's unsecured credit ratings, and contain customary covenants and default provisions, including a requirement that limits consolidated indebtedness, as defined in the agreement, to 65.0% of total capitalization. As of December 31, 2013, PGE was in compliance with this covenant with a 51.3% debt to total capital ratio.

PGE classifies any borrowings under the revolving credit facilities and outstanding commercial paper as Short-term debt in the consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31, 2013, PGE had no borrowings or commercial paper outstanding, \$37 million of letters of credit issued, and an aggregate available capacity of \$663 million under the revolving credit facilities.

PGE also has two one-year \$30 million letter of credit facilities, which are scheduled to terminate in September and October 2014. As of December 31, 2013, PGE had issued an additional \$37 million of letters of credit under the facilities, with an aggregate available capacity of \$23 million under these facilities.

The Company has a commercial paper program under which it may issue commercial paper for terms of up to 270 days, limited to the unused amount of credit under the credit facilities.

Pursuant to an order issued by the FERC, the Company is authorized to issue short-term debt up to \$900 million through February 6, 2016. The authorization provides that if utility assets financed by unsecured debt are divested, then a proportionate share of the unsecured debt must also be divested.

Short-term borrowings under these credit facilities and related interest rates were as follows (dollars in millions):

	Years Ended December 31,						
		2013		2012		2011	
Average daily amount of short-term debt outstanding	\$	9	\$	4	\$	2	
Weighted daily average interest rate *		0.4%		0.4%		0.4%	
Maximum amount outstanding during the year	\$	54	\$	44	\$	44	

Excludes the effect of commitment fees, facility fees and other financing fees.

NOTE 9: LONG-TERM DEBT

Long-term debt consists of the following (in millions):

	As of December 31,			
	<u> </u>	2013	2012	
First Mortgage Bonds , rates range from 3.46% to 9.31%, with a weighted average rate of 5.62% in 2013 and 5.84% in 2012, due at various dates through 2048	\$	1,795	\$	1,515
Pollution Control Revenue Bonds, 5% rate, due 2033		148		142
Pollution Control Revenue Bonds owned by PGE		(27)		(21)
Total long-term debt		1,916		1,636
Less: current portion of long-term debt		_		(100)
Long-term debt, net of current portion	\$	1,916	\$	1,536

First Mortgage Bonds —During 2013, PGE repaid a total of \$100 million of First Mortgage Bonds (FMBs), in accordance with the terms of the debt agreements, and issued a total of \$380 million of FMBs, consisting of the following:

- In December, issued \$50 million of 4.84% Series FMBs due 2048;
- In November, issued \$105 million of 4.74% Series FMBs due 2042;
- In August, repaid \$50 million of 5.625% Series FMBs and issued \$75 million of 4.47% Series FMBs due 2043;
- In June, issued \$150 million of 4.47% Series FMBs due 2044; and
- In April, repaid \$50 million of 4.45% Series FMBs.

The Indenture securing PGE's outstanding FMBs constitutes a direct first mortgage lien on substantially all regulated utility property, other than expressly excepted property.

Pollution Control Revenue Bonds —Of the \$27 million of Pollution Control Bonds held by the Company, PGE has the option to remarket \$21 million through 2033. The Company retired \$6 million of Pollution Control Bonds in January 2014. At the time of any remarketing, PGE can choose a new interest rate period that could be daily, weekly, or a fixed term. The new interest rate would be based on market conditions at the time of remarketing. The Pollution Control Revenue Bonds could be backed by FMBs or a bank letter of credit depending on market conditions.

As of December 31, 2013, the future minimum principal payments on long-term debt are as follows (in millions):

Years ending December 31:

8	
2015	\$ 70
2016	67
2017	58
2018	75
Thereafter	1,646
	\$ 1,916

Interest is payable semi-annually on all long-term debt instruments.

NOTE 10: EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Pension and Other Postretirement Plans

Defined Benefit Pension Plan—PGE sponsors a non-contributory defined benefit pension plan. The plan has been closed to most new employees since January 31, 2009 and to all new employees since January 1, 2012. No changes were made to the benefits provided to existing participants when the plan was closed to new employees.

The assets of the pension plan are held in a trust and are comprised of equity and debt instruments, all of which are recorded at fair value. Pension plan calculations include several assumptions which are reviewed annually and are updated as appropriate, with the measurement date of December 31.

PGE made no contributions to the pension plan in 2013 and 2012, and contributed \$26 million to the plan in 2011. No contributions to the pension plan are expected in 2014.

Other Postretirement Benefits— PGE has non-contributory postretirement health and life insurance plans, as well as Health Reimbursement Accounts (HRAs) for its employees (collectively "Other Postretirement Benefits" in the following tables). Employees are covered under a Defined Dollar Medical Benefit Plan which limits PGE's obligation pursuant to the postretirement health plan by establishing a maximum benefit per employee with employees paying the additional cost.

The assets of these plans are held in voluntary employees' beneficiary association trusts and are comprised of money market funds, common stocks, common and collective trust funds, partnerships/joint ventures, and registered investment companies, all of which are recorded at fair value. Postretirement health and life insurance benefit plan calculations include several assumptions which are reviewed annually with PGE's consulting actuaries and trust investment consultants and updated as appropriate, with measurement dates of December 31.

Contributions to the HRAs provide for claims by retirees for qualified medical costs. For bargaining employees, the participants' accounts are credited with 58% of the value of the employee's accumulated sick time as of April 30, 2004, a stated amount per compensable hour worked, plus 100% of their earned time off accumulated at the time of retirement. For active non-bargaining employees, the Company grants a fixed dollar amount that will become available for qualified medical expenses upon their retirement.

Non-Qualified Benefit Plans — The non-qualified benefit plans (NQBP) in the following tables include obligations for a Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, and a directors pension plan, both of which were closed to new participants in 1997. The NQBP also include pension make-up benefits for employees that participate in the unfunded Management Deferred Compensation Plan (MDCP). Investments in a non-qualified benefit plan trust, consisting of trust-owned life insurance policies and marketable securities, provide funding for the future requirements of these plans. These trust assets are included in the accompanying tables for informational purposes only and are not considered segregated and restricted under current accounting standards. The investments in marketable securities, consisting of money market, bond, and equity mutual funds, are classified as trading and recorded at fair value. The measurement date for the non-qualified benefit plans is December 31.

Other NQBP —In addition to the non-qualified benefit plans discussed above, PGE provides certain employees and outside directors with deferred compensation plans, whereby participants may defer a portion of their earned compensation. These unfunded plans include the MDCP and the Outside Directors' Deferred Compensation Plan. PGE holds investments in a non-qualified benefit plan trust which are intended to be a funding source for these plans.

Trust assets and plan liabilities related to the NQBP included in PGE's consolidated balance sheets are as follows as of December 31 (in millions):

		2013			2012							
	N	Other NQBP NQBP To		otal	NQBP		Other NQBP		Total			
Non-qualified benefit plan trust	\$	16	\$	19	\$	35	\$	15	\$	17	\$	32
Non-qualified benefit plan liabilities *		22		79		101		25		77		102

^{*} For the NQBP, excludes the current portion of \$2 million in 2013 and 2012, which is classified in Other current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.

See "Trust Accounts" in Note 3, Balance Sheet Components, for information on the Non-qualified benefit plan trust.

Investment Policy and Asset Allocation —The Board of Directors of PGE appoints an Investment Committee, which is comprised of officers of the Company. In addition, the Board also establishes the Company's asset allocation. The Investment Committee is then responsible for implementation and oversight of the asset allocation. The Company's investment policy for its pension and other postretirement plans is to balance risk and return through a diversified portfolio of equity securities, fixed income securities and other alternative investments. The commitments to each class are controlled by an asset deployment and cash management strategy that takes profits from asset classes whose allocations have shifted above their target ranges to fund benefit payments and investments in asset classes whose allocations have shifted below their target ranges.

The asset allocations for the plans, and the target allocation, are as follows:

		As of December 31,						
	203	13	2012					
	Actual	Actual Target *		Target *				
Defined Benefit Pension Plan:								
Equity securities	67%	67%	68%	67%				
Debt securities	33	33	32	33				
Total	100%	100%	100%	100%				
Other Postretirement Benefit Plans:								
Equity securities	58%	58%	63%	72%				
Debt securities	42	42	37	28				
Total	100%	100%	100%	100%				
Non-Qualified Benefits Plans:								
Equity securities	24%	16%	17%	17%				
Debt securities	1	9	6	10				
Insurance contracts	75	75	77	73				
Total	100%	100%	100%	100%				

^{*} The target for the Defined Benefit Pension Plan represents the mid-point of the investment target range. Due to the nature of the investment vehicles in both the Other Postretirement Benefit Plans and the Non-Qualified Benefit Plans, these targets are the weighted average of the mid-point of the respective investment target ranges approved by the Investment Committee. Due to the method used to calculate the weighted average targets for the Other Postretirement Benefit Plans and Non-Qualified Benefit Plans, reported percentages are affected by the fair market values of the investments within the pools.

The Company's overall investment strategy is to meet the goals and objectives of the individual plans through a wide diversification of asset types, fund strategies, and fund managers. Equity securities primarily include investments across the capitalization ranges and style biases, both domestically and internationally. Fixed income securities include, but are not limited to, corporate bonds of companies from diversified industries, mortgage-backed securities, and U.S. Treasuries. Other types of investments include investments in hedge funds and private equity funds that follow several different strategies.

The fair values of the Company's pension plan assets and other postretirement benefit plan assets by asset category are as follows (in millions):

	\mathbf{L}	evel 1]	Level 2	Level 3	Total
As of December 31, 2013:						
Defined Benefit Pension Plan assets:						
Equity securities:						
Domestic	\$	166	\$	19	\$ _	\$ 185
International		185		_	_	185
Debt securities:						
Domestic government and corporate credit		_		181	_	181
Corporate credit		14		_	_	14
Private equity funds				_	31	31
	\$	365	\$	200	\$ 31	\$ 596
Other Postretirement Benefit Plans assets:					 	
Money market funds	\$	_	\$	10	\$ _	\$ 10
Equity securities:						
Domestic		8		2	_	10
International		9		_	_	9
Debt securities—Domestic government		3		_	_	3
	\$	20	\$	12	\$ _	\$ 32
As of December 31, 2012:				-		
Defined Benefit Pension Plan assets:						
Money market funds	\$	_	\$	1	\$ _	\$ 1
Equity securities:						
Domestic		150		15	_	165
International		166		_	_	166
Debt securities:						
Domestic government and corporate credit		_		165	_	165
Corporate credit		8		_	_	8
Private equity funds				_	32	32
	\$	324	\$	181	\$ 32	\$ 537
Other Postretirement Benefit Plans assets:						
Money market funds	\$		\$	8	\$ _	\$ 8
Equity securities:						
Domestic		8		1	_	9
International		8		_	_	8
Debt securities—Domestic government		3		_	_	3
	\$	19	\$	9	\$ 	\$ 28

An overview of the identification of Level 1, 2, and 3 financial instruments is provided in Note 4, Fair Value of Financial Instruments. The following methods are used in valuation of each asset class of investments held in the pension and other postretirement benefit plan trusts.

Money market funds— PGE invests in money market funds that seek to maintain a stable net asset value. These funds invest in high-quality, short-term, diversified money market instruments, short term treasury bills, federal agency securities, certificates of deposit, and commercial paper. Money market funds held in the trusts are classified as Level 2 instruments as they are traded in an active market of similar securities but are not directly valued using quoted prices.

Equity securities— Equity mutual fund and common stock securities are primarily classified as Level 1 securities based on unadjusted prices in an active market. Principal markets for equity prices include published exchanges such as NASDAQ and NYSE. Certain mutual fund assets included in commingled trusts or separately managed accounts are classified as Level 2 securities due to pricing inputs that are not directly or indirectly observable in the marketplace.

Debt securities— PGE invests in highly-liquid United States treasury and corporate credit mutual fund securities to support the investment objectives of the trusts. These securities are classified as Level 1 instruments due to the highly observable nature of pricing in an active market.

Fair values for Level 2 debt securities, including municipal debt and corporate credit securities, mortgage-backed securities and asset-backed securities are determined by evaluating pricing data, such as broker quotes, for similar securities adjusted for observable differences. Significant inputs used in valuation models generally include benchmark yield and issuer spreads. The external credit rating, coupon rate, and maturity of each security are considered in the valuation if applicable.

Private equity funds— PGE invests in a combination of primary and secondary fund-of-funds which hold ownership positions in privately held companies across the major domestic and international private equity sectors, including but not limited to, venture capital, buyout and special situations. Private equity investments are classified as Level 3 securities due to fund valuation methodologies that utilize discounted cash flow, market comparable and limited secondary market pricing to develop estimates of fund valuation. PGE valuation of individual fund performance compares stated fund performance against published benchmarks.

Changes in the fair value of assets held by the pension plan classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy were as follows (in millions):

			Y	ears End	ded De	cember 31,	
	2	013				2012	
		ivate y funds		ivate y funds		ternative estments	Total
Level 3 balance as of beginning of year	\$	32	\$	32	\$	30	\$ 62
Unrealized gains (losses), net		4		2		(6)	(4)
Realized gains (losses), net		(2)		(1)		6	5
Sales, net		(3)		(1)		(30)	(31)
Level 3 balance as of end of year	\$	31	\$	32	\$	_	\$ 32

The following tables provide certain information with respect to the Company's defined benefit pension plan, other postretirement benefits, and non-qualified benefit plans as of and for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012. Information related to the Other NQBP is not included in the following tables (dollars in millions):

Defined Benefit Pension Plan				Other Postretirement Benefits				Non-Qualified Benefit Plans			
	2013		2012		2013		2012		2013		2012
\$	728	\$	634	\$	84	\$	75	\$	27	\$	27
	17		14		2		2				_
	30		31		3		3		1		1
	_		_		2		2				_
	(38)		77		(9)		7		(2)		1
	_		_		1		1				—
	(32)		(28)		(6)		(6)		(2)		(2)
\$	705	\$	728	\$	77	\$	84	\$	24	\$	27
						-					
\$	537	\$	487	\$	28	\$	27	\$	15	\$	17
	91		78		5		3		3		_
	_		_		3		2				_
					2		2				_
	(32)		(28)		(6)		(6)		(2)		(2)
\$	596	\$	537	\$	32	\$	28	\$	16	\$	15
\$	(109)	\$	(191)	\$	(45)	\$	(56)	\$	(8)	\$	(12)
\$	631	\$	640		N/A		N/A	\$	24	\$	27
\$		\$		\$		\$		\$	16	\$	15
	_		_		_		_		(2)		(2)
	(109)		(191)		(45)		(56)		(22)		(25)
\$	(109)	\$	(191)	\$	(45)	\$	(56)	\$	(8)	\$	(12)
\$	(89)	\$	40	\$	(11)	\$	5	\$	(1)	\$	2
	(24)		(17)		(1)		(1)		(1)		(1)
	_		_		(1)		(1)		_		_
\$	(113)	\$	23	\$	(13)	\$	3	\$	(2)	\$	1
\$	186	\$	298	\$	6	\$	18	\$	9	\$	11
	_		1		2		4		_		_
	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$	\$ 728 17 30 (38) (32) \$ 705 \$ 537 91 (32) \$ 596 \$ (109) \$ (109) \$ (109) \$ (109) \$ (109) \$ (24) \$ (113)	Plan 2013 ** \$ 728 \$ 17 30	Plan 2013 2012 \$ 728 \$ 634 17 14 30 31 — — (38) 77 — — (32) (28) \$ 705 \$ 728 \$ 537 \$ 487 91 78 — — — — (32) (28) \$ 596 \$ 537 \$ (109) \$ (191) \$ 631 \$ 640 \$ (109) \$ (191) \$ (109) \$ (191) \$ (109) \$ (191) \$ (109) \$ (191) \$ (109) \$ (191) \$ (109) \$ (191) \$ (109) \$ (191) \$ (109) \$ (191) \$ (109) \$ (191) \$ (24) (17) — — \$ (113) \$ 23	Plan 2013 2012 \$ 728 \$ 634 \$ 17 14 30 31 ————————————————————————————————————	Plan Ben 2013 2012 2013 \$ 728 \$ 634 \$ 84 17 14 2 30 31 3 — — 2 (38) 77 (9) — — 1 (32) (28) (6) \$ 705 \$ 728 \$ 77 \$ 537 \$ 487 \$ 28 91 78 5 — — 2 (32) (28) (6) \$ 596 \$ 537 \$ 32 \$ (109) \$ (191) \$ (45) \$ 631 \$ 640 N/A \$ - — — (109) (191) (45) \$ (109) \$ (191) \$ (45) \$ (109) \$ (191) \$ (45) \$ (109) \$ (191) \$ (45)	Plan Benefits 2013 2012 2013 \$ 728 \$ 634 \$ 84 \$ 17 17 14 2 30 31 3 — — 2 (38) 77 (9) — — 1 (32) (28) (6) \$ 705 \$ 728 \$ 77 \$ \$ 537 \$ 487 \$ 28 \$ 91 78 5 — — 2 (32) (28) (6) \$ 596 \$ 537 \$ 32 \$ \$ (109) \$ (191) \$ (45) \$ \$ 631 \$ 640 N/A \$ \$ (109) \$ (191) \$ (45) \$ \$ (109) \$ (191) \$ (45) \$ \$ (109) \$ (191) \$ (45) \$ \$ (109) \$ (191) \$ (45) \$ \$ (109) \$ (111) \$ (111) \$	Plan Benefits 2013 2012 2013 2012 \$ 728 \$ 634 \$ 84 \$ 75 17 14 2 2 30 31 3 3 — — 2 2 (38) 77 (9) 7 — — 1 1 (32) (28) (6) (6) \$ 705 \$ 728 77 \$ 84 \$ 537 \$ 487 \$ 28 \$ 27 91 78 5 3 — — 2 2 (32) (28) (6) (6) \$ 596 \$ 537 \$ 32 \$ 28 \$ (109) \$ (191) \$ (45) \$ (56) \$ 631 \$ 640 N/A N/A \$ (109) \$ (191) \$ (45) \$ (56) \$ (109) \$ (191) \$ (45) \$ (56) \$ (109) \$ (11) <	Plan Benefits 2013 2012 2013 2012 \$ 728 \$ 634 \$ 84 \$ 75 \$ 17 14 2 2 30 31 3 3 — — 2 2 (38) 77 (9) 7 — — 1 1 (32) (28) (6) (6) \$ 705 \$ 728 \$ 77 \$ 84 \$ \$ 91 78 5 3 2 — — — 2 2 (32) (28) (6) (6) (6) \$ 537 \$ 32 \$ 28 \$ \$ (109) \$ (191) \$ (45) \$ (56) \$ \$ (109) \$ (191) \$ (45) \$ (56) \$ \$ (109) \$ (191) \$ (45) \$ (56) \$ \$ (109) \$ (191) \$ (45) \$ (56) \$	Plan Benefits Benefit 2013 2012 2013 2012 \$ 728 \$ 634 \$ 84 \$ 75 \$ 27 17 14 2 2 — 30 31 3 3 1 — — 2 2 — (38) 77 (9) 7 (2) — — 1 1 — (32) (28) (6) (6) (6) (2) \$ 705 \$ 728 \$ 77 \$ 84 \$ 24 \$ 537 \$ 487 \$ 28 \$ 27 \$ 15 91 78 5 3 3 — — 3 2 — (32) (28) (6) (6) (6) (2) \$ 596 \$ 537 \$ 32 \$ 28 \$ 16 \$ (109) (191) (45) \$ (56) (8) \$ — — <td>Plan Benefit Benefit Plan 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 \$ 728 \$ 634 \$ 84 \$ 75 \$ 27 \$ 17 \$ 17 \$ 14 2 2 — — \$ 30 \$ 31 3 3 1 —</td>	Plan Benefit Benefit Plan 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 \$ 728 \$ 634 \$ 84 \$ 75 \$ 27 \$ 17 \$ 17 \$ 14 2 2 — — \$ 30 \$ 31 3 3 1 —

		Defined Benefit Pension Plan		etirement its	Non-Qualified Benefit Plans		
	2013	2012	2013	2012	2013	2012	
Assumptions used:	_						
Discount rate for benefit obligation	4.84%	4.24%	3.46% -	2.77% -	4.84%	4.24%	
			4.96%	4.13%			
Discount rate for benefit cost	4.24%	5.00%	2.77% -	3.76% -	4.24%	5.00%	
			4.13%	4.90%			
Weighted average rate of compensation increase for benefit	2.550/	2.650/	4.500/	4.500/	N /A	27/4	
obligation	3.65%	3.65%	4.58%	4.58%	N/A	N/A	
Weighted average rate of compensation increase for benefit cost	3.65%	3.71%	4.58%	4.58%	N/A	N/A	
Long-term rate of return on plan assets for benefit obligation	7.50%	8.25%	6.46%	6.50%	N/A	N/A	
Long-term rate of return on plan assets for benefit cost	8.25%	8.25%	5.89%	7.09%	N/A	N/A	

^{*} Amounts included in AOCL related to the Company's defined benefit pension plan and other postretirement benefits are transferred to Regulatory assets due to the future recoverability from retail customers. Accordingly, as of the balance sheet date, such amounts are included in Regulatory assets.

Net periodic benefit cost consists of the following for the years ended December 31 (in millions):

	Defined Benefit Pension Plan			Other Postretirement Benefits				Non-Qualified Benefit Plans										
	2	013	2	2012	2	011	2	013	2	012	20	011	2	013	2	012	2	011
Service cost	\$	17	\$	14	\$	12	\$	2	\$	2	\$	2	\$		\$		\$	
Interest cost on benefit obligation		30		31		29		3		3		4		1		1		1
Expected return on plan assets		(40)		(41)		(42)		(1)		(1)		(1)		_		—		
Amortization of prior service cost				_		1		1		1		1						_
Amortization of net actuarial loss		24		17		8		1		1		1		1		1		1
Net periodic benefit cost	\$	31	\$	21	\$	8	\$	6	\$	6	\$	7	\$	2	\$	2	\$	2

PGE estimates that \$20 million will be amortized from AOCL into net periodic benefit cost in 2014, consisting of a net actuarial loss of \$17 million for pension benefits, \$1 million for non-qualified benefits and \$1 million for other postretirement benefits, and prior service cost of \$1 million for other postretirement benefits.

The following table summarizes the benefits expected to be paid to participants in each of the next five years and in the aggregate for the five years thereafter (in millions):

						Pay	ments]	Due				
	2	014	2	2015	2	2016	2	017	2	018	201	9 - 2023
Defined benefit pension plan	\$	34	\$	36	\$	37	\$	39	\$	40	\$	219
Other postretirement benefits		5		5		5		5		5		26
Non-qualified benefit plans		2		2		2		2		2		10
Total	\$	41	\$	43	\$	44	\$	46	\$	47	\$	255

All of the plans develop expected long-term rates of return for the major asset classes using long-term historical returns, with adjustments based on current levels and forecasts of inflation, interest rates, and economic growth. Also included are incremental rates of return provided by investment managers whose returns are expected to be greater than the markets in which they invest.

For measurement purposes, the assumed health care cost trend rates, which can affect amounts reported for the health care plans, were as follows:

- For 2013, 7.5% annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered health care benefits was assumed for 2014, and assumed to decrease 0.5% per year thereafter, reaching 5% in 2019;
- For 2012, 8% annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered health care benefits was assumed for 2013, and assumed to decrease 0.5% per year thereafter, reaching 5% in 2019; and
- For 2011, 8% annual rate of increase in the per capita cost of covered health care benefits was assumed for 2012 through 2013, and assumed to decrease 0.5% per year thereafter, reaching 5% in 2019.

A one percentage point increase or decrease in the above health care cost assumption would have no material impact on total service or interest cost, or on the postretirement benefit obligation.

401(k) Retirement Savings Plan

PGE sponsors a 401(k) Plan that covers substantially all employees. For eligible employees who are covered by PGE's defined benefit pension plan, the Company matches employee contributions up to 6% of the employee's base pay. For eligible employees who are not covered by PGE's defined benefit pension plan, the Company contributes 5% of the employee's base salary, whether or not the employee contributes to the 401(k) Plan, and also matches employee contributions up to 5% of the employee's base pay.

For bargaining employees, who are subject to the International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers Local 125 agreements, the Company contributes 1% of the employee's base salary, whether or not the employee contributes to the 401(k) Plan.

All contributions are invested in accordance with employees' elections, limited to investment options available under the 401(k) Plan. PGE made contributions to employee accounts of \$16 million in 2013, 2012, and 2011.

NOTE 11: INCOME TAXES

Income tax expense consists of the following (in millions):

	Years Ended December 31,						
	2	013	2	012		2011	
Current:							
Federal	\$	10	\$	16	\$	2	
State and local				1		_	
		10		17		2	
Deferred:							
Federal		4		30		43	
State and local		7		17		13	
		11		47		56	
Income tax expense	\$	21	\$	64	\$	58	

The significant differences between the U.S. federal statutory rate and PGE's effective tax rate for financial reporting purposes are as follows:

	Years Ended December 31,					
	2013	2012	2011			
Federal statutory tax rate	35.0 %	35.0 %	35.0 %			
Federal tax credits	(21.8)	(11.8)	(12.7)			
State and local taxes, net of federal tax benefit	3.4	3.5	2.6			
Adjustment to deferred taxes for change in blended composite state tax rate	_	2.6	_			
Flow through depreciation and cost basis differences	2.8	2.4	2.1			
Other	(2.6)	(0.6)	1.3			
Effective tax rate	16.8 %	31.1 %	28.3 %			

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities consist of the following (in millions):

	As of December 31,		
	 2013		2012
Deferred income tax assets:			
Employee benefits	\$ 122	\$	162
Price risk management	71		77
Tax credits	51		55
Regulatory liabilities	16		20
Other	17		_
Total deferred income tax assets	277		314
Deferred income tax liabilities:			
Depreciation and amortization	646		623
Regulatory assets	175		224
Other	_		4
Total deferred income tax liabilities	 821		851
Deferred income tax liability, net	\$ (544)	\$	(537)
Classification of net deferred income taxes:			
Current deferred income tax asset (1)	\$ 42	\$	51
Noncurrent deferred income tax liability	(586)		(588)
	\$ (544)	\$	(537)

⁽¹⁾ Included in Other current assets in the consolidated balance sheets.

As of December 31, 2013, PGE has federal and state tax credit carryforwards of \$40 million and \$11 million , respectively, which will expire at various dates from 2016 through 2035 .

PGE believes that it is more likely than not that its deferred income tax assets as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 will be realized; accordingly, no valuation allowance has been recorded. During the year ended December 31, 2011, the valuation allowance decreased \$2 million as a result of the expiration of unused state credits.

As of December 31, 2013 and 2012, PGE had no unrecognized tax benefits. During 2011, an unrecognized tax benefit of \$2 million was recognized as a result of filing for a federal tax accounting method change.

PGE and its subsidiaries file consolidated federal income tax returns. The Company also files state income tax returns in certain jurisdictions, including Oregon, California, Montana, and certain local jurisdictions. The Internal Revenue Service (IRS) has completed its examination of all tax years through 2010 and all issues were resolved related to those years. The Company does not believe that any open tax years for federal or state income taxes could result in any adjustments that would be significant to the consolidated financial statements.

On September 13, 2013, the U.S. Department of Treasury and the IRS issued final regulations regarding the deduction and capitalization of expenditures related to tangible property. The final regulations under Internal Revenue Code Section 162, 167 and 263(a) apply to amounts paid to acquire, produce, or improve tangible property, as well as dispositions of such property and are generally effective for tax years beginning on or after January 1, 2014. The Company has evaluated these regulations and has determined they will not have a material impact on its consolidated financial position, consolidated results of operations, or consolidated cash flows.

NOTE 12: EQUITY-BASED PLANS

Equity Forward Sale Agreement

On June 11, 2013, PGE entered into an equity forward sale agreement (EFSA) in connection with a public offering of 11,100,000 shares of its common stock. The underwriters exercised their over-allotment option in full in connection with such public offering and on June 17, 2013, PGE separately issued 1,665,000 shares of PGE common stock for \$28.54 per share, net of the underwriters' discount, or net proceeds of \$47 million . In August, the Company issued 700,000 shares for net proceeds of \$20 million pursuant to the EFSA.

Pursuant to the terms of the EFSA, a forward counterparty borrowed 11,100,000 shares of PGE's common stock from third parties in the open market and sold the shares to a group of underwriters for \$29.50 per share, less an underwriting discount equal to \$0.96 per share. The underwriters then sold the shares in a public offering. PGE receives proceeds from the sale of common stock when the EFSA is physically settled (described below), and at that time PGE records the proceeds in equity.

Under the terms of the EFSA, PGE may elect to settle the equity forward transactions by means of: (1) physical; (2) cash; or (3) net share settlement, in whole or in part, at any time on or prior to June 11, 2015, except in specified circumstances or events that would require physical settlement. To the extent that the transactions are physically settled, PGE would be required to issue and deliver shares of PGE common stock to the forward counterparty at the then applicable forward sale price. The forward sale price was initially determined to be \$29.50 per share at the time the EFSA was entered into, and the amount of cash to be received by PGE upon physical settlement of the EFSA is subject to certain adjustments in accordance with the terms of the EFSA.

The use of the EFSA substantially eliminates future equity market price risk by fixing the common stock offering sales price under the then existing market conditions, while mitigating immediate share dilution resulting from the offering by postponing the actual issuance of common stock until such funds are needed in accordance with the Company's capital requirements. The EFSA had no initial fair value since it was entered into at the then market price of the common stock. PGE concluded that the EFSA was an equity instrument and that it does not qualify as a derivative because the EFSA was indexed to the Company's stock. PGE anticipates settling the EFSA through physical settlement on or before June 11, 2015.

At December 31, 2013, the Company could have physically settled the EFSA by delivering 10,400,000 shares to the forward counterparty in exchange for cash of \$288 million. In addition, at December 31, 2013, the Company could have elected to make a cash settlement by paying approximately \$26 million, or a net share settlement by delivering approximately 876,318 shares of common stock. To the extent that PGE makes a cash or net share settlement, the Company would receive no additional proceeds from the public offering.

Prior to settlement, the potentially issuable shares pursuant to the EFSA will be reflected in PGE's diluted earnings per share calculations using the treasury stock method. Under this method, the number of shares of PGE's common stock used in calculating diluted earnings per share for a reporting period would be increased by the number of shares, if any, that would be issued upon physical settlement of the EFSA less the number of shares that could be purchased by PGE in the market with the proceeds received from issuance (based on the average market price during that reporting period).

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

PGE has an employee stock purchase plan (ESPP), under which a total of 625,000 shares of the Company's common stock may be issued. The ESPP permits all eligible employees to purchase shares of PGE common stock through regular payroll deductions, which are limited to 10% of base pay. Each year, employees may purchase up to

a maximum of \$25,000 in common stock (based on fair value on the purchase date) or 1,500 shares, whichever is less. There are two six-month offering periods each year, January 1 through June 30 and July 1 through December 31, during which eligible employees may purchase shares of PGE common stock at a price equal to 95% of the fair value of the stock on the purchase date, the last day of the offering period. As of December 31, 2013, there were 451,506 shares available for future issuance pursuant to the ESPP.

Dividend Reinvestment and Direct Stock Purchase Plan

On April 1, 2011, PGE's Dividend Reinvestment and Direct Stock Purchase Plan (DRIP) became effective, under which a total of 2,500,000 shares of the Company's common stock may be issued. Under the DRIP, investors may elect to buy shares of the Company's common stock or elect to reinvest cash dividends in additional shares of the Company's common stock. As of December 31, 2013, there were 2,485,055 shares available for future issuance pursuant to the DRIP.

NOTE 13: STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION EXPENSE

Pursuant to the Portland General Electric Company 2006 Stock Incentive Plan (the Plan), the Company may grant a variety of equity-based awards, including restricted stock units with time-based vesting conditions and performance-based vesting conditions to non-employee directors, officers and certain key employees. Service requirements generally must be met for stock units to vest. For each grant, the number of restricted stock units is determined by dividing the specified award amount for each grantee by the closing stock price on the date of grant. A total of 4,687,500 shares of common stock were registered for future issuance under the Plan, of which 3,701,833 shares remain available for future issuance as of December 31, 2013.

Time-based restricted stock units vest in either equal installments over a one-year period on the last day of each calendar quarter, over a three-year period on each anniversary of the grant date, or at the end of a three-year period following the grant date.

Performance-based restricted stock units vest if performance goals are met at the end of a three-year performance period. For grants prior to March 5, 2013, such goals include return on equity relative to allowed return on equity, and regulated asset base growth. Grants on and after March 5, 2013 are based on three equally-weighted metrics: return on equity relative to allowed return on equity; regulated asset growth; and a total shareholder return (TSR) relative to the Edison Electric Institute Regulated Index (EEI Index). Vesting of performance-based restricted stock units is calculated by multiplying the number of units granted by a performance percentage determined by the Compensation and Human Resources Committee of PGE's Board of Directors. The performance percentage is calculated based on the extent to which the performance goals are met. In accordance with the Plan, however, the committee may disregard or offset the effect of extraordinary, unusual or non-recurring items in determining results relative to these goals. Based on the attainment of the performance goals, the awards can range from zero to 150% of the grant.

Outstanding restricted stock units provide for the payment of one Dividend Equivalent Right (DER) for each stock unit. DERs represent an amount equal to dividends paid to shareholders on a share of PGE's common stock and vest on the same schedule as the stock units. The DERs are settled in cash (for grants to non-employee directors) or shares of PGE common stock valued either at the closing stock price on the vesting date (for performance-based restricted stock unit grants) or dividend payment date (for all other grants). The cash from the settlement of the DERs for non-employee directors may be deferred under the terms of the Portland General Electric Company 2006 Outside Directors' Deferred Compensation Plan.

Restricted stock unit activity is summarized in the following table:

	Units	Weighted Average Grant Date Fair Value
Outstanding as of December 31, 2010	465,428	\$ 17.88
Granted	152,657	23.84
Forfeited	(106,979)	22.35
Vested	(19,702)	23.34
Outstanding as of December 31, 2011	491,404	18.54
Granted	186,495	24.72
Forfeited	(22,947)	18.95
Vested	(214,390)	15.67
Outstanding as of December 31, 2012	440,562	22.54
Granted	183,071	29.25
Forfeited	(7,007)	27.15
Vested	(185,536)	20.20
Outstanding as of December 31, 2013	431,090	26.31

The Company withholds a portion of the vested shares for the payment of income taxes on behalf of the employees. The total value of time- and performance-based stock units vested during the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011 was \$4 million, \$3 million and \$1 million, respectively. The weighted average fair value of the return on equity and regulated asset base growth portions of the grants is measured based on the closing price of PGE common stock on the date of grant. The fair value of these awards is charged to compensation expense over the requisite service period based on the number of shares expected to vest. Stock-based compensation expense was calculated assuming the attainment of performance goals that would allow the weighted average vesting of 110.7%, 109.2%, and 107.8% of awarded performance-based restricted stock units for 2013, 2012, and 2011, respectively, with an estimated 5% forfeiture rate. The weighted average fair value of the TSR portion is determined using a Monte Carlo simulation model utilizing actual information for the common shares of PGE and its peer group for the period from the beginning of the performance period to the grant date and estimated future stock volatility over the remaining performance period. The estimated TSR grant date fair value is 99.7% of the grant price. The fair value of these awards is charged to compensation expense over the requisite service period, regardless of the level of TSR metric actually attained. The assumptions used in the Monte Carlo model are summarized as follows:

	2013	
Stock price at March 5, 2013	\$	30.29
Risk-free rate		0.34%
Expected term (in years)		3
Expected volatility		16.77%
Range of expected volatility for EEI Index	12.06% -	25.13%
Dividend yield		0%

For the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011, PGE recorded stock-based compensation expense of \$4 million, which is included in Administrative and other expense in the consolidated statements of income. Such amounts differ from those reported in the consolidated statements of equity for Stock-based compensation due primarily to the impact from the income tax payments made on behalf of employees. The net impact to equity from the income tax payments, partially offset by the issuance of DERs, resulted in a charge to equity of \$2 million in 2013, \$1 million in 2012, and less than \$1 million in 2011, which is not included in Administrative and other expenses in the consolidated statements of income.

As of December 31, 2013, unrecognized stock-based compensation expense was \$4 million, of which approximately \$3 million and \$1 million is expected to be expensed in 2014 and 2015, respectively. No stock-based compensation costs have been capitalized and the Plan had no material impact on cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012, or 2011.

NOTE 14: EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is computed based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings per share is computed using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding and the effect of dilutive potential common shares outstanding during the year using the treasury stock method. Potential common shares consist of: (i) employee stock purchase plan shares; (ii) unvested time-based and performance-based restricted stock units, along with associated dividend equivalent rights; and (iii) shares issuable pursuant to the EFSA. See Note 12, Equity-based Plans, for additional information on the EFSA and its impact on earnings per share. Unvested performance-based restricted stock units and associated dividend equivalent rights are included in dilutive potential common shares only after the performance criteria has been met.

Net income attributable to PGE common shareholders is the same for both the basic and diluted earnings per share computation. The reconciliations of the denominators of the basic and diluted earnings per share computations are as follows (in thousands):

	Year	Years Ended December 31,					
	2013	2012	2011				
Weighted average common shares outstanding—basic	76,821	75,498	75,333				
Dilutive effect of potential common shares	567	149	17				
Weighted average common shares outstanding—diluted	77,388	75,647	75,350				

NOTE 15: COMMITMENTS AND GUARANTEES

Commitments

As of December 31, 2013, PGE's estimated future minimum payments pursuant to purchase obligations for the following five years and thereafter are as follows (in millions):

					P	ayments I	Due				
		2014	2015	2016		2017		2018	-	Thereafter	Total
Capital and other purchase commitments	\$	710	\$ 113	\$ 40	\$	2	\$	2	\$	67	\$ 934
Purchased power and fuel:											
Electricity purchases		240	159	150		125		126		683	1,483
Capacity contracts		22	23	22		2		2		1	72
Public Utility Districts		8	8	7		5		5		33	66
Natural gas		65	21	12		10		8		6	122
Coal and transportation		21	6	6		6		4		5	48
Operating leases		11	9	10		10		10		191	241
Total	\$	1,077	\$ 339	\$ 247	\$	160	\$	157	\$	986	\$ 2,966

Capital and other purchase commitments— Certain commitments have been made for capital and other purchases for 2014 and beyond. Such commitments include those related to hydro licenses, upgrades to generating, distribution and transmission facilities, information systems, and system maintenance work. A large component of

these commitments for 2014 and 2015 are costs associated with the construction of three new generating facilities. Termination of these agreements could result in cancellation charges.

Electricity purchases and Capacity contracts— PGE has power purchase contracts with counterparties, which expire at varying dates through 2037, and power capacity contracts through 2019. In addition to the power purchase contracts with counterparties presented in the table, PGE has power sale contracts with counterparties of approximately \$1 million that settle in 2014.

Public Utility Districts —PGE has long-term power purchase contracts with certain public utility districts in the state of Washington and with the City of Portland, Oregon. The Company is required to pay its proportionate share of the operating and debt service costs of the hydroelectric projects whether or not they are operable. The future minimum payments for the Public Utility Districts in the preceding table reflect the principal payment only and do not include interest, operation, or maintenance expenses. Selected information regarding these projects is summarized as follows (dollars in millions):

	Revenue Bonds as of December 31,		PGE's Sha	are in 2013	Contract	 incl	E Cost, g Debt Se	rvice	
		2013	Output	Capacity	Expiration	 2013	 2012	2	2011
				(in MW)					
Priest Rapids and Wanapum	\$	1,001	9.0%	170	2052	\$ 14	\$ 14	\$	14
Wells		232	19.4	150	2018	10	10		10
Portland Hydro		7	100.0	36	2017	4	4		4

Under contracts with the public utility districts, PGE has acquired a percentage of the output (Allocation) of Priest Rapids and Wanapum and Wells. The contracts provide that, should any other purchaser of output default on payments as a result of bankruptcy or insolvency, PGE would be allocated a pro rata share of the output and operating and debt service costs of the defaulting purchaser. For Wells, PGE would be allocated up to a cumulative maximum of 25% of the defaulting purchaser's percentage Allocation. For Priest Rapids and Wanapum, PGE would be allocated up to a cumulative maximum that would not adversely affect the tax exempt status of any outstanding debt.

Natural gas— PGE has agreements for the purchase and transportation of natural gas from domestic and Canadian sources for its natural gas-fired generating facilities. The Company also has a natural gas storage agreement, which expires in April 2017, for the purpose of fueling the Company's Port Westward natural gas-fired generating plant (Port Westward) and Beaver natural gas-fired generating plant (Beaver).

Coal and transportation —PGE has coal and related rail transportation agreements with take-or-pay provisions related to Boardman, which expire at various dates through 2020.

Operating leases —PGE has various operating leases associated with its headquarters and certain of its production, transmission, and support facilities. The majority of the future minimum operating lease payments presented in the table consist of (i) the corporate headquarters lease, which expires in 2018, but includes renewal period options through 2043, and (ii) the Port of St. Helens land lease, where Port Westward and Beaver are located, which expires in 2096. Rent expense was \$9 million in 2013, \$10 million in 2012, and \$9 million in 2011.

The future minimum operating lease payments presented is net of sublease income of: \$3 million in 2014 and 2015; \$2 million in 2016; and \$1 million in 2017 and 2018. Sublease income was \$3 million in 2013, 2012, and 2011.

Guarantees

PGE enters into financial agreements and power and natural gas purchase and sale agreements that include indemnification provisions relating to certain claims or liabilities that may arise relating to the transactions contemplated by these agreements. Generally, a maximum obligation is not explicitly stated in the indemnification provisions and, therefore, the overall maximum amount of the obligation under such indemnifications cannot be reasonably estimated. PGE periodically evaluates the likelihood of incurring costs under such indemnities based on the Company's historical experience and the evaluation of the specific indemnities. As of December 31, 2013, management believes the likelihood is remote that PGE would be required to perform under such indemnification provisions or otherwise incur any significant losses with respect to such indemnities. The Company has not recorded any liability on the consolidated balance sheets with respect to these indemnities.

NOTE 16: VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES

PGE has determined that it is the primary beneficiary of three VIEs and, therefore, consolidates the VIEs within the Company's consolidated financial statements. All three arrangements were formed for the sole purpose of designing, developing, constructing, owning, maintaining, operating and financing photovoltaic solar power facilities located on real property owned by third parties, and selling the energy generated by the facilities. The Company is the Managing Member and a financial institution is the Investor Member in each of the Limited Liability Companies (LLCs), holding equity interests of less than 1% and more than 99%, respectively, in each entity. PGE has determined that its interests in these VIEs contain the obligation to absorb the variability of the entities that could potentially be significant to the VIEs, and the Company has the power to direct the activities that most significantly affect the entities' economic performance.

Determining whether PGE is the primary beneficiary of a VIE is complex, subjective and requires the use of judgments and assumptions. Significant judgments and assumptions made by PGE in determining it is the primary beneficiary of these LLCs include the following: (i) PGE has the experience to own and operate electric generating facilities and is authorized to operate the LLCs pursuant to the operating agreements, and, therefore, PGE has control over the most significant activities of the LLCs; (ii) PGE expects to own 100% of the LLCs shortly after five years have elapsed from when the facility was placed in service, at which time the facilities will have approximately 75% of their estimated useful life remaining; and (iii) based on projections prepared in accordance with the operating agreements, PGE expects to absorb a majority of any expected losses of the LLCs.

Included in PGE's consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2013 and 2012 are LLC net assets of \$5 million and \$6 million, respectively, primarily comprised of Electric utility plant, and includes Cash and cash equivalents of \$1 million. These assets can only be used to settle the obligations of the consolidated VIEs and their creditors have no recourse to the general credit of PGE.

In January 2014, PGE acquired the equity interest held by the Investor Member of one of the LLCs pursuant to the terms of the operating agreement. The transaction did not have a significant impact to the Company's consolidated financial position, consolidated results of operations or consolidated cash flows.

NOTE 17: JOINTLY-OWNED PLANT

PGE has interests in three jointly-owned generating facilities. Under the joint operating agreements, each participating owner is responsible for financing its share of construction, operating and leasing costs. PGE's proportionate share of direct operating and maintenance expenses of the facilities is included in the corresponding operating and maintenance expense categories in the consolidated statements of income.

In 1985, PGE sold a 15% undivided interest in Boardman and a 10.714% undivided interest in the Company's share of the Pacific Northwest Intertie transmission line (jointly, the Facility Assets) to an unrelated third party (Purchaser). Under terms of the original 1985 agreements, on December 31, 2013, PGE acquired the Facility Assets

from the Purchaser in exchange for \$1 from the Purchaser. PGE assumed responsibility for the ARO related to that 15% interest in Boardman in the amount of \$7 million . The acquisition of the 15% interest in Boardman increased the Company's ownership share from 65% to 80% on December 31, 2013.

As of December 31, 2013, PGE had the following investments in jointly-owned plant (dollars in millions):

	PGE Share	In-service Date	Plant -service	 ımulated eciation*	onstruction Work In Progress
Boardman	80.00%	1980	\$ 506	\$ 326	\$ 1
Colstrip	20.00	1986	515	332	3
Pelton/Round Butte	66.67	1958 / 1964	222	52	15
Total			\$ 1,243	\$ 710	\$ 19

^{*} Excludes AROs and accumulated asset retirement removal costs.

NOTE 18: CONTINGENCIES

PGE is subject to legal, regulatory, and environmental proceedings, investigations, and claims that arise from time to time in the ordinary course of its business. Contingencies are evaluated using the best information available at the time the consolidated financial statements are prepared. Legal costs incurred in connection with loss contingencies are expensed as incurred. The Company may seek regulatory recovery of certain costs that are incurred in connection with such matters, although there can be no assurance that such recovery would be granted.

Loss contingencies are accrued, and disclosed if material, when it is probable that an asset has been impaired or a liability incurred as of the financial statement date and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. If a reasonable estimate of probable loss cannot be determined, a range of loss may be established, in which case the minimum amount in the range is accrued, unless some other amount within the range appears to be a better estimate.

A loss contingency will also be disclosed when it is reasonably possible that an asset has been impaired or a liability incurred if the estimate or range of potential loss is material. If a probable or reasonably possible loss cannot be reasonably estimated, then the Company (i) discloses an estimate of such loss or the range of such loss, if the Company is able to determine such an estimate, or (ii) discloses that an estimate cannot be made.

If an asset has been impaired or a liability incurred after the financial statement date, but prior to the issuance of the financial statements, the loss contingency is disclosed, if material, and the amount of any estimated loss is recorded in the subsequent reporting period.

The Company evaluates, on a quarterly basis, developments in such matters that could affect the amount of any accrual, as well as the likelihood of developments that would make a loss contingency both probable and reasonably estimable. The assessment as to whether a loss is probable or reasonably possible, and as to whether such loss or a range of such loss is estimable, often involves a series of complex judgments about future events. Management is often unable to estimate a reasonably possible loss, or a range of loss, particularly in cases in which: i) the damages sought are indeterminate or the basis for the damages claimed is not clear; ii) the proceedings are in the early stages; iii) discovery is not complete; iv) the matters involve novel or unsettled legal theories; v) there are significant facts in dispute; vi) there are a large number of parties (including where it is uncertain how liability, if any, will be shared among multiple defendants); or vii) there is a wide range of potential outcomes. In such cases, there is considerable uncertainty regarding the timing or ultimate resolution, including any possible loss, fine, penalty, or business impact.

Trojan Investment Recovery

Regulatory Proceedings. In 1993, PGE closed Trojan and sought full recovery of, and a rate of return on, its Trojan costs in a general rate case filing with the OPUC. In 1995, the OPUC issued a general rate order that granted the Company recovery of, and a rate of return on, 87% of its remaining investment in Trojan.

Numerous challenges and appeals were subsequently filed in various state courts on the issue of the OPUC's authority under Oregon law to grant recovery of, and a return on, the Trojan investment. In 1998, the Oregon Court of Appeals upheld the OPUC's order authorizing PGE's recovery of the Trojan investment, but held that the OPUC did not have the authority to allow the Company to recover a return on the Trojan investment and remanded the case to the OPUC for reconsideration.

In 2000, PGE entered into agreements to settle the litigation related to recovery of, and return on, its investment in Trojan. The settlement, which was approved by the OPUC, allowed PGE to remove from its balance sheet the remaining investment in Trojan as of September 30, 2000, along with several largely offsetting regulatory liabilities. After offsetting the investment in Trojan with these liabilities, the remaining Trojan regulatory asset balance of approximately \$5 million (after tax) was expensed. As a result of the settlement, PGE's investment in Trojan was no longer included in prices charged to customers, either through a return of or a return on that investment. The Utility Reform Project (URP) did not participate in the settlement and filed a complaint with the OPUC challenging the settlement agreements. In 2002, the OPUC issued an order (2002 Order) denying all of the URP's challenges. In 2007, following several appeals by various parties, the Oregon Court of Appeals issued an opinion that remanded the 2002 Order to the OPUC for reconsideration.

The OPUC then issued an order in 2008 (2008 Order) that required PGE to provide refunds, including interest from September 30, 2000, to customers who received service from the Company during the period from October 1, 2000 to September 30, 2001. The Company recorded a charge of \$33.1 million in 2008 related to the refund and accrued additional interest expense on the liability until refunds to customers were completed in the first quarter of 2010. The URP and the plaintiffs in the class actions described below separately appealed the 2008 Order to the Oregon Court of Appeals. On February 6, 2013, the Oregon Court of Appeals issued an opinion that upheld the 2008 Order. On May 31, 2013, the Court of Appeals denied the appellants' request for reconsideration of the decision. On October 18, 2013, the Oregon Supreme Court granted plaintiffs' petition seeking review of the February 6, 2013 Oregon Court of Appeals decision. Opening briefs have been filed with oral argument scheduled for March 4, 2014.

Class Actions. In two separate legal proceedings, lawsuits were filed in Marion County Circuit Court against PGE in 2003 on behalf of two classes of electric service customers. The class action lawsuits seek damages totaling \$260 million, plus interest, as a result of the Company's inclusion, in prices charged to customers, of a return on its investment in Trojan.

In 2006, the Oregon Supreme Court issued a ruling ordering the abatement of the class action proceedings until the OPUC responded to the 2002 Order (described above). The Oregon Supreme Court concluded that the OPUC has primary jurisdiction to determine what, if any, remedy can be offered to PGE customers, through price reductions or refunds, for any amount of return on the Trojan investment that the Company collected in prices.

The Oregon Supreme Court further stated that if the OPUC determined that it can provide a remedy to PGE's customers, then the class action proceedings may become moot in whole or in part. The Oregon Supreme Court added that, if the OPUC determined that it cannot provide a remedy, the court system may have a role to play. The Oregon Supreme Court also ruled that the plaintiffs retain the right to return to the Marion County Circuit Court for disposition of whatever issues remain unresolved from the remanded OPUC proceedings. The Marion County Circuit Court subsequently abated the class actions in response to the ruling of the Oregon Supreme Court.

As noted above, on February 6, 2013, the Oregon Court of Appeals upheld the 2008 Order. Because the Oregon Supreme Court has granted the plaintiffs' petition seeking review of that decision, and the class actions described

above remain pending, management believes that it is reasonably possible that the regulatory proceedings and class actions could result in a loss to the Company in excess of the amounts previously recorded and discussed above. Because these matters involve unsettled legal theories and have a broad range of potential outcomes, sufficient information is currently not available to determine PGE's potential liability, if any, or to estimate a range of potential loss.

Pacific Northwest Refund Proceeding

In 2001, the FERC called for a hearing to explore whether there may have been unjust and unreasonable charges for spot market sales of electricity in the Pacific Northwest from December 25, 2000 through June 20, 2001 (Pacific Northwest Refund proceeding). During that period, PGE both sold and purchased electricity in the Pacific Northwest. In 2003, the FERC issued an order terminating the proceeding and denying the claims for refunds. Parties appealed various aspects of the FERC order to the U.S. Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals (Ninth Circuit).

In August 2007, the Ninth Circuit issued a decision, concluding that the FERC failed to adequately explain how it considered or examined new evidence showing intentional market manipulation in California and the potential ties to the Pacific Northwest and that the FERC should not have excluded from the Pacific Northwest Refund proceeding purchases of energy made by the California Energy Resources Scheduling (CERS) division in the Pacific Northwest spot market. The Ninth Circuit remanded the case to the FERC to: i) address the new market manipulation evidence in detail and account for the evidence in any future orders regarding the award or denial of refunds in the proceedings; ii) include sales to CERS in its analysis; and iii) further consider its refund decision in light of related, intervening opinions of the court. The Ninth Circuit offered no opinion on the FERC's findings based on the record established by the administrative law judge and did not rule on the FERC's ultimate decision to deny refunds. After denying requests for rehearing, the Ninth Circuit in April 2009 issued a mandate giving immediate effect to its August 2007 order remanding the case to the FERC.

In October 2011, the FERC issued an Order on Remand, establishing an evidentiary hearing to determine whether any seller had engaged in unlawful market activity in the Pacific Northwest spot markets during the December 25, 2000 through June 20, 2001 period by violating specific contracts or tariffs, and, if so, whether a direct connection existed between the alleged unlawful conduct and the rate charged under the applicable contract. The FERC held that the *Mobile-Sierra* public interest standard governs challenges to the bilateral contracts at issue in this proceeding, and the strong presumption under *Mobile-Sierra* that the rates charged under each contract are just and reasonable would have to be specifically overcome before a refund could be ordered. The FERC directed the presiding judge, if necessary, to determine a refund methodology and to calculate refunds, but held that a market-wide remedy was not appropriate, given the bilateral contract nature of the Pacific Northwest spot markets. Certain parties claiming refunds filed requests for rehearing of the Order on Remand.

In December 2012, the FERC issued an order granting an interlocutory appeal of the trial judge's ruling on the scope of the remand proceeding. In this order, the FERC held that its Order on Remand was not intended to alter the general state of the law regarding the *Mobile-Sierra* presumption. The FERC clarified that the *Mobile-Sierra* presumption could be overcome either by: i) a showing that a respondent had violated a contract or tariff and that the violation had a direct connection to the rate charged under the applicable contract; or ii) a showing that the contract rate at issue imposed an excessive burden or seriously harmed the public interest.

On April 5, 2013, and subject to its December 2012 clarification in the interlocutory appeal, the FERC denied rehearing requests from refund proponents that had contested the FERC's use of the *Mobile-Sierra* standard in the remand proceeding, its denial of a market-wide remedy, and the restraints in the Order on Remand that limited the types of evidence that could be introduced in the hearing. However, the FERC granted rehearing on the issue of the appropriate refund period, holding that parties could pursue refunds for transactions between January 1, 2000 and December 24, 2000 under Section 309 of the Federal Power Act by showing violations of a filed tariff or rate schedule or of a statutory requirement. Refund claimants have filed petitions for appeal of the Order on Remand and the Order on Rehearing with the Ninth Circuit.

In its October 2011 Order on Remand, the FERC ordered settlement discussions to be convened before a FERC settlement judge. Pursuant to the settlement proceedings, the Company received notice of two claims and reached agreements to settle both claims for an immaterial amount. The FERC approved both settlements during 2012.

Additionally, the settlement between PGE and certain other parties in the California refund case in Docket No. EL00-95, et seq., approved by the FERC in May 2007, resolved all claims between PGE and the California parties named in the settlement (including CERS) as to transactions in the Pacific Northwest during the settlement period, January 1, 2000 through June 20, 2001, but did not settle potential claims from other market participants relating to transactions in the Pacific Northwest.

The above-referenced settlements resulted in a release for the Company as a named respondent in the ongoing remand proceedings, which are limited to initial and direct claims for refunds, but there remains a possibility that additional claims related to this matter could be asserted against the Company in future proceedings if refunds are ordered against current respondents.

Management believes that this matter could result in a loss to the Company in future proceedings. However, management cannot predict whether the FERC will order refunds, which contracts would be subject to refunds, the basis on which refunds would be ordered, or how such refunds, if any, would be calculated. Due to these uncertainties, sufficient information is currently not available to determine PGE's liability, if any, or to estimate a range of reasonably possible loss.

EPA Investigation of Portland Harbor

A 1997 investigation by the United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) of a segment of the Willamette River known as Portland Harbor revealed significant contamination of river sediments. The EPA subsequently included Portland Harbor on the National Priority List pursuant to the federal Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (CERCLA) as a federal Superfund site and listed 69 Potentially Responsible Parties (PRPs). PGE was included among the PRPs as it has historically owned or operated property near the river. In January 2008, the EPA requested information from various parties, including PGE, concerning additional properties in or near the original segment of the river under investigation as well as several miles beyond. Subsequently, the EPA has listed additional PRPs, which now number over one hundred.

The Portland Harbor site is currently undergoing a remedial investigation (RI) and feasibility study (FS) pursuant to an Administrative Order on Consent (AOC) between the EPA and several PRPs known as the Lower Willamette Group (LWG), which does not include PGE.

In March 2012, the LWG submitted a draft FS to the EPA for review and approval. The draft FS, along with the RI, provide the framework for the EPA to determine a clean-up remedy for Portland Harbor that will be documented in a Record of Decision, which the EPA is expected to issue in 2015 or 2016.

The draft FS evaluates several alternative clean-up approaches. These approaches would take from two to 28 years with costs ranging from \$169 million to \$1.8 billion, depending on the selected remedial action levels and the choice of remedy. The draft FS does not address responsibility for the costs of clean-up, allocate such costs among PRPs, or define precise boundaries for the clean-up. Responsibility for funding and implementing the EPA 's selected clean-up will be determined after the issuance of the Record of Decision.

Management believes that it is reasonably possible that this matter could result in a loss to the Company. However, due to the uncertainties discussed above, sufficient information is currently not available to determine PGE's liability for the cost of any required investigation or remediation of the Portland Harbor site or to estimate a range of potential loss.

DEQ Investigation of Downtown Reach

The Oregon Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) has executed a memorandum of understanding with the EPA to administer and enforce clean-up activities for portions of the Willamette River that are upriver from the Portland Harbor Superfund site (the Downtown Reach). In January 2010, the DEQ issued an order requiring PGE to perform an investigation of certain portions of the Downtown Reach. PGE completed this investigation in December 2011 and entered into a consent order with the DEQ in July 2012 to conduct a feasibility study of alternatives for remedial action for the portions of the Downtown Reach that were included within the scope of PGE's investigation. The draft feasibility study report, which describes possible remediation alternatives that range in estimated cost from \$3 million to \$8 million, is expected to be submitted to the DEQ in late February 2014. Using the Company's best estimate of the probable cost for the remediation effort from the set of alternatives provided in the draft feasibility study report, PGE recorded a \$3 million reserve for this matter as of December 31, 2013.

Based on the available evidence of previous rate recovery of incurred environmental remediation costs for PGE, as well as for other utilities operating within the same jurisdiction, the Company has concluded that the estimated cost of \$3 million to remediate the Downtown Reach is probable of recovery. As a result, the Company also recorded a regulatory asset of \$3 million for future recovery in prices as of December 31, 2013. The Company included recovery of the regulatory asset in its 2015 General Rate Case filed with the OPUC in February 2014.

Alleged Violation of Environmental Regulations at Colstrip

On July 30, 2012, PGE received a Notice of Intent to Sue (Notice) for violations of the Clean Air Act (CAA) at Colstrip Steam Electric Station (CSES) from counsel on behalf of the Sierra Club and the Montana Environmental Information Center (MEIC). The Notice was also addressed to the other CSES co-owners, including PPL Montana, LLC, the operator of CSES. PGE has a 20% ownership interest in Units 3 and 4 of CSES. The Notice alleges certain violations of the CAA, including New Source Review, Title V, and opacity requirements, and states that the Sierra Club and MEIC will: i) request a United States District Court to impose injunctive relief and civil penalties; ii) require a beneficial environmental project in the areas affected by the alleged air pollution; and iii) seek reimbursement of Sierra Club's and MEIC's costs of litigation and attorney's fees.

The Sierra Club and MEIC asserted that the CSES owners violated the Title V air quality operating permit during portions of 2008 and 2009 and that the owners have violated the CAA by failing to timely submit a complete air quality operating permit application to the Montana Department of Environmental Quality (MDEQ). The Sierra Club and MEIC also asserted violations of opacity provisions of the CAA.

On March 6, 2013, the Sierra Club and MEIC sued the CSES co-owners, including PGE, for these and additional alleged violations of various environmental related regulations. The plaintiffs are seeking relief that includes an injunction preventing the co-owners from operating CSES except in accordance with the CAA, the Montana State Implementation Plan, and the plant's federally enforceable air quality permits. In addition, plaintiffs are seeking civil penalties against the co-owners including \$32,500 per day for each violation occurring through January 12, 2009, and \$37,500 per day for each violation occurring thereafter. On May 3, 2013, the defendants filed a motion to dismiss 36 of the 39 claims in the suit. On September 27, 2013, the plaintiffs filed an amended complaint that deleted the Title V and opacity claims, added claims associated with two 2011 projects, and expanded the scope of certain claims to encompass approximately 40 additional projects. This matter is scheduled for trial in March 2015.

Management believes that it is reasonably possible that this matter could result in a loss to the Company. However, due to the uncertainties concerning this matter, PGE cannot predict the outcome or determine whether it would have a material impact on the Company.

Challenge to AOC Related to Colstrip Wastewater Facilities

In August 2012, the operator of CSES entered into an AOC with the MDEQ, which established a comprehensive process to investigate and remediate groundwater seepage impacts related to the wastewater facilities at CSES. Within five years, under this AOC, the operator of CSES is required to provide financial assurance to MDEQ for the costs associated with closure of the waste water treatment facilities. This will establish an obligation for asset retirement, but the operator of CSES is unable at this time to estimate these costs, which will require both public and agency review.

In September 2012, Earthjustice filed an affidavit pursuant to Montana's Major Facility Siting Act (MFSA) that sought review of the AOC by Montana's Board of Environmental Review (BER), on behalf of environmental groups Sierra Club, the MEIC, and the National Wildlife Federation. In September 2012, the operator of CSES filed an election with the BER to have this proceeding conducted in Montana state district court as contemplated by the MFSA. In October 2012, Earthjustice, on behalf of Sierra Club, the MEIC and the National Wildlife Federation, filed with the Montana state district court a petition for a writ of mandamus and a complaint for declaratory relief alleging that the AOC fails to require the necessary actions under the MFSA and the Montana Water Quality Act with respect to groundwater seepage from the wastewater facilities at CSES. On May 31, 2013, the district court judge granted the defendants' motion to dismiss the petition for the writ of mandamus.

Management believes that it is reasonably possible that this matter could result in a loss to the Company. However, due to the uncertainties concerning this matter, PGE cannot predict the outcome or determine whether it would have a material impact on the Company.

Oregon Tax Court Ruling

On September 17, 2012, the Oregon Tax Court issued a ruling contrary to an Oregon Department of Revenue (DOR) interpretation and a current Oregon administrative rule, regarding the treatment of wholesale electricity sales. The underlying issue is whether electricity should be treated as tangible or intangible property for state income tax apportionment purposes. The DOR has appealed the ruling of the Oregon Tax Court to the Oregon Supreme Court.

If the ruling is upheld, PGE estimates that its income tax liability could increase by as much as \$7 million due to an increase in the tax rate at which deferred tax liabilities would be recognized in future years. For open tax years per Oregon statute, 2008 through 2012, the Company entered into a closing agreement with the DOR during the third quarter 2013 under which the DOR agreed to the tax apportionment methodology utilized on the tax returns relating to those years. PGE cannot predict the outcome of this matter.

Other Matters

PGE is subject to other regulatory, environmental, and legal proceedings, investigations, and claims that arise from time to time in the ordinary course of business, which may result in judgments against the Company. Although management currently believes that resolution of such matters will not have a material impact on its financial position, results of operations, or cash flows, these matters are subject to inherent uncertainties, and management's view of these matters may change in the future.

QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA

(Unaudited)

Quarter Ended

	C							
	I	March 31		June 30	S	September 30	I	December 31
			(]	In millions, exce	pt pe	er share amounts)		_
2013								
Revenues, net	\$	473	\$	403	\$	435	\$	499
Income (loss) from operations (1)		87		(11)		53		77
Net income (loss) (1)		48		(22)		31		47
Net income (loss) attributable to Portland General Electric Company (1)		49		(22)		31		47
Earnings (loss) per share—basic and diluted (1) (2)		0.65		(0.29)		0.40		0.59
2012								
Revenues, net	\$	479	\$	413	\$	450	\$	463
Income from operations		88		61		82		71
Net income		49		26		37		28
Net income attributable to Portland General Electric Company		49		26		38		28
Earnings per share—basic and diluted (2)		0.65		0.34		0.50		0.38

⁽¹⁾ The quarter ended June 30 includes \$52 million of costs expensed related to the Company's Cascade Crossing Transmission Project and a refund of revenues of \$9 million related to the over-billing of an industrial customer since 2009.

⁽²⁾ Earnings per share are calculated independently for each period presented. Accordingly, the sum of the quarterly earnings per share amounts may not equal the total for the year.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.

(a) Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Management of the Company, under the supervision and with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act")) as of the end of the period covered by this report pursuant to Rule 13a-15(b) under the Exchange Act. Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of the end of such period, the Company's disclosure controls and procedures are effective.

(b) Management's Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The Company's management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act). The Company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the Company's financial statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Management of the Company, under the supervision and with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of the end of the period covered by this report pursuant to Rule 13a-15(c) under the Exchange Act. Management's assessment was based on the framework established in *Internal Control-Integrated Framework* (1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this assessment, management has concluded that, as of December 31, 2013, the Company's internal control over financial reporting is effective.

The Company's internal control over financial reporting, as of December 31, 2013, has been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm who audits the Company's consolidated financial statements, as stated in their report included in Item 8.—"Financial Statements and Supplementary Data," which expresses an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting, as of December 31, 2013.

(c) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have not been any changes in the Company's internal control over financial reporting during the fourth quarter of 2013 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION.

None.

PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE.

The information required by Item 10 is incorporated herein by reference to the relevant information under the captions "Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance," "Corporate Governance," "Proposal 1: Election of Directors," and "Executive Officers" in the Company's definitive proxy statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A with the SEC in connection with the Annual Meeting of Shareholders scheduled to be held on May 7, 2014.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

The information required by Item 11 is incorporated herein by reference to the relevant information under the captions "Corporate Governance—Non-Employee Director Compensation," "Corporate Governance—Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation," "Compensation and Human Resources Committee Report," "Compensation Discussion and Analysis," and "Executive Compensation Tables" in the Company's definitive proxy statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A with the SEC in connection with the Annual Meeting of Shareholders scheduled to be held on May 7, 2014.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS.

The information required by Item 12 is incorporated herein by reference to the relevant information under the captions "Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners, Directors and Executive Officers" and "Equity Compensation Plans," in the Company's definitive proxy statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A with the SEC in connection with the Annual Meeting of Shareholders scheduled to be held on May 7, 2014.

ITEM 13.CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE.

The information required by Item 13 is incorporated herein by reference to the relevant information under the caption "Corporate Governance" in the Company's definitive proxy statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A with the SEC in connection with the Annual Meeting of Shareholders scheduled to be held on May 7, 2014.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES.

The information required by Item 14 is incorporated herein by reference to the relevant information under the captions "Principal Accountant Fees and Services" and "Pre-Approval Policy for Independent Auditor Services" in the Company's definitive proxy statement to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A with the SEC in connection with the Annual Meeting of Shareholders scheduled to be held on May 7, 2014.

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.

(a) Financial Statements and Schedules

The financial statements are set forth under Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Financial statement schedules have been omitted since they are either not required, not applicable, or the information is otherwise included.

(b) Exhibit Listing

Exhibit Number	Description
(3)	Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws
3.1*	Second Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Portland General Electric Company (Form 10-Q filed August 3, 2009, Exhibit 3.1).
3.2*	Ninth Amended and Restated Bylaws of Portland General Electric Company (Form 8-K filed October 27, 2011, Exhibit 3.1).
(4)	Instruments defining the rights of security holders, including indentures
4.1*	Portland General Electric Company Indenture of Mortgage and Deed of Trust dated July 1, 1945 (Form 8, Amendment No. 1 dated June 14, 1965) (File No. 001-05532-99).
4.2*	Fortieth Supplemental Indenture dated October 1, 1990 (Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1990, Exhibit 4) (File No. 001-05532-99).
4.3*	Fifty-sixth Supplemental Indenture dated May 1, 2006 (Form 8-K filed May 25, 2006, Exhibit 4.1)(File No. 001-05532-99).
4.4*	Fifty-seventh Supplemental Indenture dated December 1, 2006 (Form 8-K filed December 22, 2006, Exhibit 4.1) (File No. 001-05532-99).
4.5*	Fifty-eighth Supplemental Indenture dated April 1, 2007 (Form 8-K filed April 12, 2007, Exhibit 4.1) (File No. 001-05532-99).
4.6*	Fifty-ninth Supplemental Indenture dated October 1, 2007 (Form 8-K filed October 5, 2007, Exhibit 4.1) (File No. 001-05532-99).
4.7*	Sixtieth Supplemental Indenture dated April 1, 2008 (Form 8-K filed April 17, 2008, Exhibit 4.1).
4.8*	Sixty-first Supplemental Indenture dated January 15, 2009 (Form 8-K filed January 16, 2009, Exhibit 4.1).
4.9*	Sixty-second Supplemental Indenture dated April 1, 2009 (Form 8-K filed April 16, 2009, Exhibit 4.1).
4.10*	Sixty-third Supplemental Indenture dated November 1, 2009 (Form 8-K filed November 4, 2009, Exhibit 4.1).
4.11*	Sixty-seventh Supplemental Indenture dated June 15, 2013 (Form 8-K filed June 27, 2013, Exhibit 4.1).
4.12*	Sixty-eighth Supplemental Indenture dated October 15, 2013 (Form S-3 filed November 12, 2013, Exhibit 4.13).
(10)	Material Contracts
10.1*	Credit Agreement dated November 14, 2012, between Portland General Electric Company, Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. and U.S. Bank National Association, Co-Syndication Agents, and a group of lenders (Form 10-K filed February 22, 2013, Exhibit 10.1).
10.2*	Credit Agreement dated December 8, 2011, between Portland General Electric Company, Bank of America, N.A., a Administrative Agent, Barclays Capital, as Syndication Agent, and a group of lenders (Form 10-K filed February 2012, Exhibit 10.3).
10.3*	First Amendment dated April 10, 2012 to Credit Agreement dated December 8, 2011, between Portland General Electric Company, Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and a group of lenders (Form 10-K filed February 22, 2013, Exhibit 10.3).



	exhibit umber	<u>Description</u>
	10.4*	Second Amendment dated October 31, 2012 to Credit Agreement dated December 8, 2011, between Portland General Electric Company, Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and a group of lenders (Form 10-K filed February 22, 2013, Exhibit 10.4).
-	10.5*	Third Amendment dated January 7, 2013 to Credit Agreement dated December 8, 2011, between Portland General Electric Company, Bank of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and a group of lenders (Form 10-K filed February 22, 2013, Exhibit 10.5).
-	10.6*	Confirmation of Forward Sale Transaction dated June 11, 2013 between Portland General Electric Company and Barclays Bank PLC (Form 8-K filed June 17, 2013, Exhibit 10.1).
-	10.7*	First Amendment to Confirmation Agreement dated June 25, 2013 between Portland General Electric Company and Barclays Bank PLC (Form 10-Q filed August 2, 2013, Exhibit 10.2).
	10.8	Transfer Agreement between BA Leasing BSC, LLC, as Transferor, and Portland General Electric Company, as Transferee, dated December 18, 2013.
-	10.9*	Portland General Electric Company Severance Pay Plan for Executive Employees dated June 15, 2005 (Form 8-K filed June 20, 2005, Exhibit 10.1) (File No. 001-05532-99). +
1	0.10*	Portland General Electric Company Outplacement Assistance Plan dated June 15, 2005 (Form 8-K filed June 20, 2005, Exhibit 10.2) (File No. 001-05532-99). +
1	0.11*	Portland General Electric Company 2005 Management Deferred Compensation Plan dated January 1, 2005 (Form 10-K filed March 11, 2005, Exhibit 10.18) (File No. 001-05532-99). +
1	0.12*	Portland General Electric Company Management Deferred Compensation Plan dated March 12, 2003 (Form 10-Q filed May 15, 2003, Exhibit 10.1) (File No. 001-05532-99). +
1	0.13*	Portland General Electric Company Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan dated March 12, 2003 (Form 10-Q filed May 15, 2003, Exhibit 10.2) (File No. 001-05532-99). +
1	0.14*	Portland General Electric Company Senior Officers' Life Insurance Benefit Plan dated March 12, 2003 (Form 10-Q filed May 15, 2003, Exhibit 10.3) (File No. 001-05532-99). +
1	0.15*	Portland General Electric Company Umbrella Trust for Management dated March 12, 2003 (Form 10-Q filed May 15, 2003, Exhibit 10.4) (File No. 001-05532-99). +
1	0.16*	Portland General Electric Company 2006 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended (Form 10-K filed February 27, 2008, Exhibit 10.23). +
1	0.17*	Portland General Electric Company 2006 Annual Cash Incentive Master Plan (Form 8-K filed March 17, 2006, Exhibit 10.1) (File No. 001-05532-99). +
1	0.18*	Portland General Electric Company 2006 Outside Directors' Deferred Compensation Plan (Form 8-K filed May 17, 2006, Exhibit 10.1) (File No. 001-05532-99). +
1	0.19*	Portland General Electric Company 2008 Annual Cash Incentive Master Plan for Executive Officers (Form 8-K filed February 26, 2008, Exhibit 10.1). +
1	0.20*	Form of Portland General Electric Company Agreement Concerning Indemnification and Related Matters (Form 8-K filed December 24, 2009, Exhibit 10.1). +
1	0.21*	Form of Portland General Electric Company Agreement Concerning Indemnification and Related Matters for Officers and Key Employees (Form 8-K filed February 19, 2010, Exhibit 10.1). +
1	0.22*	Form of Directors' Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Form 8-K filed July 14, 2006, Exhibit 10.1) (File No. 001-05532-99). +
1	0.23*	Form of Officers' and Key Employees' Performance Stock Unit Agreement (Form 10-Q filed May 3, 2012, Exhibit 10.1). +
1	0.24*	Employment Agreement dated and effective May 6, 2008 between Stephen M. Quennoz and Portland General Electric Company (Form 10-Q filed May 7, 2008, Exhibit 10.3). +
	(12)	Statements Re Computation of Ratios
	12.1	Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.
	(23)	Consents of Experts and Counsel
	23.1	Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Deloitte & Touche LLP.
	(31)	Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certifications
	31.1	Certification of Chief Executive Officer.
	31.2	Certification of Chief Financial Officer.
	(32)	Section 1350 Certifications

Table of Contents

Exhibit <u>Number</u>	Description
32.1	Certifications of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer.
(101)	Interactive Data File
101.INS	XBRL Instance Document.
101.SCH	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
101.CAL	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
101.DEF	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
101.LAB	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.
101.PRE	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.

^{*} Incorporated by reference as indicated.

Certain instruments defining the rights of holders of other long-term debt of PGE are omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(4)(iii)(A) of Regulation S-K because the total amount of securities authorized under each such omitted instrument does not exceed 10% of the total consolidated assets of the Company and its subsidiaries. PGE hereby agrees to furnish a copy of any such instrument to the SEC upon request.

Upon written request to Investor Relations, Portland General Electric Company, 121 S.W. Salmon Street, Portland, Oregon 97204, the Company will furnish shareholders with a copy of any Exhibit upon payment of reasonable fees for reproduction costs incurred in furnishing requested Exhibits.

⁺ Indicates a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized on February 13, 2014.

PORTLAND GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY

By:	/s/ JAMES J. PIRO
	James J. Piro
	President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated on February 13, 2014.

<u>Signature</u>	<u>Title</u>
James J. PIRO James J. Piro	President, Chief Executive Officer, and Director (principal executive officer)
/s/ JAMES F. LOBDELL James F. Lobdell	Senior Vice President of Finance, Chief Financial Officer, and Treasurer (principal financial and accounting officer)
/s/ JOHN W. BALLANTINE John W. Ballantine	Director
/s/ RODNEY L. BROWN, JR. Rodney L. Brown, Jr.	Director
/s/ JACK E. DAVIS Jack E. Davis	Director
/s/ DAVID A. DIETZLER David A. Dietzler	Director
/s/ KIRBY A. DYESS	Director
Kirby A. Dyess /s/ MARK B. GANZ	Director
Mark B. Ganz /s/ NEIL J. NELSON	Director
Neil J. Nelson /s/ M. LEE PELTON	
M. Lee Pelton	Director

TRANSFER AGREEMENT

between

BA LEASING BSC, LLC,

as Transferor,

and

PORTLAND GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY,

as Transferee

December 18, 2013

Active 21541400v3

TRANSFER AGREEMENT

This TRANSFER AGREEMENT (this "<u>Agreement</u>") is made and entered into effective as of December 18, 2013 (the "<u>Effective Date</u>"), by and between BA LEASING BSC, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("<u>Transferor</u>"), and PORTLAND GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY, an Oregon corporation ("<u>Transferee</u>"). Transferor and Transferee are sometimes referred to herein individually as a "<u>Party</u>" and collectively as the "<u>Parties</u>."

RECITALS

WHEREAS, Transferor presently holds (as successor in interest to General Electric Credit Corporation), as Owner Participant under the Trust Agreement, all of the right, title and interest in and to one hundred percent (100%) of the beneficial interest in the Trust Estate, which includes the Facility Assets;

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Notice of Election of Termination dated as of November 14, 2013 (the "Notice of Election"), Owner Trustee (at the direction, and for the benefit, of Owner Participant under the provisions of the Trust Agreement) (i) has provided to Transferee written notice of Owner Trustee's election of the "Termination" (as defined in the PGE Bill of Sale) with respect to the Facility Assets to be effective as of 11:59:59 p.m. (Pacific Time) on December 31, 2013 (the "Termination Time"), (ii) has paid to Transferee the sum of One Dollar (\$1.00) in connection with such election, and (iii) has provided to Transferee written notice of Owner Trustee's further election of clause (x) of the third paragraph of page 6 of the PGE Bill of Sale (the "Net Revenues Election") because Transferee has not elected the "Disposition" (as defined in the PGE Bill of Sale) of the Facility Assets, all in accordance with the PGE Bill of Sale and as further described in the Notice of Election;

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Notice of Election, Transferee has confirmed that it will not elect the "Disposition" of the Facility Assets and, therefore, the "Termination" shall occur on, and the Net Revenues Election shall be in effect as of, the Termination Time, all in accordance with the PGE Bill of Sale;

WHEREAS, at or prior to the Termination Time, Transferor shall enter into a transaction or series of transactions pursuant to which the Owner Trustee shall distribute the Trust Estate, including the Facility Assets, to Transferor at the Termination Time (collectively, the "<u>Trust Unwind Transaction</u>");

WHEREAS, after giving effect to the Trust Unwind Transaction, Transferor shall hold the Facility Assets, free and clear from all Liens in favor of, created by, or resulting from acts of, or any failure to act by, Transferor, the Owner Trustee or the Owner Participant or Persons claiming by or through Transferor, the Owner Trustee or the Owner Participant (including, without limitation, the Indenture Trustee), other than Permitted Liens, and with respect to interests in real property comprising the Facility Assets, Permitted Encumbrances; and

WHEREAS, notwithstanding the Notice of Election, Transferor desires to transfer, assign and delegate to Transferee, and Transferee desires to acquire, accept, assume and perform when

Active 21541400v3

due, all of Transferor's rights, title and interest in, to and under, and all of Transferor's obligations, if any, with respect to, the Facility Assets, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual representations, warranties, and obligations set forth in this Agreement, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows:

ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS; RULES OF INTERPRETATION

- 1.1 <u>Rules of Interpretation</u>. For purposes of this Agreement, the rules of interpretation set forth in Part A of <u>Annex I shall apply.</u>
- 1.2 <u>Certain Definitions</u>. Capitalized terms used but not defined in this Agreement shall have the meanings specified in Part B of <u>Annex I</u>.

ARTICLE II TRANSFER

- 2.1 Transfer; Assumed Liabilities; Transfer Price.
- (a) <u>Transfer</u>. On the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, at the Closing, Transferor shall transfer, convey, assign and deliver to Transferee, free and clear from all Liens in favor of, created by, or resulting from acts of, or any failure to act by, Transferor, the Owner Trustee or the Owner Participant or Persons claiming by or through Transferor, the Owner Trustee or the Owner Participant (including, without limitation, the Indenture Trustee) (collectively, "<u>Transferor Liens</u>"), other than Permitted Liens and, with respect to interests in real property comprising the Facility Assets, Permitted Encumbrances, and without further representation or warranty except as specifically provided herein, and Transferee shall accept from Transferor, "as is, where is" without reliance on any representation or warranty except as specifically provided herein, all of Transferor's right, title and interest in, to and under, the Facility Assets. Pursuant to this Agreement, Transferee shall acquire no rights to any assets or property of Transferor except the Facility Assets.
- (b) <u>Assumed Liabilities</u>. Effective as of the Effective Time and without further Liability of Transferor, Transferee shall accept and assume and agrees to observe and perform and to pay and discharge all Liabilities, if any, which are related to, arising from or associated with the interests under the Operating Agreement and the Transmission Related Agreements (which interests were assigned or delegated to Owner Trustee pursuant to the PGE Assets Sales Agreement, including Section 5 thereof), whether before or after the Effective Time (the "<u>Assumed Liabilities</u>").
- (c) <u>Transfer Price</u>. The aggregate transfer price for the Facility Assets shall be an amount equal to One Dollar (\$1.00) (the "<u>Transfer Price</u>") payable to Transferee. The Parties

acknowledge and agree that the Transfer Price has been satisfied by Transferor's payment to Transferee of One Dollar (\$1.00) in connection with the Notice of Election.

- 2.2 <u>Bill of Sale; Assignment and Assumption Agreement</u>. Prior to the Closing Date, Transferee and Transferor shall execute, and may place into escrow with Troutman Sanders LLP, for delivery as of the Effective Time, (a) the bill of sale in the form attached hereto as <u>Exhibit A</u> (the "<u>Bill of Sale</u>"), and (b) the Assignment and Assumption Agreement attached hereto as <u>Exhibit B</u> (the "<u>Assignment and Assumption Agreement</u>"), together with any other documents that either Party reasonably may request be executed and delivered by the other Party in order to accomplish the transfer of the Facility Assets in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.
- 2.3 <u>Time and Place of Closing</u>. The closing of the transactions contemplated herein (the "Closing") will take place upon satisfaction or waiver of all of the conditions to the Closing in accordance with <u>Article III</u>, including delivery of the fully executed Bill of Sale and Assignment and Assumption Agreement provided for therein, to be dated as of the Closing Date. The Closing Date shall be a date agreed to by the Parties, upon which all the conditions to the Closing set forth in <u>Article III</u> (other than conditions to be satisfied by deliveries at the Closing) have been satisfied or waived (the "Closing Date"). The Parties shall exchange email confirmations of Closing by each Party sending an email to the other at the following email addresses: for Transferor at mitchell.neider@bankofamerica.com, with a copy to stephanie.o.holland@baml.com, and for Transferee at Loretta.mabinton@pgn.com. Unless otherwise agreed by the Parties, such confirmations shall occur on or about 9:00 a.m. (Pacific Standard Time) on the Closing Date. The Closing Date shall be December 31, 2013, unless a delay is required beyond that date to satisfy any conditions to the Closing set forth in Article III which have not been satisfied or waived by such date. The Closing shall be effective as of 11:59:59 p.m. (Pacific Time) on the Closing Date (the "Effective Time").
- 2.4 <u>Termination</u>. This Agreement, including the obligation to transfer the Facility Assets and to execute and deliver the Bill of Sale and the Assignment and Assumption Agreement, may be terminated, and the transactions contemplated hereby may be abandoned, at any time prior to the Closing Date:
 - (a) by mutual written consent of the Parties;
- (b) by Transferee, upon written notice to Transferor, if: (i) any of the conditions in <u>Section 3.2</u> have not been satisfied by the Outside Date, other than through the failure of Transferee to comply with its obligations under this Agreement; or (ii) Transferor has breached any representation, warranty or obligation in this Agreement which would result in a failure of a condition set forth in <u>Section 3.2</u>, and which breach has not been cured within ten (10) Business Days after written notice thereof by Transferee.
- (c) by Transferor, upon written notice to Transferee, if: (i) any of the conditions in <u>Section 3.1</u> have not been satisfied by the Outside Date, other than through the failure of Transferor to comply with its obligations under this Agreement; or (ii) Transferee has breached any representation, warranty or obligation in this Agreement which would result in a failure of a condition

set forth in <u>Section 3.1</u>, and which breach has not been cured within ten (10) Business Days after written notice thereof by Transferor.

2.5 Effect of Termination; Effect of Closing; Closing After the Termination Time.

- (a) <u>Effect of Termination</u>. If this Agreement, including the obligation to transfer the Facility Assets and to deliver the Bill of Sale and Assignment and Assumption Agreement, is validly terminated by either or both of the Parties prior to the Closing Date pursuant to <u>Section 2.4</u>, then (i) this Agreement shall become wholly void and of no further force or effect, and the Parties shall have no further obligations hereunder, without further action by either Party, (ii) each Party shall have no further Liability to the other Party hereunder, and (iii) each Party and its Affiliates shall be fully released and discharged from any Liability under or resulting from this Agreement; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that if this Agreement is terminated by a Party pursuant to <u>Section 2.4(b)(ii)</u> or <u>Section 2.4(c)(ii)</u>, then the terminating Party's right to pursue all legal remedies available to it at law or in equity will survive such termination.
- (b) <u>Effect of Closing</u>. If the Closing occurs, then the Notice of Election and Net Revenues Election shall be superseded hereby effective as of the Closing Date. If the Closing does not occur or this Agreement is terminated in accordance with its terms, then the Notice of Election and Net Revenues Election shall be unaffected by this Agreement.
- (c) <u>Closing after Termination</u>. If the Closing does not occur by the Termination Time, then Transferee shall exercise operational and managerial control over the Facility Assets as provided in the Operative Documents and all revenues, costs and expenses associated with the Facility Assets for the period from the Termination Time to the Closing shall be solely for Transferee's account.

2.6 Further Assurances.

- (a) Each Party shall use commercially reasonable efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions, and to do, or cause to be done, all things necessary, proper or advisable under Applicable Law to complete and make effective the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements. Such actions shall include each Party using its commercially reasonable efforts to ensure (i) satisfaction of the conditions precedent to its obligations hereunder, as soon as practicable after the Effective Date, and (ii) delivery of the items required pursuant to Section 3.1 or Section 3.2, as applicable.
- (b) Each Party shall provide reasonable cooperation to the other Party in obtaining consents, approvals or actions of, making all filings with and giving all notices in connection with the FERC Approvals to complete the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements. The Parties shall use their commercially reasonable efforts to respond promptly and accurately to any requests for additional information made by FERC. The Parties agree that they shall consult with each other with respect to the obtaining by each Party of its respective FERC Approval. Each Party shall cooperate in good faith with FERC and undertake promptly any and all commercially reasonable action required to lawfully complete the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements.

- (c) Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, at any time or from time to time after the Closing, at either Party's request and without further consideration, the other Party shall execute and deliver to such Party such other instruments of transfer, conveyance, assignment and confirmation (without representation, warranty or recourse except as specifically provided herein), provide such materials and information, and take such other actions as such Party may reasonably deem necessary or desirable in order more effectively to transfer, convey and assign the Facility Assets to Transferee and otherwise to complete the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
- 2.7 <u>Transfer Taxes</u>. Transferor and Transferee shall be responsible and pay in equal proportions any sales, use, purchase, transfer, deed, stamp, or other similar taxes and recording charges due and which may be payable by reason of the transfer of the Facility Assets under this Agreement or the transactions contemplated herein ("<u>Transfer Taxes</u>"). Transferor shall be responsible for all income, profit and similar taxes incurred or imposed on Transferor with respect to the transfer of the Facility Assets by Transferor. Transferor and Transferee shall cooperate and consult with each other prior to filing any tax returns in respect of Transfer Taxes.

ARTICLE III CONDITIONS TO CLOSING

- 3.1 <u>Transferor's Conditions Precedent</u>. The obligations of Transferor to complete the transactions contemplated hereby are subject to the fulfillment to the reasonable satisfaction of Transferor, at or before the Closing, of each of the following conditions (all or any of which may be waived in writing, in whole or in part, by Transferor in its sole discretion):
- (a) <u>Representations and Warranties</u>. Each of the representations and warranties made by Transferee in this Agreement shall be true and correct in all material respects on and as of the date hereof and on and as of the Closing Date as though made on and as of the Closing Date, except to the extent such representations and warranties expressly relate to an earlier date (in which case, as of such earlier date).
- (b) <u>Performance</u>. Transferee shall have performed in all material respects its obligations required to be performed at or before the Closing.
 - (c) <u>Trust Unwind Transaction</u>. The Trust Unwind Transaction shall have been completed.
- (d) <u>No Litigation</u>. There shall not be pending or threatened any Action seeking to enjoin or restrain completion of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or seeking damages in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, or questioning the validity or legality of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby.
 - (e) <u>FERC Approvals</u>. The FERC Approvals shall have been obtained and shall be in full force and effect.

- (f) <u>Closing Deliveries</u>. Transferee shall have executed and delivered to Transferor counterpart signature pages to the Bill of Sale and the Assignment and Assumption Agreement.
- 3.2 <u>Transferee's Conditions Precedent</u>. The obligations of Transferee to complete the transactions contemplated hereby are subject to the fulfillment to the reasonable satisfaction of Transferee, at or before the Closing, of each of the following conditions (all or any of which may be waived in writing, in whole or in part, by Transferee in its sole discretion):
- (a) <u>Representations and Warranties</u>. Each of the representations and warranties made by Transferor in this Agreement shall be true and correct in all material respects on and as of the date hereof and on and as of the Closing Date as though made on and as of the Closing Date, except to the extent such representations and warranties expressly relate to an earlier date (in which case as of such earlier date).
- (b) <u>Performance</u>. Transferor shall have performed in all material respects its obligations required to be so performed at or before the Closing.
- (c) <u>No Litigation</u>. There shall not be pending or threatened any Action seeking to enjoin or restrain completion of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or seeking damages in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, or questioning the validity or legality of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby.
 - (d) <u>FERC Approvals</u>. The FERC Approvals shall have been obtained and shall be in full force and effect.
- (e) <u>Closing Deliveries</u>. Transferor shall have executed and delivered to Transferee counterpart signature pages to the Bill of Sale and the Assignment and Assumption Agreement.

ARTICLE IV

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

- 4.1 <u>Representations and Warranties of Transferor</u>. Transferor represents and warrants to Transferee that all of the statements contained in this <u>Section 4.1</u> are true and correct as of the Effective Date and will be true and correct as of the Closing Date, except, in each case, to the extent such representations and warranties are specifically made as of a different date (in which case such representations and warranties will be true and correct as of such date):
- (a) <u>Due Organization</u>. Transferor is a limited liability company duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of Delaware, and has the power and authority to own, operate and lease its properties and assets and to carry on its business as it is currently conducted, and to perform its obligations under this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements to which it is a party.

- (b) <u>Authority</u>. The execution, delivery and performance by Transferor of its obligations under this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements to which it is a party have been duly authorized by all necessary actions on the part of Transferor and this Agreement and each such Ancillary Agreement has been, or on the Closing Date will be, duly executed and delivered by Transferor and constitutes or, on the Closing Date will constitute (assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by Transferee), the legal, valid and binding obligation of Transferor enforceable against Transferor in accordance with its terms, except as such enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar laws affecting the enforcement of rights of creditors generally, and general principles of equity.
- (c) <u>Facility Assets</u>. If and to the extent good and marketable title to the Facility Assets was conveyed to the Owner Trustee pursuant to the PGE Bill of Sale and the PGE Assets Sales Agreement, then Transferor is the sole owner of such Facility Assets and, at the Closing, will transfer such Facility Assets to Transferee free and clear of all Transferor Liens, other than Permitted Liens and, with respect to interests in real property comprising the Facility Assets, Permitted Encumbrances.
- (d) <u>Governmental Approvals</u>. Except for the Transferor FERC Approval and BPA Consent, no authorization, approval, order, consent, waiver, exception, variance, permit, license or exemption issued by a Governmental Authority is required for the execution, delivery and performance by Transferor of this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements to which it is a party or the consummation by Transferor of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby.
- (e) <u>Brokers</u>. No Person acting on behalf of Transferor or any of its Affiliates is or will be entitled to any brokerage fee, commission, finder's fee or financial advisory fee in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the Ancillary Agreements.
- 4.2 <u>Representations and Warranties of Transferee</u>. Transferee represents and warrants to Transferor that all of the statements contained in this <u>Section 4.2</u> are true and correct as of the Effective Date and will be true and correct as of the Closing Date, except, in each case, to the extent such representations and warranties are specifically made as of a different date (in which case such representations and warranties will be true and correct as of such date):
- (a) <u>Due Organization</u>. Transferee is a corporation duly organized and validly existing under the laws of the State of Oregon, and has the power and authority to own, operate and lease its properties and assets and to carry on its business as it is currently conducted, and to perform its obligations under this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements to which it is a party.
- (b) <u>Authority</u>. The execution, delivery and performance by Transferee of its obligations under this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements to which it is a party have been duly authorized by all necessary actions on the part of Transferee and this Agreement and each such Ancillary Agreement has been, or on the Closing Date will be, duly executed and delivered by Transferee and constitutes or, on the Closing Date will constitute (assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by Transferor), the legal, valid and binding obligation of Transferee enforceable against Transferee in accordance with its terms, except as such enforceability may be

limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar laws affecting the enforcement of rights of creditors generally, and general principles of equity.

- (c) <u>Governmental Approvals</u>. Except for the Transferee FERC Approval, no authorization, approval, order, consent, waiver, exception, variance, permit, license or exemption issued by a Governmental Authority is required for the execution, delivery and performance by Transferee of this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements to which it is a party or the consummation by Transferee of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby.
- (d) <u>Brokers</u>. No Person acting on behalf of Transferee or any of its Affiliates is or will be entitled to any brokerage fee, commission, finder's fee or financial advisory fee in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the Ancillary Agreements.

ARTICLE V

INDEMNIFICATION

- 5.1 <u>Indemnification by Transferor</u>. Subject to the limitations set forth in <u>Section 5.3</u> and <u>Article VI</u>, if the Closing occurs, Transferor agrees to indemnify and hold Transferee and its Related Persons (each, a "<u>Transferee Indemnified Party</u>"), harmless from and against any and all Losses incurred by any Transferee Indemnified Party resulting from any of the following:
 - (a) any breach of a representation or warranty made by Transferor in this Agreement; or
- (b) the breach by Transferor of any of its obligations in this Agreement or any of the Ancillary Agreements to which it is a party.
- 5.2 <u>Indemnification by Transferee</u>. Subject to the limitations set forth in <u>Article VI</u>, if the Closing occurs, Transferee agrees to indemnify and hold Transferor and its Related Persons (each, a "<u>Transferor Indemnified Party</u>"), harmless from and against any and all Losses incurred by any Transferor Indemnified Party resulting from any of the following:
 - (a) any breach of a representation or warranty made by Transferee in this Agreement;
- (b) the breach by Transferee of any of its obligations in this Agreement or any of the Ancillary Agreements to which it is a party; or
 - (c) the Assumed Liabilities, if any.
- 5.3 <u>Effect of Knowledge as to Section 4.1(c)</u>. Transferor shall not be liable under this <u>Article V</u> for any Losses based upon or arising out of any inaccuracy in or breach of any of the representations or warranties of Transferor contained in <u>Section 4.1(c)</u> of this Agreement if Transferee had Knowledge of such inaccuracy or breach prior to the Closing.

ARTICLE VI SURVIVAL; NO OTHER REPRESENTATIONS; LIMITATION OF LIABILITY

6.1 <u>Survival of Representations, Warranties and Obligations</u>. The representations, warranties and obligations of Transferor and Transferee contained in this Agreement shall survive indefinitely following the Closing.

6.2 No Other Representations.

- (a) NOTWITHSTANDING ANYTHING TO THE CONTRARY IN THIS AGREEMENT, IT IS THE EXPLICIT INTENT OF EACH PARTY, AND THE PARTIES HEREBY AGREE, THAT NEITHER OF THE PARTIES NOR ANY OF THEIR AFFILIATES OR REPRESENTATIVES HAS MADE OR IS MAKING ANY REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY WHATSOEVER, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, WRITTEN OR ORAL, INCLUDING ANY IMPLIED REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY INCLUDING AS TO THE CONDITION, MERCHANTABILITY, USAGE, SUITABILITY OR FITNESS FOR ANY PARTICULAR PURPOSE WITH RESPECT TO THE FACILITY ASSETS, OR ANY PART THEREOF, EXCEPT THOSE EXPRESS REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES CONTAINED IN ARTICLE IV.
- (b) EXCEPT FOR THOSE EXPRESS REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES CONTAINED IN ARTICLE IV, THE FACILITY ASSETS ARE BEING TRANSFERRED "AS IS, WHERE IS, WITH ALL FAULTS."
- (c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, no Related Person of Transferor will have any personal Liability to Transferee or any other Person as a result of this Agreement or the breach of any representation, warranty, or obligation of Transferor contained in this Agreement and no Related Person of Transferee will have any personal Liability to Transferor or any other Person as a result of this Agreement or the breach of any representation, warranty, or obligation of Transferee contained in this Agreement.
- 6.3 <u>Exclusive Remedies</u>. THE EXPRESS REMEDIES SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT AND THE ANCILLARY AGREEMENTS ARE THE SOLE AND EXCLUSIVE REMEDIES FOR A PARTY UNDER OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, WHETHER BASED ON STATUTE, IN TORT, COMMON LAW, STRICT LIABILITY, CONTRACT OR OTHERWISE, AND ALL OTHER REMEDIES OR DAMAGES AT LAW OR IN EQUITY ARE HEREBY WAIVED BY EACH PARTY. NOTWITHSTANDING THE FOREGOING, NOTHING IN THIS <u>SECTION 6.3</u> SHALL LIMIT A PARTY'S RIGHT TO SEEK AND OBTAIN ANY EQUITABLE RELIEF TO WHICH THE PARTY SHALL BE ENTITLED, OR TO SEEK ANY REMEDY ON ACCOUNT OF THE OTHER PARTY'S FRAUDULENT MISCONDUCT.

6.4 Limitation of Liability.

(a) <u>No Consequential Damages</u>. NOTWITHSTANDING ANY PROVISION TO THE CONTRARY IN THIS AGREEMENT, NO PARTY SHALL, UNDER ANY CIRCUMSTANCES, BE LIABLE FOR SPECIAL, INDIRECT, CONSEQUENTIAL,

INCIDENTAL, PUNITIVE OR EXEMPLARY DAMAGES, LOST PROFITS OR LOSS OF REVENUE, WHETHER BY STATUTE, IN TORT, COMMON LAW, STRICT LIABILITY OR CONTRACT OR OTHERWISE. THE LIMITATIONS HEREIN IMPOSED ON REMEDIES AND THE MEASURE OF DAMAGES SHALL BE WITHOUT REGARD TO THE CAUSE OR CAUSES RELATED THERETO, INCLUDING THE NEGLIGENCE, GROSS NEGLIGENCE, STRICT LIABILITY OR OTHER FAULT OF ANY PARTY, AND WHETHER LIABILITY IS BASED ON CONTRACT, TORT, STATUTE, COMMON LAW, STRICT LIABILITY OR OTHERWISE. THIS PROVISION SHALL SURVIVE ANY TERMINATION, CANCELLATION OR SUSPENSION OF THIS AGREEMENT.

(b) <u>Liability Limitations</u>. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, in no event shall either Party have liability to the other Party for Losses pursuant to this Agreement, including <u>Section 5.1</u>, in excess of Five Hundred Thousand Dollars (\$500,000.00). Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in this <u>Section 6.4(b)</u> shall limit a Party's right to seek and obtain any equitable relief to which the Party shall be entitled, or to seek any remedy on account of the other Party's fraudulent misconduct.

ARTICLE VII

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

7.1 Notices.

(a) Any notice, demand, request or other communication required or permitted to be given pursuant to this Agreement shall be in writing and signed by the Party giving such notice, demand, request or other communication and shall be hand delivered or sent by a nationally or internationally recognized overnight courier or sent by certified mail, return receipt requested, to the other Party at the address set forth below:

If to Transferor: BA Leasing BSC, LLC

555 California Street, 4 th Floor San Francisco, CA 94104 Attn: Jung N. Westover Telephone: (415) 765-7391

If to Transferee: Portland General Electric Company

3WTC0306

121 SW Salmon Street Portland, Oregon 97204

Attn: Jim Barnes

Telephone: (503) 464-8931

With copy to: Portland General Electric Company

1WTC1301

121 SW Salmon Street Portland, Oregon 97204

Attn: Office of General Counsel Telephone: (503) 464-7822

- (b) Each Party may change the place to which any notice, demand, request or other communication shall be sent or delivered by similar notice sent in like manner to the other Party. The effective date of any notice, demand, request or other communication issued pursuant to this Agreement shall be when: (i) delivered to the address of the Party personally, by messenger, by a nationally or internationally recognized overnight delivery service; or (ii) received or rejected by the Party, if sent by certified mail, return receipt requested, in each case, addressed to the Party at its address and marked to the attention of the person designated above (or to such other address or person as a Party may designate by notice to the other Party effective as of the date of receipt by such Party).
- 7.2 Entire Agreement . This Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements, including, in each case, all Schedules and Exhibits hereto and thereto, supersede all prior discussions and agreements between the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof, and contain the sole and entire agreement between the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and thereof; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that nothing in this Agreement shall affect in any respect the rights, obligations, covenants, indemnifications and liabilities of the Parties under the Operative Documents which survive the termination of the relevant Operative Documents..
- 7.3 <u>Expenses</u>. Except as expressly provided in <u>Section 2.7</u> hereof, whether or not the transactions contemplated hereby are completed, each Party will pay its own costs and expenses incurred in connection with the negotiation and execution of and performance under this Agreement and the Ancillary Agreements and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby.
- 7.4 <u>Amendment</u>. This Agreement may be amended, supplemented or modified only by a written instrument duly executed by both Parties.
- 7.5 No Third Party Beneficiary. The terms and provisions of this Agreement are intended solely for the benefit of each Party and their respective successors or permitted assigns, and it is not the intention of the Parties to confer third-party beneficiary rights upon any other Person.
- 7.6 <u>Invalid Provisions</u>. If any provision of this Agreement is held to be illegal, invalid or unenforceable under any present or future Applicable Law, and if the rights or obligations of any Party under this Agreement will not be materially and adversely affected thereby, (a) such provision will be fully severable, (b) this Agreement will be construed and enforced as if such illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision had never comprised a part hereof, (c) the remaining provisions of this Agreement will remain in full force and effect and will not be affected by the illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision or by its severance herefrom, and (d) Transferee and Transferor shall negotiate an equitable adjustment in the provisions of this Agreement with a view toward effecting

the purposes of this Agreement, and the validity and enforceability of the remaining provisions, or portions or applications thereof, shall not be affected thereby.

7.7 Governing Law; Service of Process.

- (a) THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, ENFORCED AND INTERPRETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK WITHOUT REGARD TO PRINCIPLES OF CONFLICTS OF LAWS (OTHER THAN SECTION 5-1401 OF THE GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK).
- (b) Service of Process . EACH PARTY AGREES THAT, IN ADDITION TO OTHER METHODS OF SERVICE PROVIDED BY LAW, SERVICE OF PROCESS IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING ARISING UNDER THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY ANCILLARY AGREEMENT SHALL BE EFFECTIVE IF PROVIDED IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 7.1, AND THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF SUCH SERVICE OF PROCESS SHALL BE AS SET FORTH IN SECTION 7.1.
- 7.8 No Assignment; Binding Effect. This Agreement, and any right, interest or obligation hereunder, may not be assigned or delegated by either Party without the prior written consent of the other Party, and any attempt to do so will be void; provided, however, that nothing in this Section 7.8 shall prohibit Transferee from assigning any of its rights, title and interest in, to and under the Facility Assets. This Agreement is binding upon, inures to the benefit of and is enforceable by the Parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns.
- 7.9 <u>Counterparts</u>. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which will be deemed an original, but all of which together will constitute one and the same instrument.
 - 7.10 Time of Essence. Time is of the essence with respect to all obligations of the Parties hereunder.

[Signature page follows.]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the Parties has caused this Transfer Agreement to be executed by its duly authorized representative as of the date first above written.

BA LEASING BSC, LLC

By: /s/ Stephanie Holland

Name: Stephanie Holland

Title: SVP, Remarketing Manager

PORTLAND GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY

By: /s/ Maria M. Pope

Name: Maria M. Pope

Title: SRVP, Power Supply and Operations and Resource

Strategy

ANNEX I

PART A

RULES OF INTERPRETATION

Unless otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, for purposes of this Agreement, the following rules of interpretation shall apply:

- (a) <u>Calculation of Time Period</u>. When calculating the period of time before which, within which, or following which any act is to be done or step taken pursuant to this Agreement, the date that is the reference date in calculating such period will be excluded. If the last day of such period is a non-Business Day, the period in question will end on the next succeeding Business Day.
 - (b) <u>Dollars</u>. Any reference in this Agreement to "<u>dollars</u>" or "<u>\$</u>" means U.S. dollars.
- (c) <u>Exhibits and Schedules</u>. Unless otherwise expressly indicated, any reference in this Agreement to an "<u>Annex</u>", "<u>Exhibit</u>" or a "<u>Schedule</u>" refers to an Annex, Exhibit or Schedule to this Agreement. The Annexes and Exhibits to this Agreement are hereby incorporated and made a part hereof as if set forth in full herein and are an integral part of this Agreement. Any capitalized terms used in any Annex or Exhibit but not otherwise defined therein are defined as set forth in this Agreement.
- (d) <u>Gender and Number</u>. Any reference in this Agreement to gender includes all genders, and the meaning of defined terms applies to both the singular and the plural of those terms.
- (e) <u>Headings</u>. The division of this Agreement into Articles, Sections, and other subdivisions, and the insertion of headings, are for convenience of reference only and do not affect, and will not be utilized in construing or interpreting, this Agreement. All references in this Agreement to any "<u>Section</u>" are to the corresponding Section of this Agreement unless otherwise specified.
- (f) "Herein." The words such as "herein," "hereinafter," "hereof," and "hereunder" refer to this Agreement (including the Annexes and Exhibits to this Agreement) as a whole and not merely to a subdivision in which such words appear unless the context otherwise requires.
- (g) "Including." The word "including" or any variation thereof means "including, without limitation" and does not limit any general statement that it follows to the specific or similar items or matters immediately following it.

ANNEX I - 1

- (h) <u>Agreements and Documents</u>. Each reference in this Agreement to any agreement or document or a portion or provision thereof shall be construed as a reference to the relevant agreement or document as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.
- (i) <u>Applicable Law</u>. Each reference in this Agreement to Applicable Law and to terms defined in, and other provisions of, Applicable Law shall be references to the same (or a successor to the same) as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.
 - (j) <u>Days</u>. Each reference in this Agreement to "<u>day</u>" means a calendar day.

PART B

CERTAIN DEFINITIONS

- " <u>Action</u>" means any demand, action, claim, suit, countersuit, arbitration, inquiry, subpoena, discovery request, proceeding or investigation by or before any court or grand jury, any Governmental Authority or any arbitration or mediation tribunal.
- "Affiliate" means, with respect to a Person, any other Person which directly or indirectly controls, is controlled by or is under common control with such Person. As used in this definition, "control" (including, its correlative meaning "controlled by" and "under common control with") shall mean possession, directly or indirectly, of power to direct or cause the direction of management or policies (whether through ownership of more than fifty percent (50%) of outstanding voting securities or partnership or other ownership interests, by contract or otherwise).
 - "Agreement" has the meaning set forth in the preamble to the Agreement.
- "<u>Ancillary Agreements</u>" means those documents, instruments, certificates or agreements as may be executed and delivered in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby.
- "Applicable Law" means all applicable laws, including federal, state, local, county, municipal, foreign or international laws, treaties, rules, regulations, ordinances, codes, statutes, orders, judgments, writs, decrees, injunctions, interpretations, licenses, permits, decisions, or directives of any court, arbitrator or Governmental Authority, in each case, having jurisdiction over Transferor, Transferee, the Sites or the Facility Assets.
 - "Assignment and Assumption Agreement" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2.
 - "Assumed Liabilities" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(b).
 - "Bill of Sale" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.2.

ANNEX I - 2

- " $\underline{BPA\ Consent}$ " means the written consent of BPA to the transfer and assignment by Transferor to Transferee of the Transmission Assets and the Lessor's Percentage of PGE's rights in the Transmission Related Agreements, attached hereto as Exhibit C .
- "Business Day" means any day other than Saturday, Sunday, and any day which is a legal holiday or a day on which banking institutions in Portland, Oregon are authorized or obligated by Applicable Law to close.
- "Claims" means any administrative, regulatory, or judicial actions or causes of action, suits, petitions, proceedings (including arbitration proceedings), investigations, hearings, demands, demand letters, claims, complaints, allegations of liability or potential liability or notices of noncompliance or violation delivered by any Governmental Authority or other Person.
 - "Closing" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3.
 - "Closing Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3.
 - "Effective Date" has the meaning set forth in the preamble to the Agreement.
 - "Effective Time" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.3.
- "Facility Assets" has the meaning given to such term in the Participation Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, the Parties acknowledge and agree that the Facility Assets include the rights under the Operating Agreement and the Transmission Related Agreements which were assigned to Owner Trustee pursuant to Section 5 of the PGE Assets Sales Agreement.
 - "FERC" means the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission.
 - "FERC Approvals" means the Transferee FERC Approval and the Transferor FERC Approval.
- "Governmental Authority" means any federal, state, local or municipal governmental body; any governmental, quasi-governmental, regulatory or administrative agency, commission, body or other authority exercising or entitled to exercise any administrative, executive, judicial, legislative, policy, regulatory or taxing authority or power.
- "Indenture Trustee" means HSBC Bank USA, National Association (as successor-in-interest to The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, NA, as successor-in-interest to The Chase Manhattan Bank (National Association)).
 - "Knowledge" means, in respect of Transferee, the actual knowledge of Jim Barnes as of the Closing Date.
 - "Lessee" means Fale-Safe Incorporated.
 - "Lessor's Percentage" has the meaning given to such term in the Participation Agreement.

ANNEX I - 3

- "<u>Liability</u>" means any debt, liability, obligation or commitment of any kind, character or description, whether known or unknown, absolute or contingent, accrued or unaccrued, disputed or undisputed, liquidated or unliquidated, secured or unsecured, joint or several, due or to become due, vested or unvested, executory, determined, determinable or otherwise.
- "<u>Lien</u>" means any mortgage, pledges, security interest, encumbrance, lien or charge of any kind, including, without limitation, any conditional sale or other title retention agreement, any lease in the nature thereof or the filing of, or agreement to give, any financing statement under the Uniform Commercial Code of any jurisdiction.
- "Losses" mean any and all damages, losses, deficiencies, Liabilities, taxes, obligations, penalties, judgments, settlements, claims, payments, fines, interest, costs and expenses, whether or not resulting from third party claims, including the costs and expenses of any and all Actions and demands, assessments, judgments, settlements and compromises relating thereto and the costs and expenses of attorneys', accountants', consultants' and other professionals' fees and expenses incurred in the investigation or defense thereof or the enforcement of rights hereunder.
 - " Net Revenues Election" has the meaning set forth in the recitals to the Agreement.
 - " Notice of Election" has the meaning set forth in the recitals to the Agreement.
 - "Operating Agreement" has the meaning given to such term in the Participation Agreement.
 - "Operative Documents" has the meaning given to such term in the Participation Agreement.
 - "Outside Date" means March 31, 2014, as such date may be extended by mutual written consent of the Parties.
 - "Owner Participant" has the meaning given to such term in the Participation Agreement.
- "Owner Trustee" means The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, NA (as successor-in-interest to J. Henry Schroder Bank & Trust Company and George Sievers (Co-Trustee)).
- "Participation Agreement" means that certain Participation Agreement dated as of December 30, 1985, by and among PGE, Lessee, Owner Participant, Owner Trustee, Indenture Trustee, and the Loan Participants listed in Appendix B thereto.
 - "Party" has the meaning set forth in the preamble to the Agreement.
- "<u>Permitted Encumbrances</u>" means (a) Liens set forth in the PGE Bill of Sale, and (b) such other Liens which do not materially detract from the value of, or materially interfere with the present use of the Facility Assets.
- "Permitted Liens" means (a) Liens granted under, or created by, existing or pursuant to, the terms and conditions of the Operating Agreement or the Transmission Related Agreements; (b) statutory Liens for current taxes or assessments not yet due or payable; (c) mechanics', carriers',

ANNEX I - 4

workers', repairers', landlords', and other similar Liens arising or incurred in the ordinary course of business which are not yet due and payable, or pledges, deposits, or other Liens securing the performance of statutory obligations; (d) Liens set forth in any state, local, or municipal franchise or governing ordinance under which any portion of the Facility Assets is being used or conducted; or (e) Liens, including zoning, entitlement, conservation restriction and other land use and environmental regulations, by Governmental Authorities.

- " <u>Person</u>" means any individual, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, corporation, trust, unincorporated organization, or Governmental Authority.
 - "PGE" means Portland General Electric Company, an Oregon corporation.
- " PGE Assets Sales Agreement "means that certain Assets Sales Agreement, dated as of December 30, 1985, between PGE and Owner Trustee.
- "PGE Bill of Sale" means that certain Bargain and Sale Deed, Bill of Sale and Grant of Easements and Licenses, dated as of December 30, 1985, between PGE and Owner Trustee.
- "Related Person" means, with respect to each Party, its respective Affiliates, and the employees, officers and directors of such Party and its respective Affiliates.
 - "Sites" has the meaning set forth in the Participation Agreement.
 - "Termination Time" has the meaning set forth in the recitals to the Agreement.
 - "Transfer Price" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(c).
 - "Transferee" has the meaning set forth in the preamble to the Agreement.
- " <u>Transferee FERC Approval</u>" means an order issued by FERC under Section 203 of the Federal Power Act approving the acquisition by Transferee from Transferor of the Facility Assets.
 - "Transferee Indemnified Person" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.1.
 - "Transferor" has the meaning set forth in the preamble to the Agreement.
- " <u>Transferor FERC Approval</u>" means an order issued by FERC under Section 203 of the Federal Power Act approving the transfer by Transferor to Transferee of the Facility Assets.
 - "Transferor Indemnified Person" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.2.
 - "Transferor Liens" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(a).
 - "Transfer Tax" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.7.
 - "Transmission Assets" has the meaning set forth in the Participation Agreement.

- "Transmission Related Agreements" has the meaning set forth in the Participation Agreement.
- "<u>Trust Agreement</u>" means the Trust Agreement, dated as of December 30, 1985, between Owner Participant and Owner Trustee.
 - "Trust Estate" has the meaning given to such term in the Trust Agreement.
 - "Trust Unwind Transaction" has the meaning set forth in the recitals to the Agreement.

ANNEX I - 6

EXHIBIT A FORM OF BILL OF SALE

This BILL OF SALE (this "Bill of Sale") is made and entered into effective as of December 18, 2013, by and between BA LEASING BSC, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("Transferor"), and PORTLAND GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY, an Oregon corporation ("Transferee"). Transferor and Transferee are sometimes referred to herein individually as a "Party" and collectively as the "Parties." Unless otherwise specifically defined in this Bill of Sale, capitalized terms used but not defined in this Bill of Sale shall have the meanings given to such terms in the Transfer Agreement (as such term is defined below).

RECITALS

WHEREAS, Transferor and Transferee have entered into a Transfer Agreement dated as of December 18, 2013 (the "Transfer Agreement"), pursuant to which, among other things, Transferor has agreed to assign, transfer and convey to Transferee, and Transferee has agreed to accept the assignment, transfer and conveyance of, all of Transferor's right, title and interest in, to and under the Facility Assets, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Transfer Agreement; and

WHEREAS, the execution and delivery of this Bill of Sale by Transferor and Transferee is a condition to the obligations of the Parties to consummate the transactions contemplated by the Transfer Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual representations, warranties, covenants and agreements set forth in this Bill of Sale and in the Transfer Agreement, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows:

- 1. <u>Transfer of Facility Assets</u>. Transferor hereby assigns, transfers and conveys to Transferee, and Transferee hereby accepts the assignment, transfer and conveyance of, as of the Effective Time, all of Transferor's right, title and interest in, to and under the Facility Assets, free and clear of all Transferor Liens, other than Permitted Liens and, with respect to interests in real property comprising the Facility Assets, Permitted Encumbrances.
- 2. <u>Further Assurances</u>. At any time from and after the date of this Bill of Sale, at either Party's request and without further consideration, the other Party shall execute and deliver to such Party such other instruments of transfer, conveyance, assignment and confirmation, without representation, warranty or recourse except as specifically provided in the Transfer Agreement, provide such materials and information, and take such other actions as may be required to carry out the provisions of this Bill of Sale and consummate and make effective the transactions contemplated by this Bill of Sale.

EXHIBIT A -1

3. Miscellaneous.

- (a) <u>Interpretation</u>. Nothing in this Bill of Sale, whether express or implied, is intended to or shall be construed to modify, expand or limit in any way the terms of the Transfer Agreement. To the extent that any provision of this Bill of Sale conflicts or is inconsistent with the terms of the Transfer Agreement, the Transfer Agreement will govern.
- (b) <u>Amendment</u>. This Bill of Sale may be amended, supplemented or modified only by a written instrument duly executed by or on behalf of both Parties.
- (c) <u>No Third Party Beneficiary</u>. The terms and provisions of this Bill of Sale are intended solely for the benefit of each Party and their respective successors or permitted assigns, and it is not the intention of the Parties to confer third-party beneficiary rights upon any other Person.
- (d) <u>Headings</u>. The headings used in this Bill of Sale have been inserted for convenience of reference only and do not define or limit the provisions hereof.
- (e) <u>Governing Law</u>. THIS BILL OF SALE SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, ENFORCED AND INTERPRETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK WITHOUT REGARD TO PRINCIPLES OF CONFLICTS OF LAWS (OTHER THAN SECTION 5-1401 OF THE GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK).
- (f) <u>Service of Process</u>. EACH PARTY AGREES THAT, IN ADDITION TO OTHER METHODS OF SERVICE PROVIDED BY LAW, SERVICE OF PROCESS IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING ARISING UNDER THIS BILL OF SALE SHALL BE EFFECTIVE IF PROVIDED IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 7.1 OF THE TRANSFER AGREEMENT, AND THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF SUCH SERVICE OF PROCESS SHALL BE AS SET FORTH IN SECTION 7.1 OF THE TRANSFER AGREEMENT.
- (g) No Assignment; Binding Effect. This Bill of Sale, and any right, interest or obligation hereunder, may not be assigned or delegated by any Party without the prior written consent of the other Party, and any attempt to do so will be void; provided, however, that nothing in this Section 3(g) shall prohibit Transferee from assigning any of its rights, title and interest in, to and under the Facility Assets. This Bill of Sale is binding upon, inures to the benefit of and is enforceable by the Parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns.
- (h) <u>Counterparts</u>. This Bill of Sale may be executed in counterparts, each of which will be deemed an original, but all of which together will constitute one and the same instrument.

[Signature page follows.]

EXHIBIT A -2

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the Parties has caused this Bill of Sale to be executed by its duly authorized representative as of the date first above written.

BA LEASING BSC, LLC

By: /s/ Stephanie Holland

Name: Stephanie Holland

Title: SVP, Remarketing Manager

PORTLAND GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY

By: /s/ Maria M. Pope

Name: Maria M. Pope

Title: SRVP, Power Supply and Operations and

Resource Strategy

EXHIBIT A -3

EXHIBIT B

FORM OF ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION AGREEMENT

This ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION AGREEMENT (this "<u>Agreement</u>") is made and entered into effective as of December 18, 2013, by and between BA LEASING BSC, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company ("<u>Transferor</u>"), and PORTLAND GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY, an Oregon corporation ("<u>Transferee</u>"). Transferor and Transferee are sometimes referred to herein individually as a "<u>Party</u>" and collectively as the "<u>Parties</u>." Unless otherwise specifically defined in this Agreement, capitalized terms used but not defined in this Agreement shall have the meanings given to such terms in the Transfer Agreement (as such term is defined below).

RECITALS

WHEREAS, Transferor and Transferee have entered into a Transfer Agreement dated as of December 18, 2013 (the "Transfer Agreement"), pursuant to which, among other things, Transferor has agreed to transfer to Transferee, and Transferee has agreed to accept, all of the Facility Assets, and Transferor has agreed to delegate to Transferee, and Transferee has agreed to accept and assume and to observe and perform and to pay and discharge, all of the Assumed Liabilities, if any, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Transfer Agreement; and

WHEREAS, the execution and delivery of this Agreement by Transferor and Transferee is a condition to the obligations of the Parties to consummate the transactions contemplated by the Transfer Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual representations, warranties, covenants and agreements set forth in this Agreement and in the Transfer Agreement, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows:

1. Assignment and Assumption.

- (a) Transferor hereby assigns to Transferee, and Transferee hereby accepts, as of the Effective Time, all of Transferor's right, title and interest in the Facility Assets, including, without limitation, all of Transferor's right, title and interest in, to and under the Operating Agreement and the Transmission Related Agreements which were assigned to Owner Trustee pursuant to Section 5 of the PGE Assets Sales Agreement.
- (b) Transferor hereby assigns to Transferee, and Transferee hereby accepts, as of the Effective Time, all of Transferor's right, title and interest in, to and under the subeasements, licenses and other rights and interests granted to Owner Trustee by PGE pursuant to the PGE Bill of Sale or the PGE Assets Sales Agreement.

EXHIBIT B - 1

- (c) Transferor hereby assigns and delegates to Transferee, and Transferee hereby accepts and assumes and agrees to observe and perform and to pay and discharge, as of the Effective Time, all of the Assumed Liabilities, if any.
- 2. <u>Further Assurances</u>. At any time from and after the date of this Agreement, at either Party's request and without further consideration, the other Party shall execute and deliver to such Party such other instruments of sale, transfer, conveyance, assignment and confirmation, without representation, warranty or recourse except as specifically provided in the Transfer Agreement, provide such materials and information, and take such other actions as may be required to carry out the provisions of this Agreement and consummate and make effective the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

3. Miscellaneous.

- (a) <u>Interpretation</u>. Nothing in this Agreement, whether express or implied, is intended to or shall be construed to modify, expand or limit in any way the terms of the Transfer Agreement. To the extent that any provision of this Agreement conflicts or is inconsistent with the terms of the Transfer Agreement, the Transfer Agreement will govern.
- (b) <u>Amendment</u>. This Agreement may be amended, supplemented or modified only by a written instrument duly executed by or on behalf of both Parties.
- (c) <u>No Third Party Beneficiary</u>. The terms and provisions of this Agreement are intended solely for the benefit of each Party and their respective successors or permitted assigns, and it is not the intention of the Parties to confer third-party beneficiary rights upon any other Person.
- (d) <u>Headings</u>. The headings used in this Agreement have been inserted for convenience of reference only and do not define or limit the provisions hereof.
- (e) <u>Governing Law</u>. THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, ENFORCED AND INTERPRETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK WITHOUT REGARD TO PRINCIPLES OF CONFLICTS OF LAWS (OTHER THAN SECTION 5-1401 OF THE GENERAL OBLIGATIONS LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK).
- (f) <u>Service of Process</u>. EACH PARTY AGREES THAT, IN ADDITION TO OTHER METHODS OF SERVICE PROVIDED BY LAW, SERVICE OF PROCESS IN ANY ACTION OR PROCEEDING ARISING UNDER THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE EFFECTIVE IF PROVIDED IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 7.1 OF THE TRANSFER AGREEMENT, AND THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF SUCH SERVICE OF PROCESS SHALL BE AS SET FORTH IN SECTION 7.1 OF THE TRANSFER AGREEMENT.
- (g) <u>No Assignment; Binding Effect</u>. This Agreement, and any right, interest or obligation hereunder, may not be assigned or delegated by any Party without the prior written

EXHIBIT B - 2

consent of the other Party, and any attempt to do so will be void; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that nothing in this <u>Section 3(g)</u> shall prohibit Transferee from assigning any of its rights, title and interest in, to and under the Facility Assets. This Agreement is binding upon, inures to the benefit of and is enforceable by the Parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

(h) <u>Counterparts</u>. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which will be deemed an original, but all of which together will constitute one and the same instrument.

[Signature page follows.]

EXHIBIT B - 3

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the Parties has caused this Agreement to be executed by its duly authorized representative as of the date first above written.

BA LEASING BSC, LLC

By: /s/ Stephanie Holland

Name: Stephanie Holland

Title: SVP, Remarketing Manager

PORTLAND GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY

By: /s/ Maria M. Pope

Name: Maria M. Pope

Title: SRVP, Power Supply and Operations and

Resource Strategy

EXHIBIT B - 4

EXHIBIT C

BPA CONSENT

[see attached]

EXHIBIT C - 1



December 3, 2013

Craig Hardin Transmission Account Executive Bonneville Power Administration 7500 N.E. 41st Street #200. Vancouver, WA 98662

Re: Consent to Transfer and Termination of Section 21 of the Participation Agreement

Dear Mr. Hardin:

Reference is made to (i) the Participation Agreement, dated as of December 30, 1985, by and among Portland General Electric Company ("PGE"), Fale-Safe Incorporated, BA Leasing BSC, LLC ("BA Leasing") (as successor-in-interest to General Electric Capital Corporation, as successor-in-interest to General Electric Credit Corporation), as Owner Participant. The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, NA (as successor-in-interest to J. Henry Schroder Bank & Trust Company and George Sievers (Co-Trustee)), as Owner Trustee, HSBC Bank USA, National Association (as successor-in-interest to The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, NA, as successor-in-interest to The Chase Manhattan Bank (National Association), as Indenture Trustee, and the Loan Participants listed in Appendix B thereto (as amended, modified or supplemented through the date hereof, the "Participation Agreement"); and (ii) the Bargain and Sale Deed, Bill of Sale and Grant of Easements and Licenses, dated December 30, 1985, made by PGE (as amended, modified or supplemented through the date hereof, the "PGE Bill of Sale"). Capitalized terms used but not defined herein have the meanings given to them in the Participation Agreement.

BA Leasing intends to elect or cause to be elected "Termination" (as such term is defined in the PGE Bill of Sale) with respect to the Facility Assets, including the Transmission Assets and 10.714% of PGE's rights in the Transmission Related Agreements (the "Transmission Facility Assets"), to be effective on the expiration of the Lease Term, which will occur on December 31, 2013 (the "Lease Termination Date"). In connection with the Termination, BA Leasing will transfer and assign to PGE the Transmission Facility Assets.

Accordingly, BA Leasing requests that the Bonneville Power Administration ("BPA") consent to the transfer and assignment of the Transmission Facility Assets by BA Leasing to PGE. BA Leasing also requests that BPA acknowledge and agree that, effective as of the transfer and assignment of all of BA Leasing's rights, title and interests in the Transmission Facility Assets to PGE, the provisions of Section 21 of the Participation Agreement will expire and cease to be of any force or effect.

21452291v3 Recycled Panes

Please indicate BPA's agreement to the foregoing by signing a copy of this letter agreement and returning the signed copy to Stephanie Holland at BA Leasing via email at stephanie.o.holland@baml.com.

Should you have any questions regarding the foregoing, please feel free to contact me at 619-515-7515. Thank you in advance for your prompt response to this letter.

Sincerely.

Stephanie Holland

Senior Vice President - Manager, Equipment

Remarketing

Banc of America Leasing

cc: N

Mitchell Neider,

Managing Director & Associate General Counsel

Bank of America Global Leasing

Acknowledged and Agreed:

BONNEVILLE POWER ADMINISTRATION

By:

Title transmission coccurt Execution

Dated: December 3, 2013

2

2145229113

EXHIBIT C - 4

EXHIBIT C - 5

PORTLAND GENERAL ELECTRIC COMPANY COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

(Dollars in thousands)

	Years Ended December 31,								
		2013		2012		2011		2010	2009
					· · ·		· · ·		
Income from continuing operations before income taxes	\$	125,758	\$	205,406	\$	204,714	\$	178,158	\$ 131,636
Total fixed charges		118,189		122,851		126,766		131,486	129,948
Total earnings	\$	243,947	\$	328,257	\$	331,480	\$	309,644	\$ 261,584
	<u>==</u>								
Fixed charges:									
Interest expense	\$	100,818	\$	107,992	\$	110,413	\$	110,240	\$ 103,389
Capitalized interest		6,892		3,699		3,059		9,097	11,816
Interest on certain long-term power contracts		5,996		6,643		8,764		8,068	10,038
Estimated interest factor in rental expense		4,483		4,517		4,530		4,081	4,705
Total fixed charges	\$	118,189	\$	122,851	\$	126,766	\$	131,486	\$ 129,948
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges		2.06		2.67		2.61		2.35	2.01

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement No. 333-192274 on Form S-3 and Registration Statement Nos. 333-135726, 333-142694, and 333-158059 on Form S-8 of our report dated February 13, 2014, relating to the consolidated financial statements of Portland General Electric Company and subsidiaries, and the effectiveness of Portland General Electric Company's internal control over financial reporting, appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Portland General Electric Company for the year ended December 31, 2013.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Portland, Oregon February 13, 2014

CERTIFICATION

I, James J. Piro, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Portland General Electric Company;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 - (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 - (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 - (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 - (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 - (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 13, 2014 /s/ JAMES J. PIRO

James J. Piro
President and
Chief Executive Officer

CERTIFICATION

I, James F. Lobdell, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Portland General Electric Company;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 - (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 - (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 - (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 - (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 - (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 13, 2014 /s/ JAMES F. LOBDELL

James F. Lobdell

Senior Vice President of Finance, Chief Financial Officer, and Treasurer

CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

We, James J. Piro, President and Chief Executive Officer, and James F. Lobdell, Senior Vice President of Finance, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer, of Portland General Electric Company (the "Company"), hereby certify that the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 14, 2014 pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Report"), fully complies with the requirements of that section.

We further certify that the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ JAMES J. PIRO

James J. Piro

President and Chief Executive Officer /s/ JAMES F. LOBDELL

James F. Lobdell

Senior Vice President of Finance, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

Date: February 13, 2014

Date: February 13, 2014